WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis

Module 4: Treatment

Drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment 2022 update



WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis

Module 4: Treatment

Drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment

2022 update



WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment - drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment, 2022 update

ISBN 978-92-4-006511-6 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-006512-3 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2022

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment - drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment, 2022 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright..

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Design by Inis Communication

Contents

Acknowledgements	V
Abbreviations	vi
1. Introduction	1
2. Commonly used terms and key definitions in DR-TB treatment	3
3. Key considerations in DR-TB treatment	5
3.1 Access to DST	
3.2 Safety monitoring and management, provision of patient support and management of comorbidities	7
3.3 Regimen options in the treatment of DR-TB	7
4. The 6-month bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin (BPaLM) regimen	11
4.1 Eligibility	13
4.2 Composition and duration of the regimen	15
4.3 Key subgroups	19
4.4 Implementation considerations	21
4.5 Treatment monitoring	22
5. The 9-month all-oral regimen	25
5.1 Eligibility	
5.2 Composition and duration of the regimen	28
5.3 Key subgroups	32
5.4 Implementation considerations and treatment in special situations	34
5.5 Treatment monitoring	39
5.6 Using modified all-oral shorter MDR-TB regimens under operational research	42

6. The longer regimens	45
6.1 Eligibility	45
6.2 Composition and duration of the regimens	
6.3 Key subgroups	
6.4 Implementation considerations and treatment in special situations	58
6.5 Treatment monitoring	60
7. Regimen for rifampicin-susceptible and isoniazid-resistant TB	
7.1 Eligibility	
7.2 Composition and duration of the regimen	66
7.3 Considerations for implementation	
7.4 Treatment monitoring	68
8. Adjuncts to MDR-TB treatment	
8.1 Surgery in the treatment of MDR/XDR-TB	71
8.2 Use of corticosteroids	72
8.3 Treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients with HIV	72
9. Programmatic implementation of MDR-TB regimens	75
9.1 Policy and operational documents	
9.2 National MDR-TB expert committee or technical working group	75
9.3 Electronic recording and reporting	
9.4 Estimates (epidemiological and logistics)	
9.5 Management of the supply chain and storage conditions for pharmaceuticals	
9.6 Preparation for the introduction of new treatment regimens.	77
10. Treatment outcome definitions	
10.1 Treatment outcome definitions	
10.2 Considerations for implementation	
References	
Annex: Weight-based dosing of medicines used in multidrug-resistant	
TB regimens, adults and children	
Web Annexes	

Web Annex 1. Tuberculosis medicines – information sheetsWeb Annex 2. Management of adverse events in MDR/RR-TB treatmentWeb Annex 3. Active TB drug-safety monitoring and management for treatment of drug-resistant TB

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/365309/9789240065352-eng.pdf

Acknowledgements

This operational handbook was prepared by Fuad Mirzayev, Medea Gegia and Linh Nguyen under the overall direction of Matteo Zignol and Tereza Kasaeva. The World Health Organization Global Tuberculosis (TB) Programme (WHO/GTB) gratefully acknowledges the contributions provided by Tasnim Hasan (The Sydney University, Australia), Jennifer Hughes (Desmond Tutu TB Center, South Africa) and Ignacio Monedero-Recuero (International DR-TB and TB-HIV consultant, Spain) for developing and updating Chapters 4, 5 and 6 and Annex; and Web Annexes 1 and 2. Contributions and inputs were also provided by colleagues from WHO/GTB: Nazir Ismail and Alexei Korobitsyn for Section 3.1; and Annemieke Brands, Tiziana Masini, Sabine Verkuijl and Kerri Viney for Annex and Web Annex 1. WHO/GTB gratefully acknowledges the contributions of all and the external reviewers who were involved in reviewing and providing inputs for the operational handbook. The external review group comprised Francesca Conradie (University of the Witwatersrand, South Africa), Fernanda da Costa (NTP, Brazil), Anthony Garcia-Prats (University of Wisconsin, United States of America), Lorenzo Guglielmetti (MSF, France), Muhammad Amir Khan (Association for Social Development, Pakistan), Riziki Kisonga (NTP, Tanzania), Mamel Quelapio (KNCV Tuberculosis Foundation, Philippines), Michael Rich (Partners in Health, United States of America), Maria Rodriguez (NTP, Dominican Republic), Rupak Singla (National Institute of TB & Respiratory diseases, India), Zarir Udwadia (Hinduja Hospital, India) and Fraser Wares (KNCV Tuberculosis Foundation, Netherlands).

This update was funded by grants provided to WHO by the United States Agency for International Development.

Abbreviations

aDSM	active tuberculosis drug safety monitoring and management
AIDS	acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
aOR	adjusted odds ratio
ART	antiretroviral therapy
ARV	antiretroviral
BMI	body mass index
BPaL	a regimen of bedaquiline, pretomanid and linezolid
BPaLC	a regimen of bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and clofazimine
BPaLM	a regimen of bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin
СВ	clinical breakpoint
СС	critical concentration
CI	confidence interval
CNS	central nervous system
DRS	drug-resistance surveillance
DR-TB	drug-resistant tuberculosis
DST	drug susceptibility testing
ECG	electrocardiography
FDC	fixed-dose combination (of medicines)
GDF	Global Drug Facility
GDG	Guideline Development Group
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation
HBV	hepatitis B virus
HCV	hepatitis C virus
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HR	isoniazid–rifampicin
HRZE	isoniazid–rifampicin–ethambutol–pyrazinamide
(H)RZE	(isoniazid optional)–rifampicin–ethambutol–pyrazinamide
Hr-TB	rifampicin-susceptible, isoniazid-resistant tuberculosis
IPD	individual patient data (or dataset)
IV	intravenous
LPA	line probe assay
MDR-TB	multidrug-resistant tuberculosis
MDR/RR-TB	multidrug- or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis
MGIT	mycobacterial growth indicator tube
MIC	minimum inhibitory concentration

WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment – drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment, 2022 update

vi

NAAT	nucleic acid amplification test
NTP	national tuberculosis programme
PLHIV	people living with HIV
pre-XDR-TB	pre-extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis
RCT	randomized controlled trial
rGLC	regional Green Light Committee
RR-TB	rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis
SoC	standard of care
ТВ	tuberculosis
TDM	therapeutic drug monitoring
WHO	World Health Organization
WHO/GTB	World Health Organization Global Tuberculosis Programme
XDR-TB	extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis

TB medicines

Am	amikacin
B or Bdq	bedaquiline
C or Cfz	clofazimine
Cs	cycloserine
Dlm	delamanid
E	ethambutol
Eto	ethionamide
Н	isoniazid
Hh	isoniazid high dose
Ipm–Cln	imipenem–cilastatin
L or Lzd	linezolid
Lfx	levofloxacin
M or Mfx	moxifloxacin
Mpm	meropenem
P or Rpt	rifapentine
Ра	pretomanid
PAS	p-aminosalicylic acid
Pto	prothionamide
R	rifampicin
S	streptomycin
Z	pyrazinamide

1. Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) has produced this operational handbook on tuberculosis (TB) to provide practical advice to complement the latest *WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis, drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment, 2022 update* (hereafter referred to as the "WHO consolidated guidelines"). This document provides information on the choice and design of regimens for the treatment of drug-resistant TB (DR-TB), including multidrug- or rifampicin-resistant TB (MDR/RR-TB), and confirmed rifampicin-susceptible, isoniazid-resistant TB (Hr-TB) (1).

The strategies described in this module are mainly based on the latest WHO recommendations (1-3), which were formulated by Guideline Development Groups (GDGs) using the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) approach (4). However, in many cases, the recommendations lacked the level of clinical and programmatic detail needed for implementation. This module complements the guidelines with practical advice based on best practices and knowledge from fields such as pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, microbiology, pharmacovigilance, and clinical and programmatic management.

The practical guidance aims to inform the development or revision of national policies and related implementation guidance (e.g. handbooks, standard operating procedures) on the management of DR-TB.

The chapters of the handbook are aligned with the WHO consolidated guidelines document. The target audience for this handbook include NTPs, other healthcare programmes in public and private sector and technical organizations supporting national programmes.

2. Commonly used terms and key definitions in DR-TB treatment

This section briefly describes some of the main terms that are used in this module and elsewhere.

Bacteriologically confirmed: when a biological specimen is positive by smear microscopy, culture or a rapid diagnostic test for TB recommended by WHO.

Clinically diagnosed: when a person who does not fulfil the criteria for bacteriological confirmation has been diagnosed with TB disease by a medical practitioner who has decided to give the person a full course of TB treatment.

Drug-resistant TB (DR-TB): TB disease caused by a strain of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex that is resistant to any TB medicines.

Drug susceptibility testing (DST): in vitro testing using either molecular or genotypic techniques to detect resistance-conferring mutations, or phenotypic methods to determine susceptibility to a medicine.

Extensive (or advanced) pulmonary TB disease: the presence of bilateral cavitary disease or extensive parenchymal damage on chest radiography. In children aged below 15 years, advanced disease is usually defined by the presence of cavities or bilateral disease on chest radiography.

Extensively drug-resistant TB (XDR-TB): TB disease caused by a strain of *M. tuberculosis* complex that is resistant to rifampicin (and may also be resistant to isoniazid), and that is also resistant to at least one fluoroquinolone (levofloxacin or moxifloxacin) and to at least one other "Group A" drug (bedaquiline or linezolid).

MDR/RR-TB: refers to either multidrug-resistant TB (MDR-TB) or rifampicin-resistant TB (RR-TB).

Multidrug-resistant TB (MDR-TB): TB disease caused by a strain of *M. tuberculosis* complex that is resistant to rifampicin and isoniazid.

New case: a person with TB disease who has never been treated for TB or has only previously ever taken TB drugs for less than 1 month.

Operational research or **implementation research**: "the use of systematic research techniques for programme decision-making to achieve a specific outcome" (5). In the context of this document, these terms are also applied to research that aims to develop the critical evidence base that informs the effective, sustained and embedded adoption of interventions within a health system, to improve health or patient outcomes. Such research deals with the knowledge gap between efficacy, effectiveness and current practice to produce the greatest gains in disease control (6). Operational research also provides decision-makers with information to enable them to improve the performance of their health programmes (7).

Pre-extensively drug-resistant TB (pre-XDR-TB): TB disease caused by a strain of *M. tuberculosis* complex that is resistant to rifampicin (and may also be resistant to isoniazid), and that is also resistant to at least one fluoroquinolone (either levofloxacin or moxifloxacin).

Rifampicin-resistant TB (RR-TB): TB disease caused by a strain of *M. tuberculosis* complex that is resistant to rifampicin. These strains may be susceptible or resistant to isoniazid (i.e. MDR-TB), or resistant to other first-line or second-line TB medicines.

Rifampicin-susceptible, isoniazid-resistant TB (Hr-TB): TB disease caused by a strain of *M. tuberculosis* complex that is resistant to isoniazid but susceptible to rifampicin.

Serious adverse event: an adverse event that leads to death or a life-threatening experience, to hospitalization or prolongation of hospitalization, to persistent or significant disability, or to a congenital anomaly. Adverse events that do not immediately result in one of these outcomes but that require an intervention to prevent such an outcome from happening are included. Serious adverse events may require a drastic intervention, such as termination of the drug suspected of having caused the event.

Severe extrapulmonary TB: presence of miliary TB, TB meningitis, osteoarticular TB or pericardial TB. In children aged below 15 years, extrapulmonary forms of disease other than lymphadenopathy (peripheral nodes or isolated mediastinal mass without compression) are considered severe.

TB case: the occurrence of TB disease in a person.

TB disease: a disease in humans caused by the *M. tuberculosis* complex, which comprises eight distinct but closely related organisms – *M. bovis, M. caprae, M. africanum, M. microti, M. pinnipedii, M. mungi, M. orygis* and *M. canetti.* The most common and important agent of human disease is *M. tuberculosis.*

TB patient: a person who is in care for TB disease.

4

3. Key considerations in DR-TB treatment

3.1 Access to DST

The current guidelines for treatment of DR-TB stress the need for access to reliable, guality-assured drug susceptibility testing (DST), to be provided by national TB programmes (NTPs) and associated laboratories, to inform the use of the WHO-recommended regimens. Rapid molecular testing is making it increasingly feasible for NTPs to detect MDR/RR-TB and other types of resistance quickly, and to use the results to guide treatment decisions (8, 9). Hence, rapid molecular testing should be made available and accessible, to ensure DST for at least rifampicin, isoniazid and fluoroquinolones, given that DST for these drugs is essential for selecting the most appropriate initial DR-TB regimen. If capacity does not exist, NTPs must promptly build rapid molecular testing capacity, and all efforts must be made to ensure universal access to all patients initiating a regimen for any form of TB, including both drug-susceptible and drug-resistant forms. While NTPs build capacity to ensure routine performance of DST for medicines used in the clinical management of all patients, building surveillance systems to determine the local prevalence of DR-TB strains will be important to guide programmatic planning. This is especially important for drugs where resistance testing is not routinely performed or when the resistance prevalence of the drug is expected to be low initially (e.g. pretomanid) and needs to be monitored over time. Drug-resistance surveillance (DRS) can be based on data from routine diagnostic DST in TB patients (i.e. continuous surveillance) or from special surveys representative of the entire TB patient population (i.e. drug-resistance surveys) (10). DST for rifampicin is mandatory for all cases, and DST for fluoroquinolones is mandatory in cases of demonstrated rifampicin resistance. DST for the drugs used in the newly recommended regimens is now increasingly critical. Data from local TB DRS may provide baseline estimates of the prevalence of resistance including among relevant subgroups of recurrent and re-registered individuals with TB disease (e.g. recurrence or new episode of TB or return after loss to follow-up). It can also provide monitoring trends to inform DST algorithms and inform broader local policy decisions (1, 11).

WHO recommends the use of the approved rapid molecular test as the initial test to detect TB disease as well as resistance to several anti-TB agents before the initiation of appropriate therapy for all TB patients. The increased recognition of drug resistance and improved access to rapid molecular testing have led more NTPs to test for at least rifampicin resistance at the start of TB treatment. Almost all WHO-recommended rapid tests for the initial diagnosis of TB include rifampicin-resistance testing; also, the most recent class of nucleic acid amplification tests (NAATs) include initial testing for rifampicin and isoniazid resistance. There are several other WHO-recommended molecular tests available that offer manual or automated DST for isoniazid, fluoroquinolones, pyrazinamide, ethionamide and injectable agents. The most recent recommendation of a low complexity assay for isoniazid and fluoroquinolone testing will ensure decentralized access to essential DST (12). Results can be available the same day (automated tests) or within a few days (manual tests) and can thus be used to decide on the initial regimen for treatment of Hr-TB or some other forms of DR-TB. Apart from their rapidity, some of these tests can also provide information on mutation patterns, which can influence the choice of treatment. If the *inh*A mutation is the only mutation present, it is likely that isoniazid can still be effective at a high dose, whereas if the *kat*G mutation alone or both *inh*A and *kat*G are present,

isoniazid is no longer effective, even at a high dose. Some tests report "low-level" isoniazid resistance, which implies the presence of *inh*A mutations only. If rifampicin resistance is detected, rapid molecular tests for resistance to fluoroquinolones should be performed promptly, to inform the decision on which regimen to use for the treatment (13). If rifampicin resistance is not detected, rapid molecular testing for resistance to isoniazid is recommended, to inform the decision on whether the regimen to treat Hr-TB needs to be used.

Rapid molecular testing for rifampicin, isoniazid and fluoroquinolones is widely available; countries have accumulated experience in using these rapid tests, and access is also supported by the main donors where necessary. No rapid molecular testing is currently available for ethambutol, bedaquiline, clofazimine, linezolid, pretomanid and delamanid. WHO is currently evaluating tests for targeted next-generation sequencing solutions, which may provide an opportunity for the rapid molecular testing for multiple anti-TB medicines. Commercially available rapid molecular methods detect 86% (manual) to 93% (automated) of fluoroquinolone-resistant strains (12). Resistance to the fluoroquinolones can be inferred from the results of molecular testing for the presence of certain *gyrA* and *gyrB* mutations; however, only some of the genetic mutations are known or can be detected. Culture-based DST for fluoroquinolones should be considered when possible, especially when the prevalence of resistance to these drugs is high, or when resistance is suspected despite the molecular tests being negative. Further details on diagnostic tests recommended can be found in the relevant WHO consolidated guidelines (12) and operational handbook (14) in *Module 3: Diagnosis – rapid diagnostics for tuberculosis detection*.

Country programmes need to work towards the establishment of phenotypic DST for all TB medicines for which there are now agreed reliable and reproducible methods (e.g. bedaquiline, clofazimine, delamanid, fluoroquinolones, isoniazid, linezolid and rifampicin). The critical concentrations for various drugs were either established for the first time (bedaquiline, clofazimine, delamanid and linezolid) or revised (fluoroquinolones) in a WHO technical consultation in 2017 (*15*). Resistance to ethionamide/ prothionamide may be inferred from the results of molecular testing for isoniazid resistance (i.e. presence of mutations in the *inh*A promotor region) using either automated or manual molecular tests. However, susceptibility to ethionamide/prothionamide cannot be inferred purely based on the absence of *inh*A promotor gene mutation in commercially available NAATs, because resistance can be conferred by other mutations in the *inh*A gene and its promotor and by mutations in the *eth*A gene that are not detected by these NAATs. A standardized phenotypic DST for cycloserine/terizidone, ethambutol, ethionamide/prothionamide, imipenem/meropenem or *p*-aminosalicylic acid is not routinely recommended because results may be unreliable (*13*).

The inability to undertake DST routinely in all patients despite all possible efforts should not be a barrier to starting patients on a potentially life-saving MDR-TB regimen; however, treatment should always be considered in a context of the potential risk of prescribing ineffective treatment and amplifying drug resistance, with a subsequent decrease in the likelihood of treatment effectiveness. If DST for bedaguiline and linezolid is not yet available, the clinician or the TB programme manager needs to estimate the likelihood of effectiveness of the medicines used, informed by the patient's history of use of TB medicines, the drug-resistance pattern of the contact or index case, and recent representative DRS data. A reliable clinical history of exposure to bedaguiline and linezolid should thus be considered when designing a treatment regimen; however, this should be the main source of evidence to guide regimen design only in situations where phenotypic DST is not yet available. For paediatric patients, it is not always possible to obtain a DST result, owing to the difficulty of obtaining an adequate specimen or the lack of bacteriological confirmation; hence, the treatment regimen design is usually based on the drug-resistance pattern of the index case. In the absence of individual DST, relevant population surveillance data are essential to inform the choice and design of MDR-TB treatment regimens. In addition to TB DRS findings, it is important for practitioners to know which medicines have been in frequent use in each geographical setting or patient groups. If DST is not routinely available for individual patients where there is treatment failure, storage of *M. tuberculosis* isolates collected at

baseline or during treatment monitoring can be considered for performing phenotypic DST or whole genome sequencing at reference laboratories.

New regimen adoption and implementation can and should proceed while the DST capacity is being established.

Despite some of the uncertainties about DST, NTPs should strive to test for resistance to a wide set of TB drugs and offer the most appropriate treatment regimen. The patient's clinical response to treatment should always be carefully monitored. If there is a poor treatment response, undiagnosed drug-resistance or the coexistence of susceptible and resistant organisms in the same patient should be considered, as should alternative explanations for failure to respond to treatment (e.g. poor or erratic adherence to treatment, malabsorption, inadequate patient education or support, immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome or the presence of comorbidities) (16).

3.2 Safety monitoring and management, provision of patient support and management of comorbidities

All treatment offered to people with MDR/RR-TB should align with WHO-recommended standards, including patient-centred care and support, informed consent where necessary, principles of good clinical practice, active TB drug safety monitoring and management (aDSM), and regular patient monitoring to assess regimen effectiveness. Health care providers must offer careful clinical and bacteriological follow-up to assess the TB treatment response, with general laboratory support to monitor and manage adverse events and comorbidities. The provision of social support is essential to enable adherence to treatment (17). Certain programmatic components (e.g. aDSM) (17, 18) are recommended for all patients on any MDR/RR-TB regimen (Web Annex 3). An appropriate schedule of laboratory tests and clinical examinations should be included in the patient's treatment chart to identify adverse events (17). In settings where aDSM has not yet been fully rolled out and national guidelines have not been updated, patients should not be left to wait until all programme components are fully in place before they can receive potentially life-saving interventions. The WHO consolidated guidelines also reinforce the message that patient support is critical for good adherence and improved outcomes (19).

3.3 Regimen options in the treatment of DR-TB

In patients with MDR/RR-TB, there are several regimens that can be used based on current WHO policy. The key factors that define treatment regimen choice include drug-resistance profile, prior exposure to TB medicines and patient history, drug-resistance profile of close contacts, the patient's age, extent of pulmonary TB disease and localization of extrapulmonary TB lesions.

- **BPaLM regimen (6 Bdq-Pa-Lzd-Mfx**¹): in patients with MDR/RR-TB where fluoroquinolone susceptibility is presumed or documented. This 6-month all-oral treatment regimen comprises bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin. It is possible to omit moxifloxacin and continue with the BPaL regimen for MDR/RR-TB patients with confirmed fluoroquinolone resistance.
- 9-month all-oral regimen (4–6 Bdq_(6 m)-Lfx/Mfx-Cfz-Z-E-Hh-Eto or Lzd_(2 m) / 5 Lfx/Mfx-Cfz-Z-E): in patients with MDR/RR-TB and in whom resistance to fluoroquinolones has been excluded. The 9-month all-oral regimen comprises bedaquiline (used for 6 months), in combination with levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, ethionamide, ethambutol, isoniazid (high dose), pyrazinamide and clofazimine (for 4 months, with the possibility of extending to 6 months if the patient remains sputum smear positive at the end of 4 months); followed by treatment with levofloxacin/moxifloxacin,

¹ The regimen notations used throughout this document highlight the number of months for which a relevant combination of medicines is used; where certain drugs are used for a different duration this is also noted, using subscript in brackets.

clofazimine, ethambutol and pyrazinamide (for 5 months). Ethionamide can be replaced by 2 months of linezolid.

Longer individualized regimens: for patients with MDR/RR-TB who are not eligible for or had no favourable treatment outcome using the above 6-month or 9-month regimens, have TB disease caused by *M. tuberculosis* strains with extensive drug resistance (e.g. extensively drug-resistant TB [XDR-TB]) or have intolerance to key components of the above-mentioned regimens. These regimens have a duration of at least 18 months and are individually designed based on a hierarchical grouping of second-line TB medicines, the drug-resistance profile and the patient's medical history.

Based on the review of the latest available evidence, the 6-month BPaLM regimen is the preferred option for most patients with MDR/RR-TB.

BPaLM is the regimen of choice for patients with MDR/RR-TB with absent or unknown fluoroquinolone resistance. In cases where resistance to fluoroquinolones is identified before or after treatment initiation, moxifloxacin can be omitted and the BPaL regimen without moxifloxacin should be initiated or continued, because there is probably no added benefit of using a drug with demonstrated resistance that may have toxicities. If resistance to bedaquiline, linezolid or pretomanid is confirmed or suspected, the BPaLM/BPaL regimen should be stopped, and patients should be referred for a longer individualized regimen.

The duration of BPaLM regimen is largely standardized for 6 months (26 weeks), whereas BPaL can be extended to a total of 9 months (39 weeks), as described in **Chapter 4**.

Patients with MDR/RR-TB who are aged below 14 years or who are pregnant or breastfeeding are not eligible for BPaLM and they will benefit from the 9-month all-oral regimens, composed of bedaquiline, levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, clofazimine, ethionamide or linezolid, ethambutol, isoniazid (high dose) and pyrazinamide. This regimen remains a treatment option for patients with MDR/RR-TB without fluoroquinolone resistance, who do not have extensive pulmonary TB disease or severe extrapulmonary TB, and patients with less than 1 month exposure to bedaquiline, fluoroquinolones, ethionamide, linezolid and clofazimine. When exposure is greater than 1 month, these patients may still receive this regimen if resistance to the specific medicines with such exposure has been ruled out.

The 9-month all-oral regimen has two variations, with either ethionamide or linezolid; however, in both variations, an initial phase comprises seven drugs (bedaquiline – given for 6 months, levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, clofazimine, ethionamide or linezolid), ethambutol, isoniazid (high dose) and pyrazinamide, followed by 5 months of treatment with levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, clofazimine, ethambutol and pyrazinamide. The initial phase usually lasts for 4 months, with the possibility of extending to 6 months if the patient's sputum remains bacteriologically positive at the end of the fourth month. However, linezolid is used for only 2 months regardless of the duration of the first phase, whereas ethionamide should be continued until the end of the initial phase. Bedaquiline is used for the initial 6 months of the 9-month all-oral regimen but can be extended for longer under certain circumstances. Several eligibility criteria must be considered for this regimen, with additional considerations for the use of linezolid instead of ethionamide (**Chapter 5**).

The use of longer regimens is reserved for patients with MDR/RR-TB who are not eligible for the 6-month or 9-month regimen, patients in whom these regimens failed or patients with MDR/RR-TB with fluoroquinolone resistance and additional resistance to Group A medicines (XDR-TB). These patients would then receive a longer regimen designed using the WHO priority grouping of medicines recommended in the WHO consolidated guidelines (**Chapter 6**).

Decisions on appropriate regimens should be made based on likely efficacy, safety, patient preference and clinical judgement, also taking into account the results of susceptibility testing, patient treatment history, age, severity and site of the disease (**Table 3.1**).

Regimen	MDR/RR-TB fluoroquinolone susceptible	Pre-XDR-TB XDR-TB	XDR-TB	Extensive pulmonary TB	Extrapulmonary TB	Age <14 years
6-month BPaLM/BPaL	Yes (BPaLM)	Yes (BPaL)	No	Yes	Yes – except TB involving CNS, miliary TB and osteoarticular TB	No
9-month all-oral	Yes	No	No	OZ	Yes – except TB meningitis, miliary TB, osteoarticular TB and pericardial TB	Yes
Longer individualized 18-month	Yesª/No	Yesª/No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Additional factors to be	Drug intolerance or adverse	rse events				
considered it several regimens are possible	Treatment history, previous	us exposure to I	regimen co	mponent drugs or	exposure to regimen component drugs or likelihood of drug effectiveness	
	Patient or family preference	ICe				
	Access to and cost of regimen component drugs	limen compone	int drugs			
						-

Table 3.1. Regimen options and factors to be considered for selection of treatment regimens for patients with MDR/RR-TB

BPaL: bedaquiline, pretomanid and linezolid; BPaLM: bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin; CNS: central nervous system; MDR/RR-TB: multidrug- or rifampicin-resistant TB; TB: tuberculosis; XDR-TB: extensively drug-resistant TB.

^a When 6-month BPaLM/BPaL and 9-month regimens could not be used.

4. The 6-month bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin (BPaLM) regimen

This section refers to the new short, 6-month (or 26-week) treatment regimen for MDR/RR-TB: the bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin (BPaLM) regimen. This regimen should be the initial choice for all eligible patients diagnosed with MDR/RR-TB. The recommendation in the updated 2022 WHO guidelines states:

Recommendation 1.1. WHO suggests the use of a 6-month treatment regimen composed of bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid (600 mg) and moxifloxacin (BPaLM) rather than the 9-month or longer (18-month) regimens in MDR/RR-TB patients. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)

Remarks

- 1. Drug susceptibility testing (DST) for fluoroquinolones is strongly encouraged in people with MDR/ RR-TB, and although it should not delay initiation of the BPaLM, results of the test should guide the decision on whether moxifloxacin can be retained or should be dropped from the regimen – in cases of documented resistance to fluoroquinolones, BPaL without moxifloxacin would be initiated or continued.
- 2. This recommendation applies to:
 - a. People with MDR/RR-TB or with MDR/RR-TB and resistance to fluoroquinolones (pre-XDR-TB).
 - b. People with confirmed pulmonary TB and all forms of extrapulmonary TB except for TB involving CNS, osteoarticular and disseminated (miliary) TB.
 - c. Adults and adolescents aged 14 years and older.
 - d. All people regardless of HIV status.
 - e. Patients with less than 1-month previous exposure to bedaquiline, linezolid, pretomanid or delamanid. When exposure is greater than 1 month, these patients may still receive these regimens if resistance to the specific medicines with such exposure has been ruled out.
- 3. This recommendation does not apply to pregnant and breastfeeding women owing to limited evidence on the safety of pretomanid.
- 4. The recommended dose of linezolid is 600 mg once daily, both for the BPaLM and the BPaL regimen.²

The BPaL regimen was first investigated as part of the Nix-TB study. The study was conducted in South Africa from 2015 to 2017, and investigated the safety, efficacy, tolerability and pharmacokinetic properties of a 26-week treatment regimen with BPaL to treat MDR/RR-TB and MDR/RR-TB that was resistant to any fluoroquinolone and any second-line injectable drugs, or MDR-TB patients intolerant or non-responsive to the previous MDR-TB treatment. In 2019, WHO convened a GDG that

² Dosages of the other drugs are in Table 4.1.

recommended the use of the BPaL regimen under operational research for the treatment of MDR-TB patients with fluoroquinolone resistance and less than 2-week exposure to bedaquiline and linezolid.

Since the publication of the guidelines, two further studies – the TB-PRACTECAL and ZeNix trials – have confirmed the efficacy and safety of BPaL and BPaL-based regimens for a wider group of DR-TB patients. As a result, in February–March 2022, WHO again convened a GDG to consider new recommendations for the treatment of MDR/RR-TB.

The Nix-TB was a single-arm uncontrolled unblinded intervention study, in South Africa, with 108 participants, which investigated the BPaL regimen with high-dose linezolid (1200 mg daily). The ZeNix study was a partially blinded randomized controlled trial (RCT) of 181 patients, conducted in Georgia, Republic of Moldova, the Russian Federation and South Africa, investigating four different arms of the 26-week BPaL regimen with different doses (1200 mg or 600 mg) and durations (9 or 26 weeks) of linezolid. Both the Nix-TB and ZeNix trials were conducted by TB Alliance. The TB-PRACTECAL was a Phase 2–3, open-label RCT of 419 patients, investigating three different 24-week regimens containing a backbone of BPaL against the locally approved standard of care (SoC) that was based on WHO recommendations at the time of the study. The trial was conducted by Médecins Sans Frontières and the London School of Tropical Medicine & Hygiene, in Belarus, South Africa and Uzbekistan.

A total of eight BPaL-based regimens were investigated by these trials:

- Nix-TB study: BPaL for 26 weeks with 1200 mg of linezolid for the entire duration;
- ZeNix trial: BPaL for 26 weeks with 1200 mg of linezolid for the entire duration;
- ZeNix trial: BPaL for 26 weeks with 1200 mg of linezolid for 9 weeks;
- ZeNix trial: BPaL for 26 weeks with 600 mg of linezolid for the entire duration;
- ZeNix trial: BPaL for 26 weeks with 600 mg of linezolid for 9 weeks;
- TB-PRACTECAL: BPaL for 24 weeks with 600 mg linezolid for 16 weeks, followed by 300 mg for 8 weeks;
- TB-PRACTECAL: BPaL with moxifloxacin (BPaLM) for 24 weeks with 600 mg linezolid for 16 weeks, followed by 300 mg for 8 weeks; and
- TB-PRACTECAL: BPaL with clofazimine (BPaLC) for 24 weeks with 600 mg linezolid for 16 weeks, followed by 300 mg for 8 weeks.

For the 2022 guidelines, the GDG considered comparisons between each of the eight regimens. Additionally, comparison was made with the TB-PRACTECAL SoC comparator, and three other cohorts treated with all-oral regimens for MDR/RR-TB:

- a 2019 South African cohort, using a bedaquiline, linezolid and fluoroquinolone containing regimen with a treatment duration of 9-months (4244 patients);
- a 2017 South African cohort, using a bedaquiline and fluoroquinolone containing regimen for 9 months (880 patients); and
- an external cohort, from different countries, of MDR/RR-TB patients treated with bedaquilinecontaining regimens, with a treatment duration of 18–24 months (850 patients).

A successful treatment outcome was achieved in more than 80% of participants, at the end of treatment, for all eight investigational regimens, with 89% treatment success in the BPaLM arm of the TB-PRACTECAL. The treatment success rates were 52% in the SoC regimens in TB-PRACTECAL, 66% in the 2019 South Africa cohort, 69% in the 2017 South Africa cohort and 75% in the multicountry cohort. Based on programmatic data, 59% treatment success rates are reported globally to WHO for MDR/RR-TB (20).

4.1 Eligibility

DST for fluoroquinolones is strongly encouraged in people with MDR/RR-TB, and although it should not delay initiation of the BPaLM, results of the test should guide the decision on whether moxifloxacin can be retained or should be dropped from the regimen – in cases of documented resistance to fluoroquinolones, BPaL without moxifloxacin would be initiated or continued. The BPaLM/BPaL regimen may be offered to patients with MDR/RR-TB in the following situations:

- pulmonary TB or all forms of extrapulmonary TB, except TB involving the CNS, osteoarticular TB and disseminated (miliary) TB;
- patient is aged 14 years or older;
- no known allergy to any of the BPaLM component drugs;
- no evidence of resistance to bedaquiline, linezolid, delamanid or pretomanid, or patient has not been previously exposed to any of the component drugs for 4 weeks or longer; when exposure to the component drugs is greater than 4 weeks in duration, the patient may receive the BPaLM regimens if resistance to the specific medicines with such exposure has definitively been ruled out;
- all people regardless of HIV status;
- no XDR-TB according to the 2021 WHO definitions (21); and
- patient is not pregnant or breastfeeding or, if the patient is a premenopausal woman, is willing to use effective contraception.

In cases of possible fluoroquinolone resistance (e.g. a history of >4 weeks of fluoroquinolone use or close contact with a person infected with a fluoroquinolone-resistant strain), it is best to initiate a BPaLM regimen until DST for fluoroquinolones is available, to decide whether moxifloxacin should be continued. If the result of fluoroquinolone DST is never determined or not done, the BPaLM regimen should be used throughout. This is often done even if fluoroquinolone resistance is suspected, because the toxicity of adding moxifloxacin is low and some patients with past use of a fluoroquinolone or contact cases may still be infected with susceptible strains. If resistance is highly likely (i.e. a treatment with a fluoroquinolone failed or the patient is a close contact of a fluoroquinolone-resistant case and was unlikely to get TB from another source, or in a setting with a high prevalence of fluoroquinolone resistance and in the absence of DST) it is reasonable to omit the moxifloxacin and use the BPaL regimen for treatment.

Other considerations

Several groups of patients were excluded from the ZeNix and TB-PRACTECAL trials. Inclusion of such patients should be considered with caution because no data are available regarding the safety of BPaLM/BPaL in such populations.

Caution should be taken in patients with a known history of cardiac disease. Populations of concern include those with a baseline corrected QT interval by Fridericia (QTcF) of more than 450 ms, history of cardiac disease with syncopal episodes, significant arrythmias, personal or family history of congenital QTc prolongation, torsade de pointes (tdP), bradyarrhythmia or cardiomyopathy. Although bedaquiline and moxifloxacin can prolong QTc, reports of serious adverse events and mortality are rare.

DST for fluoroquinolones is strongly encouraged to determine whether moxifloxacin should be retained in the regimen; however, results from DST should not delay treatment initiation. For patients with confirmed MDR/RR-TB, a WHO-recommended rapid molecular test should be used as an initial rapid test, in preference to culture and phenotypic DST, to detect resistance to fluoroquinolones (22). Although not readily accessible, if DST is available for bedaquiline or linezolid, it is highly desirable that this is also carried out at baseline. DST for pretomanid is being developed. Patients with strains resistant to bedaquiline, pretomanid or linezolid should commence treatment with a longer, individualized MDR-TB regimen. For patients who submit a sputum sample for culture-based second-line DST at the beginning of treatment, results may not be available until after treatment has started. If resistance to

any of the regimen component drugs (except moxifloxacin) is discovered after treatment is initiated, the regimen needs to be discontinued.

Other considerations when initiating the BPaLM/BPaL regimen include the following:

- Linezolid is associated with anaemia and thrombocytopenia, and care should be taken in patients with **anaemia**. Care should also be taken for patients who have a haemoglobin level of less than 8 g/dL or a platelet count less than 75 000/mm³. Consideration of a linezolid-sparing 9-month or longer regimen may be a safe option.
- Patients with a very low body mass index (BMI) (<17 kg/m²) should be monitored. Although the ZeNix-TB trial excluded those with a BMI of less than 17 kg/m², TB-PRACTECAL had no such exclusion criteria and 167 (40%) of those in TB-PRACTECAL had a BMI of less than 17 kg/m². Low BMI should not be an absolute contraindication in commencing the BPaLM/BPaL regimen, but patients should be monitored closely.
- Patients with **liver enzymes** at levels three times greater than the upper limit of normal were excluded from both the ZeNix and TB-PRACTECAL trials because bedaquiline and pretomanid are both associated with increases in liver enzymes.
- Linezolid is associated with peripheral neuropathy; therefore, those with pre-existing **peripheral neuropathy** of Grade 3–4 should be treated with caution when commencing the BPaLM/BPaL regimen. Alternatively, to decrease the risk of peripheral neuropathy exacerbation, the 9-month regimen with ethionamide (and no linezolid) could be used.
- Patients who are moribund or with advanced disease should have considerations made for symptoms control and palliative care over initiation of treatment. Decisions should be guided by clinical judgement and the patient's preferences.

Vigilance or, preferably, drug substitution should be considered when certain medications are prescribed concurrently with the BPaLM/BPaL regimen; for example:

- efavirenz may induce the metabolism of bedaquiline and alternative antiretroviral therapy (ART) should be considered for patients who are prescribed efavirenz;
- linezolid is known to be associated with serotonin syndrome; therefore, caution should be taken with other serotonergic drugs (e.g. sertraline and fluoxetine);
- concomitant drugs that prolong QTc should be avoided if possible such drugs require extra vigilance and monitoring with electrocardiography (ECG) if prescribed with bedaquiline and moxifloxacin; for example, ondansetron, methadone, amitriptyline and clarithromycin, neuroleptics-phenothiazines (e.g. thioridazine, haloperidol, chlorpromazine, trifluoperazine, pericycline, prochlorperazine, fluphenazine, sertindole and pimozide), quinoline antimalarials (e.g. halofantrine, chloroquine, hydroxychloroquine and quinacrine) and anti-arrhythmic drugs (e.g. quinidine, procainamide, encainide, disopyramide, amiodarone, flecainide and sotalol);
- CYP3A4 inhibitors and CYP3A4 inducers can interact with bedaquiline:
 - CYP3A4 inhibitors include the azole antifungals (ketoconazole, voriconazole and itraconazole), ketolides such as telithromycin and macrolide antibiotics other than azithromycin; the azole antifungals in general can safely be used for less than 2 weeks whereas fluconazole could potentially be used for more than 2 weeks;
 - CYP3A4 inducers include phenytoin, carbamazepine, phenobarbital, St. John's wort (*Hypericum perforatum*), rifamycins and glucocorticoids; and
- drugs inducing myelosuppression should also be used with caution (e.g. azathioprine and cytotoxic agents).

In each of the above situations, if the clinician judges that the potential benefits outweigh the potential risk (also considering alternative treatment options), then treatment may proceed with caution. However, patients who are not eligible for the BPaLM/BPaL regimen can benefit from the 9-month regimen if eligible (**Chapter 5**) or the individualized longer treatment regimen (**Chapter 6**).

4.2 Composition and duration of the regimen

The slight differences in the treatment duration of the BPaLM and BPaL regimens, as studied in the TB-PRACTECAL and ZeNix trials, were acknowledged and discussed during the GDG meeting, and the panel suggested standardizing treatment duration of BPaLM to 6 months (26 weeks) during programmatic implementation; for BPaL, the possibility of an extension to a total of 9 months (39 weeks) if sputum cultures are positive between months 4 and 6 was suggested. All medicines in the regimen are to be used throughout treatment duration, including a potential extension from 26 to 39 weeks (when BPaL is used). Ideally, missing doses of all three or four drugs in the regimen should be avoided; however, if doses are missed, any interruption of longer than 7 days should be made up for by extending the treatment duration (for the number of missed doses); therefore, 26 or 39 weeks of prescribed doses should be completed within an overall period of 7 or 10 months, respectively.

4.2.1 BPaLM regimen

The BPaLM regimen includes four components – bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin. Bedaquiline, linezolid and moxifloxacin are used in both the 9-month regimen and the longer regimens for MDR/RR-TB (**Chapter 5** and **Chapter 6**). when initiating the regimen, it is important to ensure that patients have not had previous exposure to bedaquiline, linezolid, pretomanid or delamanid for more than 1-month duration. When exposure is greater than 1 month, these patients may still receive these regimens if resistance to the specific medicines with such exposure has been ruled out.

The components of the BPaLM regimen all possess some bactericidal activity, making them effective anti-mycobacterial drugs when used in combination. Bedaquiline is a diarylquinoline that blocks adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthase, pretomanid is a nitroimidazole that inhibits cell wall biosynthesis, linezolid is an oxazolidinone that inhibits protein synthesis and moxifloxacin is a fluoroquinolone that inhibits the mycobacterial topoisomerases. Further information about the mechanism of action and adverse events of each drug can be found in **Web Annex 1**.

In the BPaLM regimen, pretomanid is administered at 200 mg once daily. Bedaquiline is dosed at 400 mg once daily for 2 weeks, then 200 mg three times per week afterwards, according to the product label. However, in the ZeNix trial, bedaquiline was administered at 200 mg daily for 8 weeks followed by 100 mg daily; this is an alternative way to dose bedaquiline, which may be more convenient for patients and health care providers because it allows for daily dosing of all drugs throughout the regimen. Linezolid dosing is 600 mg once daily and moxifloxacin 400 mg once daily.

Table 4.1. Dosing of component drugs for adults and adolescents (aged \geq 14 years) for BPaLM

Drug	Dose
Bedaquiline (100 mg tablet)	400 mg once daily for 2 weeks, then 200 mg 3 times per week afterwards OR
	200 mg daily for 8 weeks, then 100 mg daily
Pretomanid (200 mg tablet)	200 mg once daily
Linezolid (600 mg tablet)	600 mg once daily
Moxifloxacin (400 mg tablet)	400 mg once daily

BPaLM: bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin.

Dose modifications for bedaquiline, moxifloxacin and pretomanid are not allowed. Given the lack of evidence for the use of other fluoroquinolones, the GDG is currently unable to recommend the substitution of moxifloxacin with levofloxacin.

It is preferred to continue linezolid at the full dose for the entire duration; however, the dose of linezolid can be reduced to 300 mg or can be discontinued (and restarted when possible) if there is significant toxicity (depending on the severity of specific adverse events or serious adverse events) associated with linezolid, including optic neuritis, peripheral neuropathy or myelosuppression. Dose modification of linezolid should be avoided if possible in the first 9 weeks of therapy. Further considerations on linezolid dosing are discussed below.

4.2.2 BPaL regimen

The BPaL regimen can be prescribed for those who have proven fluoroquinolone resistance. In cases of possible fluoroquinolone resistance (e.g. a history of >4 weeks of fluoroquinolone use or close contact with a person infected with a fluoroquinolone-resistant strain), it is best to use the BPaLM regimen until DST for fluoroquinolones is available, to decide whether or not moxifloxacin should be continued. Where DST is pending, BPaLM can be commenced, subsequently dropping moxifloxacin from the regimen once fluoroquinolone resistance is confirmed. The BPaL regimen uses the same doses for pretomanid, bedaquiline and linezolid as the BPaLM regimen.

If fluoroquinolone resistance is acquired while an individual is on the BPaLM regimen, in the absence of evidence of acquired resistance to other drugs, moxifloxacin can be omitted and BPaL should be continued, because there is no added benefit to continuing a noneffective drug that may have toxicities. If resistance to bedaquiline, linezolid or pretomanid is confirmed or suspected, the treatment is considered to have failed and individuals should be referred to the longer individualized regimen (**Chapter 6**).

4.2.3 Duration of treatment

Patients with susceptibility to fluoroquinolones can be started on the BPaLM regimen for 6 months (26 weeks). In the case of resistance to fluoroquinolones, identified after treatment initiation, moxifloxacin may be discontinued and the regimen can be continued as BPaL. When the regimen is BPaL from the start or is changed to BPaL, it can be extended to a total of 9 months (39 weeks) (continuing from the start of the therapy with BPaLM/BPaL). This extension of the BPaL regimen can occur in cases where there is a lack of culture conversion or clinical response (based on the clinical judgement of the treating physician) between months 4 and 6. Treatment interruption up to 1 month can be added to the overall treatment duration if there is a need to make up the missed doses.

Temporary cessation of the full regimen is allowed for suspected drug-related toxicity. Reintroduction of the full regimen could be considered after a cessation of no more than 14 days of consecutive treatment interruption or up to a cumulative 4 weeks of nonconsecutive treatment interruption. Missed doses need to be made up and added to the treatment duration.

Individuals who switch from BPaLM to BPaL should consider their treatment start date the same as the date BPaLM was initiated, because the patient remained on treatment with three effective drugs during the entire treatment period.

4.2.4 Linezolid dosing in the BPaLM/BPaL regimen

Linezolid is by far the most toxic drug in the BPaLM and BPaL regimens; it requires significant monitoring and at times a mitigation strategy to reduce adverse effects. Although it is preferred to continue linezolid at the full dose for the entire duration, the dose of linezolid can be reduced to

300 mg or discontinued (and restarted when possible) if there is significant toxicity. In general, action should be taken in the following manner for the common toxicities associated with linezolid:

- for optic neuritis diagnosed at any grade, permanent discontinuation of linezolid is indicated;
- for peripheral neuropathy Grade 2, reduce the dose of linezolid to 300 mg per day with a possible drug holiday for 1–2 weeks before dose reduction;
- for peripheral neuropathy Grade 3 or 4, in most cases permanent suspension of linezolid will be needed; in some cases, after a 1–2-week drug holiday and reversion to Grade 2, the linezolid can be restarted and tolerated, provided it does not revert back to a Grade 3 or 4 (caution is warranted with this approach because patients can be left with a severe painful and disabling permanent peripheral neuropathy); and
- myelosuppression (even of Grade 3 or 4) is often reversible with a short 1-to-2-week drug holiday followed by reducing the dose of linezolid to 300 mg per day; severe anaemia may need to be treated with transfusions or erythropoietin.

The adverse events were noted more frequently in regimens using high-dose linezolid (1200 mg/daily). In the ZeNix study, 18.6% (8/43) participants in the study arm using linezolid 1200 mg daily for up to 26 weeks experienced a Grade 3 or more adverse event compared with 14.0% (6/43) participants in the intervention arm using 600 mg of linezolid for 26 weeks, and 19.6% (20/102) of participants in the BPaL arm using linezolid 600 mg or 300 mg in the TB-PRACTECAL trial (1). The most common adverse events resulting in dose modifications or early interruption of linezolid in the Nix-TB study were peripheral neuropathy and myelosuppression. Although optic neuritis was infrequent, it is an important adverse event that can result in the early interruption of linezolid. In comparison, in the ZeNix and TB-PRACTECAL trials, more than 90% of participants were able to complete more than 75% of the maximal intended dose and duration of linezolid. Peripheral neuropathy and myelosuppression were noted in both trials, but were often not severe and they improved with dose reductions or cessation of linezolid. A toxicodynamic modelling study using Nix-TB data showed lower percentages of patients with severe peripheral neuropathy (median, 5% versus 19%) and severe anaemia (1% versus 15%) in patients using 600 mg compared with 1200 mg linezolid daily *(23)*.

4.2.5 Modification of treatment

The only experience using these new regimens stems from two clinical trials; it is therefore suggested that the programmatic implementation be aligned with this experience. Safe management of adverse events may warrant dose reduction or discontinuation of the component drugs. However, the BPaLM/ BPaL regimen has been studied as a standardized course of treatment. Modification of the regimen through early discontinuation or replacement of any of the component drugs may result in poor treatment outcomes. Although dose modification of bedaquiline and pretomanid is not recommended, dose modification of linezolid is acceptable after the first 9 weeks of treatment in cases of adverse events. Although dose modification of linezolid should be avoided in the first 9 weeks of therapy, this principle should not override the need to avoid permanent disabilities. In some circumstances, the linezolid may need to be permanently stopped and a decision made on whether to continue the other drugs to complete treatment or start a new treatment. After 9 weeks of consecutive administration of linezolid, the dose of linezolid can be reduced to 300 mg if necessary (see examples in **Box 4.1**).

Modifications of linezolid dose were made in the ZeNix and TB-PRACTECAL trials when linezolidassociated toxicity was suspected. Although no analysis was undertaken to determine whether individuals with dose reductions had poorer treatment outcomes than those who continued for the complete duration, overall treatment success was very high in all investigational arms.

Pharmacokinetic studies have suggested that dose optimization of linezolid may differ among patients (24). Therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is a novel approach that can be used, where available, to optimize linezolid dose and minimize adverse events, without compromising effectiveness (25).

Further research is encouraged and is ongoing, to help ascertain how to optimize TDM in the treatment of individuals with MDR/RR-TB who are prescribed linezolid.

A dosing strategy study evaluating Nix-TB study data suggested that monitoring neuropathy symptoms and haemoglobin level may help guide linezolid dosing to avoid toxicities. A decrease in haemoglobin level of 10% or more after 4 weeks of treatment may help to identify those at high risk for severe anaemia (23). However, further research on dosing strategies is needed to optimize when and how to reduce the dose of linezolid.

Regarding the cessation of any component drug of the BPaLM/BPaL regimen because of severe toxicity, the following factors should be taken into account:

- if either bedaquiline or pretomanid needs to be permanently discontinued, the entire BPaLM/BPaL regimen should also be discontinued;
- if linezolid is permanently discontinued during the initial 9 consecutive weeks of treatment, the entire regimen should be discontinued;
- if linezolid is withheld in the later weeks of the regimen, with the total remaining duration of the regimen not exceeding 8 weeks, the regimen can be considered to be completed with the remaining component drugs; and
- if moxifloxacin alone is discontinued, the regimen can be continued as the BPaL regimen.

If linezolid (or any of the drugs) is being intermittently stopped and started on the BPaLM/BPaL regimen, there may be concern for development of resistance to the other component medicines in the regimen. This may be more of a concern for patients receiving BPaL because during single drug disruption the regimen will consist of only two effective drugs. Acquired resistance to the two remaining agents in pre-XDR-TB cases can be catastrophic to both the patient and the society.

Although there is no specific number of missed regimen dosages to automatically indicate when the BPaLM/BPaL regimen should be declared a failure and an individualized longer regimen should be used instead, this general guidance to consider clinical review and switch to an individualized longer regimen should be considered when:

- more than 2 weeks of consecutive treatment interruption of all medicines in the regimen occurs; or
- more than 4 weeks cumulative of nonconsecutive treatment interruption of all medicines in the regimen occurs.

Extension of BPaL to 9 months should be done with caution in patients with a high number of missed linezolid dosages – switching to an individualized longer regimen may be considered instead of a BPaL extension.

Box 4.1. Some examples of changes in linezolid dosing within the BPaLM/BPaL regimen

- → A patient diagnosed with MDR/RR-TB (based on GeneXpert results) completes 4 weeks of treatment with BPaLM, with 600 mg of linezolid, when they experience symptoms of severe paresthesia in the feet, preventing them from completing their daily life activities. This adverse event necessitates the cessation of linezolid within the first 9 weeks of therapy. Because permanent discontinuation of linezolid was needed, the entire regimen has to be discontinued and a new regimen started.
- → A patient completing treatment with BPaL, with 600 mg of linezolid, for MDR/RR-TB with fluoroquinolone resistance, experiences Grade 3 optic neuritis in week 20 of therapy. Linezolid must be ceased permanently; however, because there is less than 8 weeks of treatment remaining, the patient completes a further 6 weeks of therapy with bedaquiline and pretomanid and has a negative sputum culture at the end of 26 weeks, achieving a successful treatment outcome on BPaL therapy. The optic neuritis improves slowly after cessation of linezolid.

4.2.6 Discontinuation of the regimen

The BPaLM/BPaL regimen may need to be discontinued in some patients. In such cases, patients need to be evaluated and treatment switched to an individualized longer regimen, based on the WHO guidelines for regimen design using priority grouping of medicines. The most common situations in which the regimen may be discontinued are treatment failure, inability to use linezolid for enough time owing to adverse effects (discussed above) or pregnancy that occurs during treatment.

4.2.7 Pregnancy during treatment

For patients who become pregnant during treatment, it will be necessary to discontinue the BPaLM/ BPaL regimen and prescribe another regimen.

4.3 Key subgroups

The following subgroup analyses were available to the GDG in considering the eligibility criteria for the BPaLM/BPaL regimen: age, smear status, smoking status, people living with HIV (PLHIV) and previous TB. The GDG also considered the eligibility criteria as stipulated by each of the trials. The resulting considerations when prescribing the BPaLM/BPaL regimen are summarized below.

4.3.1 Children

Children were excluded from the Nix-TB, ZeNix (0–13 years) and TB-PRACTECAL (0–14 years) studies; therefore, no analysis specific to this subgroup of patients could have been performed. Although bedaquiline, linezolid and fluoroquinolones have been used to treat MDR/RR-TB in children, there are no data about the use of pretomanid in children, and further study is required to expand the use of BPaLM/BPaL to children. It is recommended that children aged below 14 years with pulmonary MDR/RR-TB be given consideration for the 9-month treatment regimen. Individuals aged 14 years and older were included in all the Nix-TB, ZeNix and TB-PRACTECAL trials and can safely be started on the BPaLM/BPaL regimen.

4.3.2 PLHIV

PLHIV represented 19.5% of those enrolled in the ZeNix trial, 51% of those enrolled in the Nix-TB study and 26.7% of those enrolled in the TB-PRACTECAL trial. PLHIV were eligible to enrol in the ZeNix trial if they had a CD4 count of more than 100 cells/uL, and in TB-PRACTECAL regardless of CD4 count. Thus, patients can be enrolled in the BPaLM/BPaL regimen irrespective of the CD4 count; however, care should be taken when CD4 counts are below 100 cells/mm³.

In the ZeNix trial, enrolled participants had to be taking permitted antiretroviral medications.³ Although there was no such criterion in TB-PRACTECAL, it is important to consider drug–drug interactions when administering TB and HIV medications in combination. The antiretroviral drug efavirenz induces metabolism of bedaquiline, so its co-administration with bedaquiline may result in reduced bedaquiline exposure and loss of activity; therefore, co-administration is to be avoided. Efavirenz also reduces pretomanid exposures significantly (*26*); therefore, an alternative antiretroviral agent (potentially dolutegravir, although there is currently insufficient evidence for this) should be used if pretomanid or the BPaLM/BPaL regimen is considered. Ritonavir may increase bedaquiline exposure, which could potentially increase the risk of bedaquiline-related adverse reactions (*27*); however, increased risk has not been noted in studies administering both drugs concurrently (*27–29*), including in the current ZeNix trial. Individuals who are prescribed both bedaquiline and ritonavir should be monitored closely for adverse events, including QTc prolongation. Finally, regimens including zidovudine should be avoided, if possible, because both zidovudine and linezolid may cause peripheral nerve toxicity and are known to have myelosuppression cross-toxicity.

4.3.3 Pulmonary TB

Pulmonary TB patients with radiological evidence of bilateral disease or radiological evidence of cavitation were included in the Nix-TB, ZeNix and TB-PRACTECAL studies. As such, patients with extensive pulmonary disease can be started on the BPaLM/BPaL regimen; however, close microbiological and clinical monitoring for culture conversion and clinical response should be maintained. In patients on the BPaL regimen, where there is a lack of culture conversion or clinical response between months 4 and 6, the regimen can be extended to 9 months (39 weeks) total duration.

4.3.4 Extrapulmonary TB

Patients with extrapulmonary TB were excluded from the ZeNix trial; however, in the TB-PRACTECAL trial, only those with TB involving the CNS, osteomyelitis and arthritis were excluded. WHO recommends the BPaLM/BPaL for all forms of extrapulmonary TB except TB involving the CNS, osteoarticular TB and disseminated (miliary) TB. The longer MDR-TB regimens apply to such patients. Although there is a single case study of a participant from the Nix-TB study that confirms the incidental use of BPaL in CNS TB with favourable outcome (*30*), further studies are required to recommend the regimen for programmatic implementation in severe disseminated TB. There are few data on the CNS penetration of bedaquiline, linezolid or pretomanid (**Web Annex 1**).

4.3.5 Pregnant and breastfeeding women

Pregnant and breastfeeding women were excluded from both the ZeNix and TB-PRACTECAL trials; therefore, no analysis specific to this subgroup of patients could be performed, and safety of the BPaLM/ BPaL regimen, especially of pretomanid, in pregnant and breastfeeding women has not been established. For pregnant and breastfeeding women, the longer 9-month oral regimen can be used (**Chapter 5**).

³ These permitted antiretroviral treatments were nevirapine in combination with tenofovir/abacavir or emtricitabine/lamivudine; lopinavir/ ritonavir in combination with tenofovir/abacavir or emtricitabine/lamivudine; and integrase inhibitor in combination with tenofovir/ abacavir or emtricitabine/lamivudine. For patients on efavirenz, therapy could be changed to rilpivirine with tenofovir/abacavir or emtricitabine/lamivudine.

4.4 Implementation considerations

4.4.1 DST

As detailed previously, DST for fluoroquinolones is advisable before starting therapy. Where DST is unavailable, a careful history of previous exposure to TB therapy is critical. Where the treatment history suggests there may be resistance to one of the components of the regimen (i.e. exposure to bedaquiline, pretomanid or linezolid in an inadequate regimen is greater than 1 month and DST is unavailable), the BPaLM/BPaL therapy should not be commenced, and a longer individualized regimen should be considered. Furthermore, if there is greater than 1 month exposure to fluoroquinolones that indicates probable resistance, the BPaLM regimen should be continued until resistance to fluoroquinolones is determined.

Previous exposure to delamanid may suggest cross-resistance to pretomanid (31) and exposure to clofazimine may suggest cross-resistance to bedaquiline (32). Caution should be exerted in such situations and, where possible, if DST for clofazimine, bedaquiline or delamanid is available, it should be used.

4.4.2 Treatment support

In the ZeNix trial, all medications were administered with food throughout, because the bioavailability of bedaquiline (and pretomanid) increases when taken with food. The BPaLM/BPaL regimen should be administered with food and adequate water intake. Because calcium can bind the fluoroquinolones and make them ineffective, it is recommended to avoid taking dairy products, calcium supplements or calcium-containing antacids for 2 hours before and 2 hours after taking BPaLM.

Measures to support patient adherence tailored to patient needs are important to retain patients on treatment and ensure good treatment outcomes. Support should be provided through an effective model of care and measures should include support in the community or at home, social support and digital health interventions for communication with the patient (19). Early ambulatory care was employed by the ZeNix trial and is recommended for the programmatic implementation of the BPaLM/ BPaL regimen, because it complements the patient-centred approach to the management of TB.

4.4.3 Contact tracing of household contacts

Contact tracing is critical to identify further cases of MDR/RR-TB, prevent ongoing transmission and ultimately work towards the global endTB strategy. Assessment should be offered for household contacts where feasible, especially for children aged below 5 years. Measures available for screening should include symptom assessment, chest X-ray and sputum testing (preferably using WHO-recommended molecular tests) (33).

4.4.4 Infection control

Infection control is vital to both inpatient and outpatient management of MDR/RR-TB patients and for the community. Within facilities, adequate ventilation, upper-room germicidal ultraviolet light systems and appropriate respirators for staff should be considered (i.e. N95 masks). Ventilation is also important at home, and education about personal safety and practices related to cough hygiene should be provided for patients and families (*34*). Most TB patients are likely to become noninfectious within weeks of commencing an effective treatment (*35*).

4.4.5 Cost-effectiveness analysis

While there have been no cost–effectiveness studies looking at the BPaLM regimen, cost–effectiveness studies for the BPaL regimen have demonstrated lower costs, should the regimen be programmatically implemented. Owing to the substantially shorter treatment duration and reduced need for hospitalization (*36, 37*), the implementation of a national programme using BPaL for MDR/RR-TB was estimated to cost 57–78% less than conventional longer regimens, when including all costs (e.g. investigations, drugs and hospitalization) (*36*).

4.5 Treatment monitoring

4.5.1 Monitoring treatment response and outcome assignment

Response to treatment should be monitored on the basis of monthly sputum smear microscopy and culture (ideally at the same frequency). Individuals prescribed the BPaLM/BPaL regimen should be monitored to assess regimen effectiveness and safety. Given that the BPaLM/BPaL regimen is a new and shorter regimen that includes novel medications, it is also important to follow up patients after the completion of treatment, to ensure that there is no treatment relapse or unexpected adverse events.

The treatment outcome definitions and reporting framework for patients on the BPaLM/BPaL regimen are the same as those for patients on longer MDR-TB regimens (38). The updated definition of treatment failure includes situations where a patient's treatment regimen has been terminated or permanently changed to a new treatment regimen, due to any of the following:

- Adverse drug reactions If bedaquiline or pretomanid need to be suspended permanently owing to severe toxicity, the entire regimen will need to be terminated and a longer individualized treatment regimen considered. Should moxifloxacin alone need to be suspended in the BPaLM regimen, the regimen can be continued as the BPaL regimen. If linezolid alone needs be suspended when the remaining time to complete the regimen is less than 8 weeks, the treatment should be completed with the remaining drugs in the regimen.
- Poor bacteriological or clinical response to treatment If there is bacteriological evidence of persistent positive cultures or poor clinical response, a change in the treatment regimen should be considered. Bacteriological failure for BPaLM/BPaL is marked by persistent positive sputum culture (no conversion or reversion) from month 4 to the end of treatment (after 6 months for BPaLM and after 9 months for BPaL). Where an individual fails to respond to the BPaLM/BPaL regimen, the patient should be transferred to a longer individualized regimen (Chapter 6) and provided with adequate treatment support. In such patients, DST, where available, is important to guide the design of the next regimen.
- Acquired drug resistance to drugs in the BPaLM/BPaL regimen If resistance to BPaLM/BPaL component drugs (except moxifloxacin) is acquired during treatment (i.e. baseline DST is susceptible and monitoring culture demonstrates resistance), it will be necessary to discontinue the regimen.

Finally, there is growing evidence of both bedaquiline and linezolid resistance being expressed in *M. tuberculosis* strains, especially for those who have been exposed to either medication previously (*39, 40*). The capacity to monitor for the emergence of resistance with DST will be instrumental in controlling, treating and preventing the emergence and spread of resistant strains of infection.

4.5.2 Monitoring safety

As with all TB programmes, active surveillance for adverse events is critical to ensure safety and minimize short-term and long-term morbidity of patients. A schedule for monitoring examinations should be established and applied to all patients receiving treatment with the BPaLM/BPaL regimen. Patients should undergo appropriate evaluation at the beginning of treatment (baseline), and during

and after treatment. Common adverse events for each drug used in the BPaLM/BPaL regimen can be found in **Web Annex 1**, and a schedule of recommended investigations at baseline and during follow-up is given in **Table 4.2**. The monitoring schedule should consider the following:

- laboratory and ECG monitoring should be continued at monthly intervals for the duration of treatment (i.e. 9 months in the case of treatment prolongation);
- in the case of electrolyte disturbances, haematologic or ECG abnormalities, more frequent monitoring may be performed; and
- more frequent monitoring may be advisable in specific situations; for example, in older people, PLHIV, those affected by hepatitis (caused by hepatitis B virus [HBV] or hepatitis C virus [HCV]), those with diabetes mellitus, those with moderate to severe hepatic or renal impairment, or those with baseline anaemia or visual disturbances (e.g. glaucoma, cataract or colour blindness).

The WHO framework for aDSM needs to be applied to patients on any type of MDR-TB regimen, to ensure appropriate action and an acceptable level of monitoring for and prompt response to adverse events (**Web Annex 3**); the framework should be applied alongside monitoring for treatment outcomes, including early monitoring for treatment failure. Additional evidence on adverse events will be important to build the evidence base on the safety of the BPaLM/BPaL regimen in varied settings. Monitoring of changes in dosing and duration of linezolid can also inform the future evidence base on the wider use of the BPaLM/BPaL regimen and the tolerability of linezolid in this regimen.

The NTP should thus actively monitor drug safety to ensure proper patient care, to report any adverse events to the responsible drug safety authority in the country, and to inform national and global policy.

Examination	Baseline	2 weeks	Monthly	End of treatment	6 and 12 months post- treatment
Clinical evaluation					
Clinical assessment ^a					
Psychosocial assessment ^b					
Weight/BMI					
Performance status					
Peripheral neuropathy screening					
Visual acuity and colour discrimination screening					
Assessment and follow-up of adverse events					
Outcome consultation					
Bacteriological evaluations	5				
Sputum smear					
Sputum culture					
Sputum DST ^c			If smear or	culture positi	ve

Table 4.2. An example of the schedule of baseline, routine and post-treatment monitoring examinations for the BPaLM/BPaL regimen

Examination	Baseline	2 weeks	Monthly	End of treatment	6 and 12 months post- treatment
Other samples (smear/ culture/DST)			If no docur	mented respo	nse to treatment
Radiology, ECG and labora	tory evalua	tions			
Chest X-ray					
ECG					
Full blood count					
Liver function tests (AST, ALT and bilirubin)					
Serum electrolytes					
Urea, creatinine					
Pregnancy test					
HIV/HBV/HCV tests					
BSL/HbA1c					

ALT: alanine aminotransferase; AST: aspartate aminotransferase; BMI: body mass index; BPaL: bedaquiline, pretomanid and linezolid; BPaLM: bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin; BSL: blood sugar level; DST: drug susceptibility testing; ECG: electrocardiography; HbA1c: glycosylated haemoglobin; HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus; TB: tuberculosis; WHO: World Health Organization.

^a Vital signs, TB symptom screen, pain, nausea, appetite and nutrition, diarrhoea and candidiasis. Clinical assessment should focus on monitoring the response to treatment and addressing common symptoms associated with TB treatment and long-term antibiotic use, with the goal of supporting adherence.

^b Food security, housing, mental state and substance use. Psychosocial assessment should offer an opportunity to assess supportive factors for treatment adherence and should be directly linked to relevant interventions wherever possible, as per country-specific questionnaires.

^c Ideally, the patient should at baseline have a WHO-recommended rapid molecular test (for rifampicin and fluoroquinolone resistance). Other investigations, if available, include culture-based second-line DST, next-generation sequencing and DST for the BPaLM component drugs.

5. The 9-month all-oral regimen

This section refers to a treatment regimen for MDR/RR-TB that has a duration of at least 9 months and uses oral agents. The recommendation in the updated 2022 guideline (1) states:

Recommendation 2.1. WHO suggests the use of the 9-month all-oral regimen rather than longer (18-month) regimens in patients with MDR/RR-TB and in whom resistance to fluoroquinolones has been excluded.

(Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)

The 9-month all-oral regimen comprises bedaquiline (used for 6 months), in combination with levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, ethionamide, ethambutol, isoniazid (high dose), pyrazinamide and clofazimine (for 4 months, with the possibility of extending to 6 months if the patient remains sputum smear positive at the end of 4 months); followed by treatment with levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, clofazimine, ethambutol and pyrazinamide (for 5 months). Ethionamide can be replaced by 2 months of linezolid (600 mg daily).

The last consolidated guidelines for the treatment of DR-TB were released in June 2020. In 2019, for the WHO guideline update, the South African Department of Health provided WHO with access to programmatic data on injectable-free regimens that had been used in South Africa since 2017, when most eligible patients were enrolled on a shorter regimen, with bedaguiline replacing the injectable. Since then, new data from patients receiving WHO-recommended shorter and longer MDR/RR-TB regimens have been incorporated into an individual patient dataset (IPD) in 2021; these data were presented to the GDG in 2022 to help inform the development of the updated WHO guidelines on DR-TB. In addition, routine data from the South African NTP were available to assess the modified 9-month all-oral regimen containing linezolid (600 mg daily) instead of ethionamide, for treatment of patients with fluoroquinolone-susceptible MDR/RR-TB and without previous exposure to secondline TB drugs. The South African routine dataset of patients receiving the modified 9-month all-oral regimen would also have excluded children aged below 6 years, as well as patients with extensive pulmonary TB disease and severe forms of extrapulmonary TB, because these patients were not considered eligible for this regimen under current national DR-TB guidelines (41). For the updated 2022 WHO guidelines, the modified 9-month regimen used in South Africa was compared with the earlier dataset and the 2021 IPD from patients meeting the same eligibility criteria and who received the WHO-recommended 9-month all-oral regimen containing ethionamide instead of linezolid, or the longer regimens designed based on the 2020 WHO recommendations.

Following review of the data presented, the GDG judged the benefits of the 9-month regimen with linezolid to be small and the undesirable effects to be moderate compared with the 9-month regimen with ethionamide. The certainty of evidence was judged to be very low. Based on this, the GDG judged that the balance of health effects does not favour either the 9-month regimen with linezolid or the 9-month regimen with ethionamide. Therefore, WHO has updated its conditional recommendation that, in eligible patients with MDR/RR-TB, the 9-month all-oral regimen may be used, and that 2 months of linezolid can be used as an alternative to 4 months of ethionamide within this shorter regimen (1).

The implementation of these two variations of the 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen (i.e. including either linezolid for 2 months or ethionamide for 4 months) is expected to provide more flexible and effective treatment options for a wider range of patients requiring treatment for MDR/RR-TB.

This regimen still requires combined use of seven agents (some with considerable toxicity), most of which will be continued for at least 9 months. Patients will need support to overcome the hardships associated with TB and its treatment, including daily adherence challenges, adverse drug reactions, indirect costs and stigma.

5.1 Eligibility

In settings where the 6-month MDR/RR-TB regimen is not yet available, or implementation of the regimen is not yet feasible, or for patients who are not eligible, selected patients with MDR/RR-TB may benefit from a 9-month all-oral regimen. Several eligibility criteria must be considered for this regimen, with additional considerations for the use of linezolid instead of ethionamide.

The 9-month all-oral regimen (with either ethionamide or linezolid) may be offered to the following patients with MDR/RR-TB (where resistance to at least rifampicin has been confirmed and resistance to fluoroquinolones has been ruled out):

- those with no documented resistance or suspected ineffectiveness of bedaquiline, clofazimine, or ethionamide or linezolid (whichever is considered for inclusion in the regimen);
- those with no exposure to previous treatment with bedaquiline, fluoroquinolones,⁴ clofazimine, or ethionamide or linezolid (whichever is considered for inclusion in the regimen) for more than 1 month when prior drug exposure is greater than 1 month, patients may still receive this regimen if resistance to the specific medicine with such exposure has been ruled out;
- those with no extensive or severe TB disease⁵ and no severe extrapulmonary TB;⁶
- all people living with or without HIV;
- women who are pregnant or breastfeeding: these patients may be considered eligible for the linezolid-containing 9-month regimen, but they should not receive the 9-month regimen containing ethionamide; and
- children and adults without bacteriological confirmation of TB or resistance patterns but who require MDR/RR-TB treatment based on clinical signs and symptoms of TB (including radiological findings) and history of contact with someone with confirmed MDR/RR-TB: these patients may be eligible for this regimen based on the drug resistance profile of the isolate obtained from the most likely index case.

Linezolid is associated with considerable toxicity, which necessitates close monitoring for signs of bone marrow suppression and neuropathies. Optic neuritis and peripheral neuropathies tend to be reported beyond 2 months of treatment with linezolid, whereas myelosuppression is significantly dose dependent and is more likely to occur during the first 2 months of exposure to the drug (42, 43). Nevertheless, linezolid is far more effective than ethionamide and helps to maintain a relatively effective regimen, particularly in cases of MDR/RR-TB where phenotypic DST results are awaited to confirm fluoroquinolone susceptibility. Therefore, the 9-month all-oral regimen containing linezolid (instead of ethionamide) should be offered wherever possible to patients who fulfil the eligibility criteria above, as well as the following:

- serum haemoglobin above 8 g/dL, neutrophils above 0.75 \times 10⁹/L and platelets above 150 \times 10⁹/L at the start of treatment; and
- no evidence of severe peripheral neuropathy, or any sign or suspicion of optic neuritis, at the start of treatment.

The 9-month all-oral regimen with ethionamide instead of linezolid, or a longer regimen without linezolid, may be more appropriate options for patients with very low haemoglobin, neutrophils or platelets, severe peripheral neuropathy or concerns regarding vision. Mild or moderate peripheral

⁴ This includes exposure to fluoroquinolones as either treatment or prevention of MDR/RR-TB.

⁵ See definitions in Chapter 2.

⁶ See definitions in Chapter 2.

neuropathy (Grade 1 or 2) may also be sufficient reason to offer a 9-month regimen that uses ethionamide, based on the patient's preference after discussing the risks and benefits of not including linezolid. However, the ethionamide-containing regimen must be avoided in individuals who are pregnant or breastfeeding. The decision regarding which regimen offers the best option for cure in a patient may also depend on other considerations; for example, preferences of patients and clinicians, pill burden, drug formulations, regional DRS data, feasibility of monitoring for drug adverse effects, and availability of blood transfusion services or ophthalmology services, if required.

If the 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen (with either linezolid or ethionamide) cannot be used, the patient must be reassessed for their eligibility for another appropriate regimen, either BPaLM/ BPaL or a longer MDR-TB regimen.

5.1.1 Assessment of extent and severity of TB disease

The extent of a patient's TB disease is important in determining appropriate regimen options, in addition to the drug susceptibility of the *M. tuberculosis* and other considerations mentioned above. Patients with extensive disease are not eligible for the 9-month all-oral regimen with either linezolid or ethionamide.

Patients with severe extrapulmonary MDR/RR-TB are not eligible for a 9-month regimen with either linezolid or ethionamide. The 9-month regimen may also not be adequate therapy for patients with osteoarticular or pericardial MDR/RR-TB. Poor penetration of first-line TB drugs through the pericardial tissues leads to low pericardial drug concentrations compared with plasma (44), and although definitive data are lacking, drug penetration remains a concern for second-line TB drugs also. Treatment outcomes among patients treated with longer regimens for osteoarticular MDR/RR-TB are encouraging (45), and there is evidence that linezolid penetrates bone tissue well (46). However, due to the general lack of data on the efficacy of shorter regimens for treatment of these extrapulmonary manifestations of MDR/RR-TB, it remains prudent to treat such patients with longer regimens. In children and young adolescents aged below 15 years, extrapulmonary forms of disease other than lymphadenopathy (peripheral nodes or isolated mediastinal mass without airway compression) are considered to be severe (47) and might not be adequately treated with the 9-month all-oral regimen.

5.1.2 DST results

The 9-month all-oral regimen is not adequate for the treatment of patients with pre-XDR-TB or XDR-TB; it is also not adequate to treat MDR/RR-TB that has both inhA and katG mutations. It is recommended that samples be submitted for susceptibility testing to at least fluoroquinolones before the start of this regimen. In settings without access to the Xpert MTB-XDR cartridge, a line probe assay (LPA: MTBDR*plus*) can be used to detect the two most common mutations that confer resistance to isoniazid. These mutations are found in the inhA promoter and katG regions, and they confer resistance to isoniazid at different levels. Low-level isoniazid resistance is conferred when only inhA mutations are present, and high-level resistance is conferred when mutations in the katG gene are present. Mutations at the inhA promoter region are also associated with resistance to ethionamide and prothionamide. High doses of isoniazid (15–20 mg/kg) are generally considered to be effective in the presence of low-level isoniazid resistance when used as part of combination therapy, but the efficacy of high doses of isoniazid in the presence of katG mutations remains unclear. Nevertheless, high-dose isoniazid is always included in the 9-month all-oral regimen if either (but not both) of the mutations is present. The presence of mutations in both regions (i.e. *inh*A promoter and *kat*G genes) suggests that neither isoniazid at a high dose nor thioamides may be effective and therefore the 9-month all-oral regimen is not appropriate in these cases. In the South African setting, the detection of both mutations in MDR-TB strains was considered a surrogate marker for more extensive drug resistance at the time that the 9-month linezolid-containing regimen was introduced. Patients in South Africa who had MDR-TB with both mutations were not considered eligible for the 9-month regimen, and so were not included in the routine dataset presented to the GDG for review. Thus, the efficacy of the 9-month regimen in such cases is largely unknown. In the absence of information on isoniazid resistance or mutation patterns in the case of an individual patient, knowledge of the prevalence of both mutations among locally circulating RR-TB strains (e.g. from DRS in the relevant epidemiological setting) may also inform decisions as to which treatment regimen would be most appropriate. DST for pyrazinamide and ethambutol is not carried out routinely in most settings and these results do not affect eligibility for the 9-month all-oral regimen. There are no rapid methods to detect M. tuberculosis resistance to clofazimine, linezolid and bedaquiline; however, the critical concentrations for mycobacterial growth indicator tube (MGIT) have been established, enabling NTPs to perform phenotypic DST. If resistance to these drugs is detected in isolates obtained from patients with MDR/RR-TB, the 9-month all-oral regimen should not be offered, or the patient must switch to a longer individualized treatment regimen. In the absence of DST for bedaquiline, linezolid and clofazimine, treatment decisions will rely on the likelihood of effectiveness of these medicines, based on an individual patient's clinical history and surveillance data from the country or region. This should be considered a last resort and an interim measure until the capacity for DST for these drugs becomes available.

5.1.3 Haematological assessment

Due to the risk of myelosuppression associated with even relatively short exposures to linezolid, pretreatment assessment of haemoglobin, neutrophils and platelets is crucial in patients considering treatment with a linezolid-containing regimen. Severe anaemia in patients with TB is a significant risk factor for poor treatment outcomes (48), and patients with a low baseline haemoglobin may be at risk of severe linezolid-induced haematological toxicity. The linezolid-containing 9-month regimen must not be offered to patients with a pretreatment serum haemoglobin below 8 g/dL that cannot be rapidly corrected (i.e. with a blood transfusion) before starting MDR/RR-TB treatment. Similarly, due to the morbidity associated with severe neutropenia and thrombocytopenia, the linezolid-containing 9-month regimen is not suitable in patients with neutrophils below 0.75×10^9 /L or platelets below 150×10^9 /L before starting treatment.

5.2 Composition and duration of the regimen

The two variations of the 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen recommended by WHO in 2022 (1) are described below.

5.2.1 Ethionamide variation

The ethionamide variation involves the initiation of bedaquiline, levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, clofazimine, ethionamide, ethambutol, isoniazid (high dose) and pyrazinamide. All seven drugs are given for 4 months, with the possibility of extending to 6 months if the patient's sputum remains bacteriologically positive at the end of the fourth month on treatment. Ethionamide and high-dose isoniazid are dropped after 4 or 6 months, depending on the decision to extend treatment based on smear status at month 4 of treatment. This is followed by 5 months of treatment with levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, clofazimine, ethambutol and pyrazinamide. Bedaquiline is usually given for 6 months but could be extended to 9 months, particularly if the initial phase is extended from 4 to 6 months due to a lack of sputum conversion at month 4.

The regimen is summarized as:

4–6 Bdq_(6 m)-Lfx/Mfx-Cfz-Z-E-Hh-Eto / 5 Lfx/Mfx-Cfz-Z-E Initial phase: 4–6 Bdq_(6 m)-Lfx/Mfx-Cfz-Z-E-Hh-Eto Continuation phase: 5 Lfx/Mfx-Cfz-Z-E

5.2.2 Linezolid variation

The linezolid variation involves initiation of bedaquiline, linezolid, levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, clofazimine, ethambutol, isoniazid (high dose) and pyrazinamide. Linezolid is only given for the first 2 months of treatment. Clinical and haematological monitoring are crucial to detect early linezolid-associated adverse events, particularly haematological events (sudden or significant drop in haemoglobin, neutrophils or platelets). After the initial 2 months, the remaining six drugs are given for another 2 months (with the possibility of extending by an additional 2 months if the patient's sputum remains bacteriologically positive at the end of the fourth month on treatment). High-dose isoniazid is dropped after 4 or 6 months, depending on the decision to extend treatment based on smear status at month 4 of treatment. This is followed by 5 months of treatment with levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, clofazimine, ethambutol and pyrazinamide. Bedaquiline is usually given for 6 months due to a positive sputum smear result at month 4.

The regimen is summarized as:

4–6 Bdq_(6 m)-Lzd_(2 m)-Lfx/Mfx-Cfz-Z-E-Hh / 5 Lfx/Mfx-Cfz-Z-E Initial phase: 4–6 Bdq_(6 m)-Lzd_(2 m)-Lfx/Mfx-Cfz-Z-E-Hh Continuation phase: 5 Lfx/Mfx-Cfz-Z-E

5.2.3 Choice of fluoroquinolone

In terms of choice of fluoroquinolone, either levofloxacin or moxifloxacin may be used in the 9-month all-oral regimen, because they have shown similar efficacy for treating MDR/RR-TB. Although levofloxacin results in a higher pill burden, it is often preferred because moxifloxacin is associated with a higher risk of QT interval prolongation (49). Clinically significant, severe QT interval prolongation is relatively uncommon among patients treated with the 9-month all-oral regimens. However, the additive effect of co-administration of other QT-prolonging drugs (i.e. bedaquiline and clofazimine) within the shorter regimen should be considered when deciding on an appropriate regimen for individual patients with other risk factors for cardiotoxicity.

5.2.4 Drug dosage and frequency

The dosages of all drugs included in both variations of the 9-month all-oral regimen are outlined in the **Annex**. Most drugs, except for bedaquiline, are administered once a day, 7 days per week. In the 9-month regimen, bedaquiline is initially administered daily, with a higher loading dose for the first 2 weeks, followed by a lower maintenance dose on 3 days a week (with at least 48 hours between doses) thereafter. If one dose of bedaquiline is missed in the 2-week loading phase, the missed dose does not have to be made up and the patient can continue on the daily dosing schedule. If a dose of bedaquiline is missed in the maintenance phase but is remembered within that 48-hour dosing

period, the dose should be administered as soon as possible, and the following dose adjusted to be taken 48 hours later, with resumption of the usual thrice-weekly dosing schedule thereafter. For example, if bedaquiline is dosed every Monday, Wednesday and Friday, then if the Wednesday dose is missed it can still be taken on Thursday, and then the following dose should be taken on Saturday, with a return to the usual dosing schedule on Monday. If bedaquiline is interrupted for more than 2 weeks (but <8 weeks) during the maintenance phase of dosing, the drug should be reloaded at the higher daily dose for 7 days before resuming the thrice-weekly dosing schedule. If bedaquiline is interrupted for less than 2 consecutive weeks during the maintenance phase, no reloading is required. If bedaquiline is interrupted for more than 8 consecutive weeks, then the patient and treatment plan should be reassessed because the patient will no longer be eligible to continue or restart the 9-month all-oral regimen.

5.2.5 Regimen modifications

The 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen should be implemented as a standardized package. It is not advisable to change the composition of the regimen or the duration of either the initial or continuation phase, with a few exceptions, as follows:

- Bedaquiline is usually given for 6 months but may be extended to 9 months if the initial phase of the regimen is extended from 4 to 6 months because of positive sputum smears at month 4 of treatment.
- Linezolid is only given for 2 months (instead of 4–6 months of ethionamide). If occasional doses of linezolid are missed during that time, the missed doses can be added on to the end of the 2-month period if the patient is tolerating the drug well; however, once fluoroquinolone resistance has been definitively ruled out, it may not be strictly necessary to make up the missed doses. The linezolid dose should not be reduced to less than the recommended dose to reduce the severity of adverse effects. If the full dose of linezolid (600 mg in adults) is not tolerated for the first full 2 months of treatment (apart from occasionally missed doses, which can be added to the end of the 2-month period), then the patient must either switch to an ethionamide-containing 9-month regimen (provided fluoroquinolone susceptibility is confirmed and the patient is not pregnant) or to an individualized longer regimen without linezolid. In selected cases where the risk of undetected resistance to fluoroquinolones and other second-line TB drugs is very low and the patient is unable to tolerate linezolid but would greatly benefit from a shorter regimen (e.g. migrant populations and children), the treating clinician may, after weighing up the risks and benefits, choose to stop linezolid before 2 months and continue the 9-month all-oral regimen, with close monitoring for relapse or recurrence.
- Prothionamide may be used instead of ethionamide.
- Moxifloxacin may be used instead of levofloxacin, provided close ECG monitoring is feasible (should this be required).
- If, for any reason, a patient is unable to tolerate pyrazinamide or ethambutol within the 9-month regimen, then one (but only one) of these drugs may be dropped during the continuation phase without necessitating a switch to a longer regimen. If two or more of these drugs are not tolerated within the 9-month regimen, the treatment will have to switch to a longer regimen. If any of the other drugs within the 9-month regimen (bedaquiline, levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, linezolid/ ethionamide or clofazimine) are stopped early because of toxicity or intolerance then the patient will also have to switch to a new regimen. Patients switching to a new regimen due to toxicity or intolerance need to be reported as "treatment failed" (Chapter 10).
- At the fourth month of treatment on the 9-month regimen, the decision to extend the initial phase from 4 to 6 months is based on the bacteriological sputum smear status of the patient's sputum specimen. If the specimen is smear negative at month 4 (regardless of smear status at the start of treatment), the patient may move to the continuation phase of treatment. If the specimen is smear positive at month 4, the initial phase is prolonged to 6 months. The duration of the continuation phase remains fixed at 5 months.

 At the sixth month of treatment, the culture result from the specimen taken at month 4 and possibly month 5 should be available, as well as the smear results from the specimens taken at months 5 and 6. If the culture from the 4-month specimen is positive for *M. tuberculosis*, the clinician should undertake a full work-up to assess for treatment failure – this involves a comprehensive clinical assessment, review of treatment adherence to address specific challenges, radiological assessment and collection of another respiratory sample for bacteriological assessment, as well as repeat DST of the most recent positive culture to test for emerging resistance to second-line TB drugs. Similarly, if the month 5 and 6 culture results remain persistently positive, treatment failure should be suspected, particularly if the patient has had suboptimal adherence to treatment or shows other signs of poor clinical or radiological response to treatment.

5.2.6 Switching between treatment regimens

If a patient starts the 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen but is later found to be ineligible following detection of *M. tuberculosis* resistance to fluoroquinolones, the patient must switch to a different regimen. Such patients might be eligible for a 6-month BPaL regimen if their prior exposure to bedaquiline and linezolid was for less than 1 month and there is no demonstrated resistance to any components of the BPaL regimen. The BPaL regimen may only be considered if the patient meets the eligibility criteria and the regimen is available and feasible in the setting. In cases where an eligible patient starts the 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen but additional resistance is detected later in treatment (after initial DST indicated susceptibility to Group A and B drugs), it can be assumed that further acquisition of resistance may have emerged during that period of drug exposure; such patients should be considered for a treatment outcome of failure and should not continue with the 9-month regimen. The 6-month BPaL regimen should not be offered to these patients because amplification may have occurred to linezolid and bedaquiline, key drugs in the BPaLM/BPaL regimen. The patient should switch to a longer individualized regimen, with repeated phenotypic DST to guide the composition of the longer regimen.

Patients who start a 6-month BPaLM/BPaL regimen may switch to the 9-month all-oral regimen, if required, provided they meet the necessary eligibility criteria for the 9-month regimen. This may be warranted when toxicity to linezolid develops early in the BPaLM/BPaL regimen and necessitates a linezolid-sparing regimen, such as the 9-month regimen with ethionamide.

Patients who start on a longer regimen but are subsequently found to be eligible for the 9-month all-oral regimen may switch to the 9-month regimen if this is done within the first month of starting treatment. There is little experience in switching from longer to shorter regimens in this way; hence, clinical monitoring and adequate data collection are important to inform future treatment recommendations.

Patients who are lost to follow-up after starting the 9-month all-oral regimen are likely to have had more than 1 month of exposure to key drugs within the 9-month regimen. Should such patients return to care and require MDR/RR-TB treatment in future, the 9-month all-oral regimen may still be considered as a treatment option if resistance to bedaquiline, fluoroquinolones, clofazimine, and ethionamide or linezolid (whichever is considered for inclusion in the regimen) is ruled out and all other relevant eligibility criteria are met. In such cases, DST for the key drugs in this regimen is likely to take some time; therefore, patients may have to initiate a longer individualized regimen while awaiting DST results.

5.3 Key subgroups

5.3.1 PLHIV

The 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen was evaluated in a setting with a high HIV prevalence. In the dataset analysed for the 2022 WHO guidelines, over 70% of patients starting a shorter regimen were also living with HIV, and among those, more than 90% were receiving ART. There is no reason to believe that a 9-month all-oral regimen would perform any differently in PLHIV who initiate ART early, in accordance with WHO recommendations. However, clinicians should be mindful of the overlapping, additive toxicities and potential drug–drug interactions with antiretroviral medicines and TB drugs. Co-administration of zidovudine and linezolid should be avoided because of the increased risk of myelosuppression. Boosted protease inhibitors can increase bedaquiline exposure, thereby increasing the risk of bedaquiline-related adverse drug reactions (e.g. QT interval prolongation), which may require closer monitoring. Efavirenz can reduce the concentration of bedaquiline; therefore, this antiretroviral drug should be avoided in patients receiving the 9-month all-oral regimen. There are no overlapping toxicities or drug–drug interactions with dolutegravir in patients receiving the shorter regimen with either linezolid or ethionamide. PLHIV receiving the 9-month all-oral bedaquiline-containing regimen will need prophylactic medication for opportunistic infections, support for adherence to TB and antiretroviral medication, and close monitoring of the biomarkers of immune status.

5.3.2 Children

Aside from bedaquiline, the medicines that compose the 9-month all-oral regimen have been part of MDR/RR-TB regimens for many years, in similar combinations, for both adults and children. The associated adverse drug reactions have been widely described and the drug dosages established (**Annex**). Child-friendly formulations are now available for all second-line drugs and should be provided to children whenever possible. When these are not available, practical instructions for use of adult formulations for administration are available, so lack of formulation should not be a hindrance to treating children of all ages. This must be addressed as a priority by treatment programmes that include management of children with MDR/RR-TB. Now that dosing and safety data are available for bedaquiline in children aged below 6 years, the removal of the age restriction for the use of bedaquiline means that children of all ages with MDR/RR-TB may be offered the 9-month all-oral regimen if they meet the eligibility criteria (47). Extent of disease is defined slightly differently for children than for adults, and most children with TB have less severe forms of the disease than adults. The term "adults" in this chapter refers to individuals aged 15 years and older and "children" refers to those aged below 15 years; thus, the adult population includes older adolescents.

Evidence from the SHINE trial (Shorter Treatment for Minimal Tuberculosis in Children), which was the first and only large Phase 3 trial to evaluate the duration of TB treatment in children with nonsevere drug-susceptible TB (DS-TB), suggests that pulmonary TB disease should be classified as severe (which may include extensive, advanced and complicated disease) or nonsevere in children (47). Despite the lack of comparable data among children with MDR/RR-TB disease specifically, the same definitions for severity of disease are likely to be appropriate when considering the use of a shorter regimen for children with MDR/RR-TB. Nonsevere disease in children is defined as peripheral lymph node TB; intrathoracic lymph node TB without airway obstruction; uncomplicated TB pleural effusion (without empyema or pneumothorax); or paucibacillary, noncavitary disease confined to one lobe of the lungs and without a miliary pattern (evaluated on chest X-ray) (47).

Bacteriological confirmation of MDR/RR-TB disease in younger children is relatively uncommon, and the decision to treat for MDR/RR-TB may rely on clinical signs and symptoms, radiological findings and significant exposure to someone with microbiologically confirmed MDR/RR-TB. In children without microbiological confirmation of TB disease or rifampicin resistance, the choice of regimen relies partly on the drug-resistance pattern of the isolate obtained from the most likely index case. Although

only six children aged below 14 years were included in the analysis of the shorter regimen dataset from South Africa, the evidence supporting the use of this regimen in adults may be extrapolated to children, provided the implementation considerations are followed. The benefits of a shorter regimen for a child with MDR/RR-TB should be weighed against the high pill burden and the difficulties of administering each of the seven drugs in this regimen, particularly if child-friendly formulations of the drugs are not available. Bedaquiline is relatively well tolerated and easy to administer to children; adult-formulation bedaquiline tablets suspended in water have been shown to have the same bioavailability as tablets swallowed whole (**Annex**).

For most second-line TB drugs, adverse effects appear to be less frequent in children than in adults; however, close monitoring is still warranted in children, regardless of the regimen. Before a shorter regimen containing linezolid is offered to a child, the clinician must consider the feasibility of close monitoring, particularly for haematological side-effects, which requires repeated blood draws for at least the first 2 months of treatment. Visual acuity and colour vision are more difficult to monitor in younger children than in older children and adults. Ethionamide might be considered a safer alternative for children in some settings, but this should be balanced against the lower efficacy of the drug compared with linezolid, and the poor gastrointestinal tolerability and need to monitor for hypothyroidism.

5.3.3 Pregnant and breastfeeding women

Dosing and safety data to support the optimal use of second-line TB medicines during pregnancy are generally sparse. There have been case reports and observational data reporting successful treatment and pregnancy outcomes among women who received treatment (including bedaquiline-containing regimens) for MDR/RR-TB during pregnancy and postpartum, but pregnant and breastfeeding women are usually excluded from clinical drug trials and early access programmes. Even less is known about the effects of MDR/RR-TB treatment on the infant in-utero and after birth; however, in general, the benefits (to both parent and child) of providing effective MDR/RR-TB treatment to the parent far outweigh the potential risks posed to the fetus in-utero or the breastfed infant.

Ethionamide is usually contraindicated in pregnancy because animal reproduction studies have shown an adverse effect on the fetus, and there are no adequate and well-controlled studies in humans. The physiologic effects of pregnancy, which lead to a relatively low haemoglobin (due to the dilutional effect of increased blood volume) and a higher risk of peripheral neuropathies, may be exacerbated by the adverse effects of linezolid. Nevertheless, the 9-month all-oral regimen including linezolid instead of ethionamide may be considered for pregnant and breastfeeding patients who meet the eligibility criteria for the shorter regimen with linezolid, although closer monitoring is required.

More compelling evidence on the dosing and safety of specific anti-TB drugs among pregnant and breastfeeding women is needed to guide decision-making on the most appropriate regimen for treatment of MDR/RR-TB during pregnancy and postpartum. In addition, this population group requires considerable adherence support and monitoring of proper administration of MDR/RR-TB treatment, along with other chronic medications, to ensure successful treatment outcomes and minimal risk of TB transmission from mother to infant postpartum. Care providers must also pay particular attention to seamless continuity of care between antenatal and TB services, which are rarely integrated in most TB-endemic settings. In view of the complexities of service integration, the challenges in clinical management, and the scarcity of evidence-based recommendations for this group, The Sentinel Project on Pediatric Drug-Resistant Tuberculosis⁷ brought together a group of providers and researchers with decades of experience caring for people with DR-TB who are pregnant or in the peripartum period. This group developed a "field guide" that is intended to supplement existing guidelines and constitutes a set of current best practices to improve the quality of care provided to pregnant and postpartum individuals, and their infants, who are living with DR-TB (*50*).

⁷ See https://sentinel-project.org/.

5.3.4 Extensive TB disease

Extensive (or advanced) TB disease in adults is defined as the presence of bilateral cavitary disease or extensive parenchymal damage on chest radiography. In children aged below 15 years, extensive (or advanced) disease is usually defined by the presence of cavities or bilateral disease on chest radiography (see above regarding severe and nonsevere TB disease in children). This highlights the importance of chest radiography as part of the diagnostic work-up for patients, along with the usual patient–clinician interaction. Patients with extensive MDR/RR-TB disease should not be treated with the 9-month all-oral regimen with either linezolid or ethionamide because of the lack of evidence on the impact of this regimen in this subgroup of patients.

5.3.5 Extrapulmonary TB

The dataset evaluated for the 2022 WHO guidelines included patients with uncomplicated extrapulmonary MDR/RR-TB disease. No evidence was available to discern the impact of the 9-month all-oral regimen with either linezolid or ethionamide in patients with severe extrapulmonary TB (defined in this document as the presence of miliary TB or TB meningitis). Although this definition does not specifically include osteoarticular or pericardial TB, a longer treatment regimen may be more suitable in these cases of extrapulmonary TB because of the relatively poor perfusion of TB drugs into the pericardial space and the lack of data on the efficacy of shorter MDR/RR-TB regimens in these cases. The 9-month all-oral regimen should not be offered to patients with severe or complicated extrapulmonary MDR/RR-TB disease. In children aged below 15 years, extrapulmonary forms of disease other than lymphadenopathy (peripheral nodes or isolated mediastinal mass without airway compression) are considered severe (47) and may not be adequately treated with the 9-month all-oral regimen.

5.4 Implementation considerations and treatment in special situations

5.4.1 DST results

The 9-month all-oral regimen is not adequate for the treatment of pre-XDR-TB or XDR-TB, and the efficacy of the regimen for treatment of MDR-TB where both inhA and katG mutations are present is largely unknown. Therefore, DST is recommended at or before the start of this regimen to exclude resistance to at least fluoroquinolones and to determine the mutations conferring resistance to isoniazid. Results of DST should not delay the start of an appropriate MDR/RR-TB treatment regimen, particularly if DST relies on phenotypic methods. Although there appears to be no significant association between treatment delay and individual MDR/RR-TB treatment outcomes, delays in effective treatment initiation increase the risk of clinical deterioration and contribute to ongoing transmission of MDR/RR-TB (51, 52). Provided that there is no history or evidence of exposure to fluoroquinolone-resistant MDR/ RR-TB, the 9-month regimen containing linezolid (instead of ethionamide) may be started in eligible patients with TB that is resistant to at least rifampicin while awaiting fluoroquinolone DST results. If a linezolid-containing 9-month regimen cannot be offered while awaiting fluoroguinolone DST results (e.g. owing to contraindications to linezolid), then the patient may start an effective longer regimen with the option to switch to an ethionamide-containing 9-month regimen if fluoroquinolone resistance is definitively ruled out once DST results become available within the first month of treatment and all other eligibility criteria are met. Linezolid may offer some initial protection against as-yet-undetected fluoroguinolone resistance at the start of treatment, but ethionamide probably does not offer the same level of protection; therefore, the 9-month regimen containing ethionamide should only be considered if results of fluoroquinolone DST are available and indicate susceptibility to fluoroquinolones prior to initiation of this regimen. **Box 5.1** and **Box 5.2** below provide examples of clinical scenarios and appropriate choices of regimens.

The LPA, MTBDR*plus*, is widely used to detect mutations conferring resistance to isoniazid, as well as rifampicin; however, in future this test may be replaced by the Xpert MTB-XDR assay cartridge in some settings. Using the GeneXpert® platform, this assay detects mutations associated with resistance to isoniazid, fluoroquinolones, second-line injectable drugs and ethionamide in a single test. The result for isoniazid resistance is reported as "high-level" or "low-level" on this platform, and additional laboratory expertise may be required to identify the specific mutations conferring resistance to isoniazid and ethionamide. In general, RR-TB isolates reported to have "high-level" isoniazid resistance as well as ethionamide resistance could be assumed to have both *inh*A and *kat*G mutations, and the 9-month regimen may not be appropriate for treatment in these cases. Molecular testing methods have a lower sensitivity for detecting isoniazid resistance than phenotypic methods; hence, in the presence of RR-TB, isoniazid susceptibility demonstrated on genotypic testing must be confirmed phenotypically before a normal dose of isoniazid is used within the 9-month all-oral regimen.

DST for pyrazinamide and ethambutol is not carried out routinely in most settings; therefore, this information is rarely available to guide treatment decisions at an individual patient level. Phenotypic DST for these drugs is often included in regional or nationwide drug-resistance surveys and this information might be useful when deciding whether to use the 9-month regimen including these drugs. The 9-month all-oral regimen is standardized and all seven drugs (including either ethionamide or linezolid) should be initiated from the outset. Pyrazinamide and ethambutol are inexpensive and generally well tolerated, and may still be efficacious against MDR/RR-TB in people who are eligible for this regimen. However, some health care providers and patients, particularly children and their caregivers, might find the high pill burden posed by these medicines challenging despite the shorter duration of this treatment regimen.

Ideally, phenotypic DST for clofazimine, linezolid and bedaquiline should be performed at the time of treatment initiation or with the first strain isolated from patients' samples during treatment monitoring. TB programmes must rapidly build the capacity to undertake DST, and all efforts must be made to ensure access to approved tests. If routine phenotypic DST for clofazimine, linezolid and bedaquiline is not feasible for all patients diagnosed with MDR/RR-TB, then DST for these drugs must be prioritized for patients with positive TB sputum cultures at month 4 of treatment or beyond. Delayed conversion to negative cultures, or reversion to positive cultures, after 4 months of MDR/RR-TB treatment may be an early indication that treatment is failing, and clinicians must consider the possibility of acquired drug resistance (53).

Box 5.1. Regimen selection at RR-TB diagnosis – no initial linezolid contraindications

Patient presents with signs and symptoms of TB disease and no previous treatment with second-line TB drugs, no extensive or severe pulmonary disease, no severe extrapulmonary TB, and no contact with pre-XDR-TB or XDR-TB; thus, there are **no contraindications to linezolid**.

- Diagnosis of RR-TB only or RR-TB with isoniazid susceptibility, pending results of fluoroquinolone DST. This patient could start the 9-month regimen with linezolid (but preferably not with ethionamide) while DST results are awaited.
 - This patient has the option to switch from the linezolid-containing regimen to the ethionamide-containing regimen if preferred (and if not pregnant) once fluoroquinolone susceptibility is confirmed on DST and if no mutation was detected in the *inhA* promoter region.
- → Diagnosis of RR-TB with isoniazid resistance conferred by mutations in the *inhA* promoter region only, and pending results of fluoroquinolone DST or susceptibility to fluoroquinolones is confirmed. This patient could start the 9-month regimen with linezolid (but not with ethionamide owing to the *inhA* mutation).
- Diagnosis of RR-TB with isoniazid resistance conferred by mutations in the katG gene only, and pending results of fluoroquinolone DST. This patient could start the 9-month regimen with linezolid (but preferably not with ethionamide) while DST results are awaited.
 - This patient has the option to switch from the linezolid-containing regimen to the ethionamide-containing regimen if preferred (and if not pregnant) once fluoroquinolone susceptibility is confirmed.
- Diagnosis of RR-TB with isoniazid resistance conferred by mutations in the katG gene only and confirmed susceptibility to fluoroquinolones. This patient could start the 9-month regimen with either ethionamide (if not pregnant) or linezolid.

Box 5.2. Regimen selection at RR-TB diagnosis – linezolid contraindications

Patient presents with signs and symptoms of TB disease and no previous treatment with second-line TB drugs, no extensive or severe pulmonary disease, no severe extrapulmonary TB, and no contact with pre-XDR-TB or XDR-TB, but with contraindications to linezolid.

- ➔ Diagnosis of RR-TB only, or RR-TB with isoniazid susceptibility, pending results of fluoroquinolone DST. This patient could start a longer regimen initially, but with the option to switch to a 9-month regimen with ethionamide (not linezolid because contraindicated) within the first month of treatment once fluoroquinolone susceptibility is confirmed on DST, no mutation is detected in the *inh*A promoter region and the patient is not pregnant.
- → Diagnosis of RR-TB with isoniazid resistance conferred by mutations in the *inhA* promoter region only, and pending results of fluoroquinolone DST or susceptibility to fluoroquinolones is confirmed. This patient should preferably not receive the 9-month regimen with either ethionamide (owing to the *inhA* mutation) or linezolid (contraindicated) and should instead be considered for a longer regimen.
- → Diagnosis of RR-TB with isoniazid resistance conferred by mutations in the katG gene only, and pending results of fluoroquinolone DST. This patient could start a longer regimen initially while DST results are awaited, but with the option to switch to a 9-month regimen with ethionamide (not linezolid because contraindicated) if fluoroquinolone susceptibility is confirmed and the patient is not pregnant.
- → Diagnosis of RR-TB with isoniazid resistance conferred by mutations in the katG gene only and confirmed susceptibility to fluoroquinolones. This patient is eligible to start the shorter regimen with ethionamide (not linezolid) if not pregnant.

5.4.2 Patient subgroups

Older patients

TB-related morbidity and mortality tends to be higher among older people than in the younger population. Patients aged 65 years and older with MDR/RR-TB are more vulnerable to the adverse effects of TB medications owing to physiological changes of ageing (e.g. increase in QT interval and decrease in estimated glomerular filtration rate [eGFR]), other comorbidities and overlapping, additive drug toxicities (owing to a higher likelihood of polypharmacy in older people). Advanced age has also been reported as a risk factor for linezolid-induced anaemia (54). Whereas the 9-month all-oral regimen may be offered to eligible patients of any age, older people may require closer monitoring for drug-related adverse events as well as closer adherence support and assistance to administer treatment daily or as prescribed.

Patients with diabetes mellitus

The 9-month all-oral regimen may be used to treat MDR/RR-TB in patients with diabetes; however, there are currently no data on safety and outcomes of this regimen in this specific group. Type 2 diabetes is associated with several liver disorders; therefore, it is prudent to monitor closely for hepatotoxicity among these patients. Blood sugar levels may be difficult to control in patients with MDR/RR-TB and diabetes, and insulin may be required to gain adequate blood sugar control during

treatment. Patients with diabetes are also at increased risk of peripheral neuropathies, which may be further exacerbated following exposure to linezolid and high doses of isoniazid. These patients must be counselled to report symptoms of peripheral neuropathies early because such symptoms may necessitate a change in regimen – either to the ethionamide-containing 9-month regimen (bearing in mind this will still include high doses of isoniazid in the initial phase), or a longer individualized regimen without linezolid.

Patients with hepatic dysfunction

The 9-month all-oral regimen may not be the most appropriate option for people with chronic liver disease because this regimen contains several potentially hepatotoxic drugs (e.g. pyrazinamide, isoniazid and ethionamide). Although this regimen may still be offered with close monitoring of liver enzymes in people with chronic stable liver dysfunction, a longer regimen with fewer hepatotoxic drugs may be preferable in some settings where closer monitoring is not feasible.

Patients with renal failure

The 9-month all-oral regimen may be used to treat MDR/RR-TB in patients with renal failure provided the dose or dosing interval of renally excreted drugs are adjusted for the patient's creatinine clearance. Levofloxacin (but not moxifloxacin), ethambutol and pyrazinamide require dose or frequency adjustment for adults with creatinine clearance of less than 30 mL/min. Treatment does not have to be extended unless indicated by lack of smear conversion at month 4 of treatment, as for patients with normal renal function.

Patients with anaemia

Patients with TB commonly have anaemia of chronic disease (55), and treatment with an effective drug regimen (even one that includes linezolid) may lead to improvement or resolution of the anaemia once the disease is properly treated. Many patients with TB also suffer with nutritional deficiencies, and low haemoglobin may also be a result of iron deficiency and low iron stores (56). This deficiency may resolve naturally once effective TB treatment (even including linezolid) leads to resolution of TB symptoms and improvement in the patient's diet and appetite. Extended use (≥ 2 weeks) of linezolid has been associated with reversible myelosuppression (57). Therefore, the linezolid-containing 9-month regimen must not be offered to patients with a pretreatment serum haemoglobin below 8 g/dL that cannot be rapidly corrected (i.e. with blood transfusions) before starting MDR/RR-TB treatment. Similarly, owing to the morbidity associated with severe neutropenia and thrombocytopenia, the linezolid-containing 9-month regimen is not suitable in patients with neutrophils below 0.75 \times 10⁹/L (or 750/mm³) or platelets below 150 \times 10⁹/L (or 50 000/mm³) before starting treatment. Some patients respond well to an initial blood transfusion that raises their haemoglobin above 8 g/ dL and allows them to at least start a linezolid-containing regimen – linezolid will not necessarily cause myelosuppression in patients with baseline anaemia, although a baseline haemoglobin below 10.5 g/dL has been reported as a risk factor for linezolid-induced anaemia (54). It is not uncommon for haemoglobin to drop again shortly after blood transfusion in a person with untreated chronic TB disease, but the temporary increase in haemoglobin may allow enough time for a linezolid-containing regimen to be effective in treating the TB disease, and the patient's haemoglobin is likely to improve as the disease is brought under control.

Blood transfusions may not be a lasting solution in situations where haemoglobin drops significantly from baseline because of linezolid toxicity when linezolid is continued. Although blood transfusions may help to reverse anaemia following withdrawal of linezolid, they may not resolve linezolid-induced myelosuppression with ongoing exposure to the drug. Therefore, if linezolid toxicity leads to a drop in haemoglobin below 8 g/dL during the first 2 months of treatment, linezolid should be withdrawn and the regimen switched appropriately. More research is needed on the role of iron supplementation to treat anaemia during MDR/RR-TB treatment; however, oral supplementation of iron is often not well

tolerated and is not immediately effective at the start of treatment, at a time when the pill burden can be overwhelming and the risk of multiple drug side-effects is high.

5.5 Treatment monitoring

5.5.1 Monitoring treatment response and outcome assignment

Response to treatment is monitored by monthly sputum smear microscopy and culture. Older children who had microbiological confirmation of TB disease should also be encouraged to produce respiratory samples for monitoring whenever possible. Treatment response can also be monitored through regular clinical assessment of signs and symptoms of TB disease, and children should be monitored for changes in weight, height and BMI using age-appropriate growth charts. Repeat radiological assessment during treatment is not always necessary because some radiological abnormalities may persist throughout and beyond treatment completion but do not necessarily indicate poor response or failure of treatment. However, radiological deterioration and new abnormalities (compared with baseline) may assist in identifying poor treatment response; hence, radiological assessment should be repeated if clinically indicated. The updated definition of treatment failure includes situations where a patient's treatment regimen has been terminated or permanently changed to a new treatment regimen, owing to:

- no clinical or bacteriological response to treatment;
- adverse drug reaction; or
- evidence of additional drug resistance to medicines in the regimen.

The treatment outcome definitions and reporting framework for patients who received the 9-month alloral MDR/RR-TB regimen is the same as for patients who received the longer regimens (**Chapter 10**) (58). Bacteriological treatment failure is marked by persistent positive sputum culture from month 6 to the end of treatment. Treatment failure can be considered earlier than 6 months if it is accompanied by significant clinical decline consistent with TB disease progression. Permanent discontinuation due to adverse reactions or acquired drug resistance of one of the key medicines (bedaquiline, fluoroquinolone, ethionamide/linezolid or clofazimine, or two or more of the remaining medicines in the regimen), or high-dose isoniazid, ethambutol or pyrazinamide will lead to the treatment failure consideration.

All patients receiving shorter regimens should be followed up for clinical re-assessment (ideally over a 12-month period) beyond treatment completion, to monitor for potential relapse.

5.5.2 Monitoring safety

Although the 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen is taken for much less time than the longer regimens, this regimen still has a high pill burden and includes medications with multiple overlapping toxicities. The most common adverse events associated with the 9-month all-oral regimen are anaemia (among patients receiving the linezolid-containing regimen), hepatotoxicity, QT prolongation, nausea and vomiting (59). Treatment monitoring schedules must include relevant clinical and laboratory parameters to detect, manage and prevent common and significant adverse events in a timely manner.

Table 5.1. Example of a monitoring schedule for patients receiving the 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen

Time on treatment	Baseline	Months 0–2	Months 3–6	Months 7–9 (or 11)
Clinical history and examination ^a	Х	X (monthly)	X (monthly)	X (monthly)
Treatment literacy and adherence counselling	Х	X (at every HCW interaction)	As required thro	oughout treatment
Substance use and mental health screen (with appropriate intervention and support)	Х	X (monthly)	X (monthly)	X (monthly)
Weight / height / BMI (and nutritional support)	Х	X (monthly)	X (monthly)	X (monthly)
Family planning, and pregnancy testing	Х	X (monthly)	X (monthly)	X (monthly)
Respiratory sample for smear microscopy and TB culture (DST if indicated)	Х	X (monthly)	X (monthly)	X (monthly)
Chest X-ray (or other radiological assessment)	Х		Х	
HIV testing	Х		X (if previously negative, repeat every 3 months in high HIV prevalence settings, or if indicated)	X (if previously negative, repeat every 3 months in high HIV prevalence settings, or if indicated)
Fingerprick blood glucose	Х	Repeat regularly if clinically indicated		indicated
Full blood count and differential (if receiving Lzd)	Х	X Repeat if clinically indicate (at weeks 2, 4 and 8 if receiving Lzd)		nically indicated
Liver function tests (at least ALT, AST and bilirubin)	Х	Repeat regularly if clinically indicated: vomiting, right upper quadrant pain, jaundice or if person is unwell or has any evidence of liver injury		
Creatinine	Х	Repeat regularly if clinically indicated (i.e. if person becomes unwell, or if baseline creatinine was abnormal or renal drug dosing required)		

Time on treatment	Baseline	Months 0–2	Months 3–6	Months 7–9 (or 11)
Serum electrolytes	Х	Repeat regularly if clinically indicated (i.e. if person becomes unwell, is vomiting, has diarrhoea or has QTcF prolongation)		
TSH (if receiving Eto)	Х	Repeat at 3 months if on Eto, or when QTcF is prolonged		
ECG (calculate QTcF)	Х	X (monthly)	X (monthly)	X (monthly)
Peripheral neuropathy and visual acuity screen (if receiving Lzd) ^b	Х	X (monthly)	Repeat regularly if clinically indicated	

ALT: alanine transaminase; AST: aspartate aminotransferase; BMI: body mass index; DST: drug susceptibility testing; ECG: electrocardiography; Eto: ethionamide; HCW: health care worker; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus; Lzd: linezolid; MDR/RR-TB: multidrug- or rifampicinresistant TB; QTcF: corrected QT interval by Fridericia; TB: tuberculosis; TSH: thyroid stimulating hormone.

^a Clinical assessment of TB signs or symptoms and adverse events.

^b It may be difficult to perform detailed assessments for peripheral neuropathy or visual acuity in young children, but the risk of these events appears to be lower in this group; therefore, this should not be a reason to withhold linezolid from young children who would otherwise benefit from this drug.

NTPs should already have established aDSM systems; aDSM involves the active and systematic clinical and laboratory assessment of patients on treatment with new TB medicines, or novel MDR/RR-TB regimens, to detect, manage and report suspected or confirmed drug toxicities (18). Adverse events (particularly those that are considered serious or severe, or lead to drug withdrawal) among patients receiving the 9-month all-oral regimen must be reported to the national agency responsible for pharmacovigilance, within the framework of aDSM. The WHO global aDSM database collects a standard set of variables and comprises anonymized IPD on adverse events from people treated with new TB medicines or novel MDR/RR-TB regimens (60). Countries where aDSM has been implemented are encouraged to contribute their national data to this database, to improve the collective knowledge of the safety of new TB medicines and regimens and to inform future TB treatment policies.

5.5.3 Modification or discontinuation of treatment

The South African NTP implemented the 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen as a standardized course of treatment, with little room for variation. Some changes to the prescribed regimen were considered acceptable in the South African context and may be appropriate in other settings (as described in **Section 5.2**).

Some patients who start treatment with the 9-month all-oral regimen are unable to continue or complete the course of treatment, and may have to restart or switch to a different regimen; for example, in the following situations:

- Reliable DST results indicate resistance to key medicines (i.e. bedaquiline, levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, linezolid/ethionamide or clofazimine) in the 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen; this may reflect the actual situation at the start of treatment (that was unknown at that time) or the acquisition of additional resistance during treatment. This situation would be considered "treatment failure" and the patient should not continue the 9-month regimen. Other regimens may be considered based on relevant eligibility criteria.
- Poor response or lack of response to treatment (e.g. no sputum smear conversion from positive to negative by 6 months, persistent positive sputum cultures from month 4 (or month 6 if extended)

and beyond, or clinical deterioration despite evidence of adherence to treatment). This situation would be considered "treatment failure" and other treatment options will need to be considered. A longer individualized regimen would be the most appropriate option to offer such patients; however, BPaLM may also be considered if all eligibility criteria are met.

- An adverse drug reaction that necessitates permanent withdrawal of any one of the key medicines (i.e. bedaquiline, levofloxacin/moxifloxacin, linezolid/ethionamide or clofazimine), or two or more of any of the remaining medicines included in the 9-month all-oral regimen. This situation would be considered "treatment failure" and the patient should not continue the 9-month regimen. Other regimens may be considered based on relevant eligibility criteria.
- Treatment interruption for at least 2 months after receiving treatment with the 9-month all-oral regimen for more than 1 month. If such patients return to care, they might still be eligible for the 9-month all-oral regimen again, or the BPaLM regimen, but it is likely that they will first have to start a longer regimen while awaiting results of DST to rule out acquired resistance to the key drugs in the respective regimens.

If the treatment interruption is for less than 2 months, it is up to the treating clinician to decide whether the 9-month all-oral MDR/RR-TB regimen may be continued from the point of interruption. This decision is based on the timing of the interruption (early or late in treatment), the reasons for interruption, the patient's clinical condition and the results of safety investigations. It is preferable for the patient to make up any missed doses of linezolid and bedaquiline, but this may or may not be necessary for the other medicines in the 9-month all-oral regimen.

5.6 Using modified all-oral shorter MDR-TB regimens under operational research

At present, there is little evidence to support modified all-oral shorter MDR-TB regimens that are designed using the hierarchy of TB medicines (**Table 6.1**). NTPs that intend to pilot such types of shorter MDR-TB regimens are advised to do so under operational research conditions. To facilitate such research, the Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases (TDR), in close collaboration with the WHO Global TB Programme (WHO/GTB) and with technical partners, has developed ShORRT (Short, all-Oral Regimens for Rifampicin-resistant Tuberculosis⁸). ShORRT is an operational research package that is designed to assess the effectiveness, safety, feasibility, acceptability, cost and impact (including on quality of life) of the use of all-oral shorter drug regimens for patients with DR-TB (*61*).

All-oral shorter MDR-TB regimens are usually designed as a four-drug or five-drug standardized regimen. There is some advantage to using the all-oral shorter MDR-TB regimens that are currently being tested in randomized clinical trials, because these regimens have been endorsed by scientific committees for testing, and their use under operational research conditions will contribute to the evidence base on these regimens. The ShORRT research package describes some proposed modified regimens for testing under operational research conditions (*61*). The all-oral shorter MDR-TB regimens that contain all Group A drugs in combination with clofazimine (sometimes including Group C medicines such as pyrazinamide or delamanid) are possible combinations for countries to implement under operational research conditions.

When choosing an all-oral shorter MDR-TB regimen, an important consideration is that the programme must be able to follow patients for 1 year post-treatment for recurrent TB, to ensure that there is documentation that the all-oral shorter MDR-TB regimen is not resulting in a high relapse rate.

⁸ See https://tdr.who.int/activities/shorrt-research-package.

5.6.1 Operational research conditions

Modified all-oral shorter MDR-TB regimens (i.e. regimens that differ from the recommended 9-month shorter regimens) should only be implemented under "operational research conditions". The main conditions are:

- a study protocol, which must include a 12-month follow-up after the end of treatment;
- a clinical treatment guide that includes a patient consent process;
- an approval by the national ethics review board or ministry of health; and
- at a minimum, an "aDSM core package"⁹ (18).

The ShORRT research package provides more guidance on the development of the protocol, data collection tools and other supporting documents that facilitate operational research for modified alloral shorter MDR-TB regimens (*61*).

⁹ See Web Annex 3.

6. The longer regimens

The design of longer regimens (18–20 months) is founded on grouping of medicines recommended for use in longer regimens based on the drug-resistance profile (**Table 6.1**).

In ideal conditions, only a small proportion of MDR/RR-TB patients should opt for longer regimens, because this indication is mainly for those who cannot benefit from either BPaLM/BpaL or the 9-month all-oral regimen. Reasons for not using the shorter regimens may be related to the age of the patients, additional resistance (including fluoroquinolone resistance and other Group A medicines; i.e. XDR-TB), intolerance to key medicines used in shorter regimens, severity of disease, pregnancy, certain types of extrapulmonary TB or other complications needing an individualized approach.

Under many of these circumstances, only less potent and more toxic drugs are left to be used for treatment and lengthy regimens are therefore needed to cure without relapse. Longer regimens, especially if clinical conditions are complex (e.g. advanced disease with higher burden of bacilli and severe disease affecting critical organs) are usually associated with higher likelihood of toxicity, owing to factors such as longer drug exposure, higher intolerance, adverse effects and greater potential for drug–drug interactions in critically ill patients.

All these conditions that may lead to less patient-friendly regimens with higher pill burden and toxicity can increase the likelihood of unfavourable treatment outcomes such as treatment failure, loss to follow-up and death. All DR-TB patients need a patient-centred approach with treatment adherence support and aDSM, but in longer regimens these activities become more crucial. Patients will need support to overcome the hardships associated with TB and its treatment, including daily adherence challenges, adverse drug reactions, indirect costs and stigma.

No. Recommendation

3.1 In multidrug- or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis (MDR/RR-TB) patients on longer regimens, all three Group A agents and at least one Group B agent should be included to ensure that treatment starts with at least four TB agents likely to be effective, and that at least three agents are included for the rest of treatment if bedaquiline is stopped. If only one or two Group A agents are used, both Group B agents are to be included. If the regimen cannot be composed with agents from Groups A and B alone, Group C agents are added to complete it.

(Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)

6.1 Eligibility

A longer treatment regimen should be proposed mainly when the BpaLM/BpaL or 9-month all-oral regimen cannot be used. **Chapter 4** and **Chapter 5** discuss the eligibility criteria for these shorter regimens.

A longer regimen is expected to be used in the following situations:

- severe extrapulmonary TB;
- additional resistance to key medicines of the BPaLM/BPaL regimen (except moxifloxacin) or the 9-month all-oral regimen;

- lack of response to shorter treatment regimens (e.g. treatment failure due to no bacteriological conversion, no clinical response, emerging resistance or loss to follow-up);
- drug intolerance to the component medicines of the BPaLM/BPaL regimen (except moxifloxacin) or 9 months shorter all-oral treatment regimen; and
- pregnant and lactating women who could not benefit from the 9-month shorter all-oral regimen owing to certain clinical conditions or children aged below 14 years who could not be treated with BpaLM/BpaL or who, for any reason, cannot opt for a 9-month regimen.

There is limited or no evidence of BpaLM/BpaL use in some patient groups; thus, a longer regimen could also be considered as an option for patients with low BMI (<17 kg/m²), altered hepatic enzymes (3 times greater than the upper limit of normal), baseline anaemia (haemoglobin <8 g/ dL), thrombocytopenia (platelet count <150 000/mm³) or pre-existing peripheral neuropathy of Grade 3–4 (62–64).

Any patient eligible for a longer regimen should undergo a pretreatment assessment to optimize the drug selection, reduce the chances of adverse events and thus increase the probability of the favourable treatment outcomes. The pretreatment assessment includes:

- a detailed clinical history (including all comorbidities, medications and known intolerances), a physical examination, a blood test, chest X-ray or other imaging and bacteriological tests; and
- a list of current effective TB medicines available based on a clinical history of drugs taken before this treatment episode and guided by the DST results or sequencing of the most recent sample from the patient (or the index case).

In addition to the eligibility criteria and preclinical assessment, a clinician should also consider:

- development of a personalized treatment approach (patient-centred approach) and close follow-up, including food support if needed, to increase bioavailability of drugs, improve nutritional status and facilitate adherence;
- provision of advice on contraception for women of childbearing age;
- availability of ancillary medications (e.g. corticosteroids in the case of disseminated TB or TB
 meningitis or pericarditis, pretreatment blood transfusion in the case of severe anaemia and
 nutritional support) and other interventions (e.g. intravenous [IV] medication in the case of severe
 malnutrition and malabsorption, insertion of peripherally inserted central catheter, or surgery in
 the case of restricted options and meeting criteria for intervention); and
- provision of counselling, depending on the patient's comorbidities (e.g. HIV or diabetes) or preexisting conditions needing to be treated to optimize TB treatment outcomes.

6.2 Composition and duration of the regimens

When designing longer regimens, several basic principles need to be respected, in line with the best available evidence on composition of the regimens, as per the recommendations listed below.

No.	Recommendation
3.2	Kanamycin and capreomycin are not to be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)

3.3 **Levofloxacin or moxifloxacin** should be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens. (*Strong recommendation, moderate certainty of evidence*)

No. Recommendation

3.4	Bedaquiline should be included in longer multidrug-resistant TB (MDR-TB) regimens for patients aged 18 years or more. (Strong recommendation, moderate certainty of evidence)
	Bedaquiline may also be included in longer MDR-TB regimens for patients aged 6–17 years. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)
	In children with MDR/RR-TB aged below 6 years, an all-oral treatment regimen
	containing bedaquiline may be used. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)
3.5	Linezolid should be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens. (Strong recommendation, moderate certainty of evidence)
3.6	Clofazimine and cycloserine or terizidone may be included in the treatment of MDR/ RR-TB patients on longer regimens. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)
3.7	Ethambutol may be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens.
	(Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)
3.8	Delamanid may be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients aged 3 years or more on longer regimens. (Conditional recommendation, moderate certainty of evidence)
	In children with MDR/RR-TB aged below 3 years delamanid may be used as part of
	longer regimens. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)
3.9	Pyrazinamide may be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)
3.10	Imipenem–cilastatin or meropenem may be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)
3.11	Amikacin may be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients aged 18 years or more on longer regimens when susceptibility has been demonstrated and adequate measures to monitor for adverse reactions can be ensured. If amikacin is not available, streptomycin may replace amikacin under the same conditions. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)
3.12	Ethionamide or prothionamide may be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens only if bedaquiline, linezolid, clofazimine or delamanid are not used, or if better options to compose a regimen are not possible. (<i>Conditional recommendation against use, very low certainty of evidence</i>)
3.13	<i>P-aminosalicylic acid</i> may be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens only if bedaquiline, linezolid, clofazimine or delamanid are not used, or if better options to compose a regimen are not possible. (<i>Conditional recommendation against use, very low certainty of evidence</i>)
3.14	Clavulanic acid should not be included in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens. ¹⁰ (Strong recommendation against use, low certainty of evidence)

¹⁰ Imipenem–cilastatin and meropenem are administered with clavulanic acid, which is available only in formulations combined with amoxicillin. Amoxicillin–clavulanic acid is not counted as an additional effective TB agent, and should not be used without imipenem– cilastatin or meropenem.

6.2.1 Choice of components for the longer MDR-TB regimens

A stepwise approach guides the design of longer MDR-TB regimens (**Table 6.1**).

The selection of medicines follows a priority order based on the revised classification of regimen components, and a fully oral regimen is preferred. **At least four** drugs must be selected, starting from Group A and then from Group B. Group C drugs are usually included in a longer regimen if it cannot be composed with Group A and B agents alone. The choice of drugs from Group C is usually determined by the order in which the medicines are ranked, and by the individual circumstances of the patient and the setting. A recent review of the observational data found no additional safety concerns when bedaquiline was used for longer than 6 months; however, no clear evidence was available to indicate whether longer use added efficacy (1). The clinicians may therefore consider continuing bedaquiline for longer than 6 months and adding some flexibility for regimen design and the number of effective drugs.

In the case of longer treatment regimens, an individual approach is needed. Therefore, apart from the drug classification, it is crucial to optimize drug selection according to the patient's clinical condition and the drug-resistance pattern. Considerations include:

- the clinical history of drugs taken in the past by the patient or the index case, or according to local resistance epidemiology in the country or region;
- the DST results where available, is it of utmost importance to guide the drug selection using phenotypic or genotypic DST; in patients with extensive patterns of resistance, whenever possible, it is advised to perform whole genome sequencing; and
- selecting drugs according to their special features in addition to susceptibility, key drug features and clinical particularities of the patient that may boost survival must be considered (e.g. likelihood of effectiveness, CNS penetration, drug–drug interaction profile, tolerance and patient preference, oral absorption and bioavailability).

Most anti-TB drugs are used once daily to achieve a high peak serum concentration that increases the bactericidal and sterilizing effect and to support adherence (to avoid missed or partial doses). The doses of anti-TB drugs by weight bands are outlined in the **Annex**. The essential information about TB medicines used in MDR/RR-TB treatment is described in detail in **Web Annex 1**.

Many patients may have comorbidities and adverse events that need to be addressed separately. Hospitalization, surgery and other adjuvant treatment may be needed at certain stages of treatment. Comprehensive monitoring and treatment adherence support are important to ensure a favourable treatment experience. Access to palliative and end-of-life care services may be needed, with a patient-centred approach to relieve the suffering from the disease and its treatment (65). Respiratory infection control measures at the sites where the patient is being treated, contact tracing and counselling are important accompanying measures for clinical care and public health.

Table 6.2 summarizes some common situations that a clinician may face, and the decisions that could be taken to adjust the treatment regimen accordingly. The suggested regimens may vary based on the individual clinical circumstances and the availability of medicines. **Table 6.2** is not exhaustive. Although it is recommended to use at least four effective agents initially, not all the regimens composed using this algorithm have been tested directly in either research or field conditions. Moreover, when Group C agents are included, the number of medicines in the regimen may exceed four, to reflect the uncertainty about the efficacy of some of these medicines. In such situations, the advice of a specialist is important to ensure the safest and most effective possible regimen.

6.2.2 Medicines used in longer MDR-TB treatment regimens

The classification of medicines used in MDR/RR-TB treatment regimens was revised following the evidence-informed update of the WHO guidelines on DR-TB treatment in 2018. TB medicines to

be used for treatment of MDR/RR-TB are categorized into Groups A, B and C (**Table 6.1**) (1). This classification is based on drug class and level of certainty in the evidence on effectiveness and safety (i.e. balance between benefits and risk of harm). The data analysed relate mainly to adult patients who received regimens in recent years. Groups A–C feature the medicines to be used to compose longer MDR-TB regimens. **WHO considers that, under programmatic conditions, only these medicines (Groups A–C) have a role in longer MDR-TB treatment regimens**. In addition to agents from Groups A–C, the potential role for clavulanic acid and high-dose isoniazid was discussed (see "Other medicines" in this section).

The most notable differences between the classification of longer regimen components used before 2018 and the current guidelines are an upgrade in the priority of bedaquiline, linezolid, clofazimine and cycloserine/terizidone; placement of delamanid in Group C; and lowering of priority for pyrazinamide, amikacin, streptomycin, ethionamide/prothionamide and *p*-aminosalicylic acid, relative to other treatment options. Several agents that were featured previously in these groups are no longer included because they are:

- no longer recommended (e.g. ofloxacin, capreomycin and kanamycin);
- rarely used in longer regimens (e.g. high-dose isoniazid); or
- an adjunct agent that is not intended to be used alone (e.g. clavulanic acid is used only in combination with the carbapenems).

The classification facilitates design of the treatment regimen for patients with DR-TB who are not eligible for the BPaLM/BPaL or 9-month treatment regimens. **Table 6.1** summarizes the general steps to take when including agents for the longer MDR-TB regimen according to the latest WHO guidance, with more details provided for some of the most common situations and patient subgroups that clinicians and NTPs may encounter.

Groups and steps	Medicine and abbreviation	
Group A: Include all three medicines	Levofloxacin <i>or</i> moxifloxacin	Lfx Mfx
	Bedaquiline ^{b,c}	Bdq
	Linezolid ^d	Lzd
Group B:	Clofazimine	Cfz
Add one or both medicines	Cycloserine <i>or</i> terizidone	Cs Trd
Group C:	Ethambutol	E
Add to complete the regimen, and when medicines from	Delamanid ^{c,e}	Dlm
Groups A and B cannot be used	Pyrazinamide ^f	Z
	Imipenem–cilastatin <i>or</i> meropenem ^g	Ipm–Cln Mpm

Table 6.1. Grouping of medicines recommended for use in longer MDR-TB regimens^a

Groups and steps	Medicine and abbreviation	ledicine and abbreviation		
	Amikacin or streptomycin ^h	Am S		
	Ethionamide <i>or</i> prothionamide ⁱ	Eto Pto		
	P-aminosalicylic acid ⁱ	PAS		

DST: drug susceptibility testing; ECG: electrocardiography; GDG: Guideline Development Group; IPD: individual patient data; LPA: line probe assay; MDR-TB: multidrug-resistant TB; TB: tuberculosis.

^a This table is intended to guide the design of individualized, longer MDR-TB regimens. Medicines in Group C are ranked by decreasing order of usual preference for use, subject to other considerations. The 2018 IPD meta-analysis for longer regimens included no patients on thioacetazone and high-dose isoniazid, for a meaningful analysis. No recommendation on perchlozone, interferon gamma or sutezolid was possible owing to the absence of final patient treatment outcome data from appropriate studies (1).

^b Bedaquiline is usually administered 400 mg orally once daily for the first 2 weeks, followed by 200 mg orally thrice weekly for 22 weeks (total duration of 24 weeks). As a result of multiple reviews following new data gradually becoming available, the use of bedaquiline is not restricted by age of the patient. Evidence on the safety and effectiveness of bedaquiline use beyond 6 months was insufficient for review in 2018. Therefore, the use of bedaquiline beyond 6 months was implemented following best practices in "off-label" use (66). New evidence on the safety profile of bedaquiline use beyond 6 months was available to the GDG in 2019, but the GDG was not able to assess the impact of prolonged bedaquiline use on efficacy, owing to the limited evidence and potential residual confounding in the data. However, the evidence supports the safe use of bedaquiline beyond 6 months in patients who receive appropriate schedules of baseline and follow-up monitoring. The use of bedaquiline beyond 6 months still remains as off-label use and, in this regard, best practices in off-label use still apply.

^c Evidence on the concurrent use of bedaquiline and delamanid was insufficient for review in 2018. In 2019, new evidence on both the safety and effectiveness of concurrent use of bedaquiline and delamanid was made available to the GDG. In relation to safety, the GDG concluded that the data suggested no additional safety concerns regarding concurrent use of bedaquiline and delamanid. More evidence was added to that regard between 2020 and 2022 (67). Both medicines may be used concurrently in patients who have limited other treatment options available to them, and if sufficient monitoring (including baseline and follow-up ECG and electrolyte monitoring) is in place. The data on the effectiveness of concurrent use of bedaquiline and delamanid were reviewed by the GDG in 2019, but owing to the limited evidence and potential residual confounding in the data, the GDG could not proceed with a recommendation on effectiveness (1).

^d Use of linezolid for at least 6 months was shown to increase effectiveness, although toxicity may limit its use. The analysis suggested that using linezolid for the whole duration of treatment would optimize its effect (about 70% of patients on linezolid with data received it for more than 6 months, and 30% for 18 months or the whole duration). No patient predictors for early cessation of linezolid could be inferred from the IPD subanalysis.

^e Evidence on the safety and effectiveness of delamanid beyond 6 months was insufficient for review. The use of delamanid beyond these limits should follow best practices in "off-label" use (66). As a result of multiple reviews following new data gradually becoming available throughout the years the use of delamanid is not restricted by age of the patient.

^fPyrazinamide is only counted as an effective agent when DST results confirm susceptibility.

⁹ Every dose of imipenem–cilastatin or meropenem should be preceded by the oral administration of oral clavulanic acid 30–60 minutes beforehand; oral clavulanic acid is only available in formulations combined with amoxicillin. Amoxicillin–clavulanic acid is not counted as an additional effective TB agent and should not be used without imipenem–cilastatin or meropenem.

^h Amikacin and streptomycin are only to be considered if DST results confirm susceptibility and high-quality audiology monitoring for hearing loss can be ensured. Streptomycin is to be considered only if amikacin cannot be used (unavailable or documented resistance) and if DST results confirm susceptibility (streptomycin resistance is not detectable with second-line molecular LPAs and phenotypic DST is required). Kanamycin and capreomycin are no longer recommended for use in MDR-TB regimens.

ⁱThese agents only showed effectiveness in regimens without bedaquiline, linezolid, clofazimine or delamanid and are thus only proposed when other options to compose a regimen are not possible.

Group A

Group A includes fluoroquinolones (levofloxacin and moxifloxacin), bedaquiline and linezolid. These medicines were found to be highly effective in improving treatment outcomes and reducing deaths in the evidence reviewed in 2018 for the WHO guidelines (1), and it is strongly recommended that they be included in all longer MDR-TB regimens and used for all MDR/RR-TB patients eligible for longer regimens unless there is a toxicity issue or drug resistance.

Levofloxacin and moxifloxacin

Levofloxacin and moxifloxacin are later-generation fluoroquinolones, and their use in the meta-analysis that informed the WHO guidelines (2018 update) resulted in a significantly lower risk of treatment failure or relapse and death (1, 11, 68, 69). Levofloxacin and moxifloxacin appear to be equally effective in fluoroquinolone-sensitive patients receiving longer regimens, and either of these drugs can be considered for MDR/RR-TB treatment using these regimens. Ciprofloxacin and ofloxacin are less effective in MDR-TB treatment and are no longer recommended.

Reliable rapid molecular DST is available for levofloxacin and moxifloxacin (including Xpert MTB/ XDR and second-line LPA). Not all point mutations present the same resistance profile. Despite some mutations having consistently high minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) (i.e. *gyrA* D94N or D94Y), most mutations present a range of phenotypic resistance that may cross critical concentration (CC) and clinical breakpoint (CB) levels. Therefore, once fluoroquinolone resistance has been detected by molecular methods and treatment has started, a phenotypic method may be used as a reference test for distinguishing between high-level (>CB) and low-level (>CC and <CB) resistance mutations, possibly allowing for the use of a high-level fluoroquinolone dose. Where these mutations are detected, the composition of the longer regimen should be re-evaluated based on phenotypic DST results at the CB (*70*).

If DST for moxifloxacin confirms high-level resistance, or if the patient's history suggests that moxifloxacin has not been effective (e.g. if used in a failing regimen for more than 15–30 days), moxifloxacin should not be used. Work is ongoing to optimize the use of moxifloxacin related to sequencing, CC in phenotypic DST and clinical correlation (70–72).

Bedaquiline

In the IPD meta-analysis used as evidence for the WHO guidelines, bedaquiline use resulted in significantly fewer episodes of treatment failure, relapse and death (1). There is growing experience of its use in children, adolescents and older people, patients with extrapulmonary TB disease and PLHIV (73, 74). Currently, there is no age restriction for the use of bedaquiline, including in longer regimens (47).

Analyses of observational study data highlighted the improved survival of patients treated with regimens containing bedaquiline (47) and the favourable safety profile of bedaquiline when the drug is used alongside other TB medicines, including medicines with a QT prolongation effect (e.g. moxifloxacin, clofazimine and delamanid) (75–80). The recent data review for the WHO consolidated guidelines (1) suggested no additional safety concerns for the use of bedaquiline beyond 6 months, used concurrently with delamanid or in pregnancy (77). The available data suggested that the concurrent use of bedaquiline and delamanid does not increase the risk of clinically meaningful QT prolongation (81).

Some inconclusive evidence is emerging; for example, some published data on the rapid advent of bedaquiline resistance in settings where it is used may suggest a possibility of bedaquiline being a low genetic barrier drug (i.e. causing resistance to emerge rapidly) as a result of frequent natural mutations. Also worth considering is the long half-life of the drug (5.5 months), which may lead to the drug acting as monotherapy in patients lost to follow-up. Fluoroquinolone resistance testing should be performed to prevent bedaquiline resistance acquisition, and the levels of resistance should be monitored when possible. Bedaquiline presents cross-resistance with clofazimine in cases of *Rv0678* gene mutation (which lead to upregulation of efflux pumps) and *pepQ* mutations. Resistance may occur spontaneously, even without prior exposure to bedaquiline or clofazimine (4.1% in some studies) (82, 83). Mutations at the *atp*-E gene may confer high-level resistance to bedaquiline.

Linezolid

Linezolid has shown anti-TB activity in vitro and in animal studies, and its effectiveness in humans was demonstrated in the meta-analysis conducted for the WHO guidelines, as well as in recent trials involving XDR-TB patients (1, 84–88).

Linezolid is associated with considerable toxicity, which necessitates close monitoring for signs of bone marrow suppression and neuropathies. The 2018 IPD meta-analysis informing the WHO guidelines included information from more than 300 patients who were treated with linezolid for at least 1 month, mostly on 600 mg daily. About 30% of patients received linezolid for 1–6 months, but over 30% received it for more than 18 months, and these patients had the lowest frequency of treatment failure, loss to follow-up and death. This analysis also suggested that the optimal duration of use would be about 20 months, corresponding to the usual total duration of a longer MDR-TB regimen; however, the analysis did not account for survivorship bias (i.e. that those who complete the full length of treatment are more likely to have a successful outcome, given that deaths and losses to follow-up occur earlier) (1, 89).

The evidence from the WHO consolidated guidelines (1) suggests that linezolid should be used for as long as it is tolerated. There may be improved outcomes if linezolid is used for the full duration of treatment. However, it probably has its greatest added effect (including protection of other second-line drugs against acquired drug resistance) during the first months of treatment when the bacillary load is highest (90). If toxicity develops, dosing of linezolid should be reduced or replaced by another bactericidal drug (17).

Linezolid is not affected or metabolized by the cytochrome p450; however, it is an inhibitor of monoamine oxidase (IMAO), leading to an increase in serotonin and tyramine levels. Serotonergic syndrome, which can be serious and life threatening, can result when linezolid is given concomitantly with other IMAO drugs that are often used in clinical practice in TB patients (e.g. antidepressants, opioid pain killers such as tramadol, common cold medications or antitussives such as dextromethorphan) (91).

Group B

Group B medicines include clofazimine and cycloserine or terizidone, which were found to be effective in improving treatment outcomes but limited in reducing deaths in the evidence reviewed in 2018 for the WHO guidelines (1). One or both drugs can be added to ensure that a longer regimen starts with at least four effective medicines.

Clofazimine

Clofazimine is an antileprosy medicine that has shown in vitro activity against *M. tuberculosis* and has been used as a second-line TB medicine for several years. The meta-analysis conducted for the WHO guidelines reinforced the evidence for the effectiveness and safety profile of clofazimine (1). When used with drugs that prolong the QT interval (e.g. bedaquiline, fluoroquinolones and delamanid), clofazimine may cause additive QT prolongation. ECG monitoring should be implemented when bedaquiline is used or when several QT-prolonging drugs are also part of the regimen. Non-TB drugs that cause QT prolongation should be avoided if possible.

Common adverse events associated with clofazimine are brown-orange or purple-red discolouration of skin, conjunctiva, cornea and body fluids; dry skin, pruritus, rash, ichthyosis and xerosis; gastrointestinal intolerance; and photosensitivity. Patients should be well informed from the outset of the reversible skin colour changes that occur in most patients. The orange-brown skin changes are reversible within a few months (sometimes more) of the drug being stopped and are not considered dangerous. These skin changes can be quite concerning to patients and reassurance is required. Clofazimine can be used during pregnancy or breastfeeding owing to limited data and to pigmentation of the infant if the drug is used during breastfeeding. Clofazimine is partially metabolized by the liver; hence, caution or adjustment of the dose is required for patients with severe hepatic insufficiency.

Cycloserine

Cycloserine is a bacteriostatic drug that inhibits cell wall synthesis, and it has no known cross-resistance to other TB medicines. Terizidone (composed of two molecules of cycloserine) may be used instead of cycloserine, and cycloserine and terizidone are considered interchangeable. Because of difficulties in interpreting DST (there is no reliable genotypic or phenotypic DST for cycloserine or terizidone), cycloserine or terizidone should only be considered when other criteria of likelihood of effectiveness are met; for example, any reliable evidence on population levels of drug resistance, and prior use of cycloserine or terizidone based on a reliable clinical history (**Section 3.1**). Patients should be well informed of the potential adverse events of cycloserine. A major drug adverse event is CNS toxicity, including inability to concentrate, depression, behaviour change (e.g. violence and aggressiveness, and suicidal ideation), frank psychosis, seizures and lethargy.

Cycloserine may exacerbate pre-existing neurologic or psychiatric conditions. Situations of stigma, extreme poverty and social vulnerability are not infrequent among MDR/RR-TB patients, and these also affect mental health. Depression and anxiety are also highly prevalent and can lead to a worse prognosis and loss to follow-up, especially in programmes without patient-centred systems. In these situations, management of cycloserine toxicity is critical to obtain good clinical outcomes and to avoid serious adverse events.

Group C

Group C comprises both TB and repurposed medicines that are positioned at a lower priority than the Group A and B agents, either because they are less effective (ethambutol, delamanid, pyrazinamide, ethionamide/prothionamide and *p*-aminosalicylic acid) or because they are more toxic and cumbersome to administer parenterally (imipenem–cilastatin, meropenem, amikacin and streptomycin). These drugs are usually included in a longer regimen if it cannot be composed with Group A and B agents alone.

Ethambutol

Ethambutol is a TB medicine that is used in the treatment of DS-TB and may be added to longer MDR-TB regimens. At recommended dosages, the safety profile of ethambutol is good. Owing to difficulties in interpreting its DST, ethambutol should only be considered when other criteria of likelihood of effectiveness are met (e.g. evidence on a population level of low prevalence of drug resistance in circulating MDR/RR-TB strains and no prior use of ethambutol based on a reliable clinical history).

Delamanid

Based on current evidence on its effectiveness and safety, delamanid is recommended for use as a Group C agent (1). Delamanid has a potent in vitro bactericidal activity and potential sterilizing activity; it is thought that nitroimidazooxazole derivatives generate reactive nitrogen species, including nitrogen oxide, which are responsible for cell poisoning in low metabolic states. There is no age restriction for use of delamanid and there are currently dispersible formulations that are preferred over crushing and dispersing adult tablets (47, 92). Delamanid is strongly bound to plasma proteins, resulting in low CNS penetration; however, studies in humans and animals with CNS TB suggest that delamanid could potentially play a beneficial role when other options are not available (93).

The recent data review for the WHO guidelines (1) suggested that there are no additional safety concerns for concurrent use of delamanid with bedaquiline. The combined QT effects, compared with bedaquiline or delamanid alone, were evaluated in an RCT of 75 patients (>3000 ECGs) (78). Studies undertaken between 2020 and 2022 had shown no increased toxicity with the use of delamanid

beyond 6 months; they showed safety on the concomitant use of delamanid with bedaquiline, while increasing rates of survival of patients with restricted therapeutic options (67, 81).

Animal data show no evidence of teratogenicity. Although the case series of pregnant women on delamanid are small, all children had excellent birth outcomes, suggesting that pregnant women in need should not be denied access to delamanid. It can be considered for the treatment of DR-TB in pregnant women with restricted therapeutic options (50).

Pyrazinamide

Pyrazinamide has been routinely added to MDR-TB regimens except where there is a reasonable clinical contraindication for its use (e.g. hepatotoxicity), or other serious adverse event or drug resistance. However, reliable DST for pyrazinamide is not widely accessible; hence, this drug has often been used without DST or regardless of documented resistance. In the longer regimens, pyrazinamide is recommended for inclusion only when DST results confirm susceptibility (in such cases it is counted as one of the effective agents); in any other cases, if pyrazinamide is included in the regimen, it is not counted as one of the four effective drugs (94, 95). There are synergies between pyrazinamide and other medicines such as bedaquiline, through complex mechanisms of action targeting dormant bacteria.

Imipenem-cilastatin and meropenem

Imipenem–cilastatin (not used in patients aged <15 years) and meropenem are the only carbapenems that have an established role in MDR-TB regimens. They are administered intravenously – a major drawback that limits their more widespread use outside hospitals, especially in resource-constrained settings (96–100). Daily IV injections are not usually feasible unless there is a surgically fitted port (a port-a-cath) or a peripherally inserted central catheter connected to a major vein. Meropenem with clavulanate as part of regimens (usually also containing linezolid) for patients with MDR-TB and XDR-TB has been shown to improve culture conversion and survival (101-103). Clavulanic acid (as co-amoxyclav) is not a TB medicine but is an adjunct agent that is given orally each time a carbapenem dose is administered, about 30 minutes before the IV infusion. When included in a regimen, clavulanic acid is not counted as one of the TB agents, and it should not be used without the carbapenem.

Amikacin and streptomycin

Amikacin and streptomycin are the only two aminoglycoside antibiotics that can be used when options for composition of the treatment regimen are limited. Based on the evidence reviewed in 2018, amikacin and streptomycin were associated with lower rates of treatment failure or relapse and death when used in people with *M. tuberculosis* strains susceptible to amikacin or streptomycin. However, these drugs share the disadvantages and serious toxicities (i.e. ototoxicity and nephrotoxicity) of other injectable agents that are no longer recommended (i.e. kanamycin and capreomycin). Given the high frequency of streptomycin resistance in patients with MDR/RR-TB in many settings, and its extensive historical use as part of older first-line TB regimens in many countries, streptomycin is unlikely to have much use in MDR-TB regimens.

Ethionamide and prothionamide

In WHO guidance, ethionamide and protionamide are considered interchangeable. The WHO consolidated guidelines make a conditional recommendation *against* their use in longer MDR-TB regimens, reserving them for situations where multiple, more effective agents (e.g. bedaquiline, linezolid and clofazimine) cannot be used. Apart from the low bactericidal profile, use of ethionamide and prothionamide is limited because of poor gastrointestinal tolerance, which could be potentially

linked to bad adherence. In pregnant women, these drugs are usually not recommended owing to poor tolerance, decrease in thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) levels (which are fundamental for the development of the fetus) and concerns raised by effects in animal reproductive studies.

P-aminosalicylic acid

P-aminosalicylic acid (PAS) can be considered as the last resource for treatment of MDR/RR-TB. It is often poorly tolerated and has a modest bacteriostatic activity. The drug is recommended in the WHO consolidated guidelines only for use in the treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens if bedaquiline, linezolid, clofazimine or delamanid are not used, or if better options to compose a regimen are not possible. There is no indication of cross-resistance of *p*-aminosalicylic acid to other anti-TB drugs (1). Use of *p*-aminosalicylic acid is limited owing to poor gastrointestinal tolerance.

Other medicines

Some medicines previously recommended as potential components of MDR-TB longer treatment regimens do not feature in Groups A–C.

High-dose isoniazid

High-dose isoniazid is not included in Groups A–C given the rarity of its use in longer regimens for adults. It is considered a relatively safe medicine, as shown recently in experience with its use at the 10 mg/kg dose, where only 0.5% of 1006 patients in a multicentric observational study of the shorter MDR-TB regimen reported Grade 3 or 4 neurotoxicity (104). Other evidence suggests that high-dose isoniazid may also be useful in the longer MDR-TB regimens. First, in the systematic review and IPD meta-analysis commissioned by WHO in 2015 to describe treatment outcomes in children with MDR-TB (which included 975 children in 18 countries), the use of high-dose isoniazid was associated with treatment success among children with confirmed MDR-TB (adjusted odds ratio [aOR] 5.9, 95% confidence interval [CI]: 1.7-20.5, P=0.007) (105, 106). Second, in a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled clinical trial among adults with MDR-TB, participants who received high-dose isoniazid (16–18 mg/kg) (added to kanamycin, levofloxacin, prothionamide, cycloserine and p-aminosalicylic acid) were significantly more likely to experience culture conversion at 6 months of treatment than those receiving placebo or standard-dose isoniazid (5 mg/kg) (73.8% versus 48.8% or 45.0%, respectively), with median time to culture conversion significantly reduced in the high-dose isoniazid arm (3.4 versus 6.6 or 6.4 months, respectively) (107). Third, a more recent early bactericidal activity study among patients with MDR-TB - in which the isoniazid resistance was mediated by isolated inhA mutations - demonstrated that doses of 10-15 mg/kg of isoniazid daily exhibited bactericidal activity similar to standard-dose isoniazid (5 mg/kg) given to patients with DS-TB (108). Strains with isolated katG or both katG and inhA mutations are unlikely to respond even to high-dose isoniazid, given the typically high isoniazid MICs in those strains. In the absence of information on isoniazid mutation patterns for an individual patient, knowledge of the prevalence of both mutations among locally circulating RR-TB strains (e.g. from DRS in the relevant epidemiological setting) may also inform decisions as to which treatment regimens would be most appropriate.

6.2.3 Duration of the regimen

The total length of a long treatment regimen is 18 to 20 months.

Three evidence-based recommendations guide the duration of the longer MDR-TB regimens:

No. Recommendation

3.15	In MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens, a total treatment duration of 18–20 months is suggested for most patients; the duration may be modified according to the patient's response to therapy. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)
3.16	In MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens, a treatment duration of 15–17 months after culture conversion is suggested for most patients; the duration may be modified according to the patient's response to therapy. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)
3.17	In MDR/RR-TB patients on longer regimens containing amikacin or streptomycin, an intensive phase of 6–7 months is suggested for most patients; the duration may be modified according to the patient's response to therapy. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence)

The all-oral longer MDR-TB regimens have no intensive phase. The duration of use of different medicines will depend on their clinical indication, patient tolerability (e.g. linezolid used for as long as no serious adverse event emerges) and individual treatment response (e.g. culture negativity), until completion of the expected total duration of treatment or time after culture conversion.

Although the total length of treatment is expected to be about 18–20 months in most patients, it may be modified based on the patient's clinical situation and response to treatment.

The evidence assessed using the IPD¹¹ demonstrated that there was a marginally increased risk of treatment failure or relapse when the duration of MDR-TB treatment was 20–22 months (compared with 17.5–20.0 months), and 18–20 months was determined to be an optimal treatment duration to maximize treatment success (1). In practice, NTPs may choose a fixed duration (e.g. 18 months) for implementation purposes.

6.3 Key subgroups

6.3.1 PLHIV

Currently, there are no specific changes in using longer regimens in PLHIV. However, there can be cumulative risk factors for clinical complications, toxicities and drug–drug interactions (**Web Annex 1** and **Web Annex 2**); hence, these patients may need close follow-up and support.

6.3.2 Children

WHO recommendations on longer MDR/RR-TB regimens apply to children as well as adults. Currently, there is no age restriction on the use of bedaquiline, so children of all ages should receive it in longer regimens unless there is a specific contraindication. Most medicines in longer regimens have been part of MDR/RR-TB regimens for many years, in similar combinations, for both adults and children. Second-line TB medicines are also available in child-friendly formulations. The dosage for children is available in the **Annex**, including regular and dispersible medication. The duration of treatment using longer regimens in children depends on the site and severity of disease, and the extent of resistance. Children with nonsevere disease can usually be treated for much less than 18 months. Children with

¹¹ Data used for analysis to support these recommendations were from patients who did not receive two or more Group A medicines. However, a small proportion of patients included in the analysis were on all-oral regimens, and in these patients the same optimal treatment duration was observed using identical parameters.

extensive disease may require longer treatment durations, depending on clinical progress or site of the disease.

6.3.3 Pregnant and lactating women

Dosing and safety data to support the optimal use of second-line TB medicines during pregnancy are generally sparse. There have been case reports and observational data reporting successful treatment and pregnancy outcomes among women who received treatment (including bedaquiline-containing regimens) for MDR/RR-TB during pregnancy and postpartum, but pregnant and lactating women are usually excluded from clinical drug trials and early access programmes. Even less is known about the effects of MDR/RR-TB treatment on the infant in-utero and after birth; however, in general, the benefits (to both parent and child) of providing effective MDR/RR-TB treatment to the parent far outweigh the potential risks posed to the fetus in-utero or the breastfed infant.

Ethionamide is usually contraindicated in pregnancy because animal reproduction studies have shown an adverse effect on the fetus, and there are no adequate and well-controlled studies in humans. The adverse effects of linezolid may be exacerbated by the physiological effects of pregnancy, which lead to a relatively low haemoglobin (due to the dilutional effect of increased blood volume) and a higher risk of peripheral neuropathies at treatment baseline compared with nonpregnant patients. Nevertheless, linezolid may be considered for pregnant and lactating patients. More compelling evidence on the dosing and safety of specific anti-TB drugs among pregnant and lactating women is needed to guide decision-making on the most appropriate regimen for treatment of MDR/RR-TB during pregnancy and postpartum. Amikacin and streptomycin are considered teratogenic and should be avoided during pregnancy. They should be considered only if there is no other option and the lives of the pregnant person and fetus are at risk.

Pregnant and breastfeeding women require considerable adherence support and monitoring of proper administration of MDR/RR-TB treatment, along with other chronic medications, to ensure successful treatment outcomes and minimal risk of TB transmission from mother to infant postpartum. Care providers must also pay particular attention to seamless continuity of care between antenatal and TB services; such services are rarely integrated in TB-endemic settings (50).

Considerations on the use of TB medication during pregnancy are given in Web Annex 1.

6.3.4 Patients with diabetes mellitus

Currently, there are no specific changes in patients with diabetes; however, such patients may present cumulative risk factors for clinical complications, toxicities and drug–drug interactions. Good glycaemic control is considered essential while on TB treatment because such control optimizes the chance of cure and limits complications. The concomitant use of metformin at high doses and linezolid may increase the risk of lactic acidosis. Also, the long-term use of linezolid, high doses of isoniazid and cycloserine in patients with diabetes can lead to an increased risk of peripheral neuritis. Baseline optic nerve or retinopathy or maculopathy may worsen after linezolid use; hence, eye evaluation is recommended before and during treatment. Regarding potential baseline renal damage, amikacin and streptomycin should be used with caution. Patients with DR-TB and diabetes may need close follow-up and support, with quick identification of drug–drug interactions and adverse events.

6.3.5 Patients with extrapulmonary TB

The WHO recommendations on longer MDR-TB regimens also apply to patients with extrapulmonary disease. Adjustments may be required, depending on the specific location of disease. Treatment of MDR/RR-TB meningitis is best guided by DST of the infecting strain and by the ability of TB medicines to cross the blood–brain barrier. Group A fluoroquinolones (e.g. levofloxacin, moxifloxacin and linezolid) have good penetration across the blood–brain barrier (i.e. the CNS), as do ethionamide

(or prothionamide), cycloserine (or terizidone) and imipenem–cilastatin (109–111). Seizures may be more common in children with meningitis treated with imipenem, and meropenem is preferred for cases of TB meningitis and in children (112–114). High-dose isoniazid and pyrazinamide can also reach therapeutic levels in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and may be useful if the strains are susceptible. Neither *p*-aminosalicylic acid nor ethambutol penetrate the CNS well and they should not be considered effective agents for MDR-TB meningitis. Amikacin and streptomycin only penetrate the CNS in the presence of meningeal inflammation. Data are sparse on the CNS penetration of clofazimine, bedaquiline or delamanid.

6.4 Implementation considerations and treatment in special situations

6.4.1 Extensive DR-TB disease

Extensive (or advanced) TB disease in adults is defined as the presence of bilateral cavitary disease or extensive parenchymal damage on chest radiography. In children aged below 15 years, extensive (or advanced) disease is usually defined by the presence of cavities or bilateral disease on chest radiography. This highlights the importance of chest radiography as part of the diagnostic work-up for patients, along with bacteriological tests. Patients with extensive disease tend to have a higher bacterial burden, especially in cases of parenchymal lung destruction (e.g. lobe collapse, fibrotic tracts or atelectasis), where drug concentration might be low due to decreased tissue perfusion. These patients tend to benefit from longer regimens to decrease the chances of relapse on shorter regimens. Patterns of lung destruction tend to present a higher risk of negative outcomes such as treatment failure and clinical complication (e.g. bacterial, fungal or mycobacterial superinfections, bronchiectasis and respiratory failure). Disability after cure is frequent. Close follow-up is needed during and after TB treatment.

6.4.2 Severe extrapulmonary TB

A longer treatment regimen may be more suitable in cases of severe extrapulmonary TB, owing to the high risk of negative outcomes including relapse. All such cases have in common the dispersion of *M. tuberculosis* through blood. Severe extrapulmonary TB is associated with lesions in multiple organs, potentially leading to multiorgan failure. This is more frequently suffered by patients with frank or relative immunosuppression (PLHIV, children, pregnant people, older people, people with cancer, those with solid organ transplants, those on immunosuppressive medication and people with uncontrolled diabetes mellitus). The potential reasons for immunosuppression should be addressed and all potential complications managed. Corticosteroids should be considered case by case, but are recommended in TB meningitis and pericardial TB to reduce complications and disability.

6.4.3 DR-TB in different patient groups

DR-TB meningitis and brain tuberculomas

When TB affects the CNS it leads to several additional problems. For example, the concentrations of some drugs in the CNS can be reduced owing to low penetration through the blood–brain barrier. Therefore, drugs need to be selected on the basis of both susceptibility and specific CNS penetration. Drugs with high CNS penetration should be used.

Information on each drug's CNS penetration is given in **Web Annex 1**. Where options are limited, drug dosages can be increased to better reach the CNS, but with close monitoring of toxicity. Also, IV medication can be considered as the route of administration to optimize the drug concentration in

blood while avoiding potential malabsorption problems. Patients with TB in the CNS may present with reduced consciousness and may require hospitalization, nutritional support (e.g. nasogastric tube and use of dispersible or IV medication) and, in advanced cases, intensive care. In all TB meningitis cases, the use of corticosteroids should be considered, to prevent disability and improve survival. Usually, when there is TB in the CNS, this is by haematogenous dissemination; therefore, it is important to search for the presence of TB in other organs such as lungs (e.g. bronchogenic or miliary TB), liver, spleen and bone marrow.

DR-TB in older patients

Patients with MDR/RR-TB who are aged 65 years and older are generally frailer and more vulnerable to the adverse effects of TB medications owing to the physiological changes of ageing (e.g. increase in QT interval, and baseline renal, eye or hearing damage). Also, they are more likely to present with other comorbidities (e.g. diabetes mellitus or hypertension) and therefore to be on other medications (i.e. to have a higher likelihood of polypharmacy), meaning there is a greater potential for additive drug toxicities and interactions. In addition, TB can be a consequence of a decline in the immune system due to age (immunosenescence), meaning that older patients may present with complicated forms of extrapulmonary TB.

DR-TB patients with renal failure

Patients with renal failure may be older, have diabetes or present with other comorbidities and use of multiple medications; thus, an in-depth evaluation is needed for each case. Patients with renal failure may present a baseline anaemia (possibly a clinical complication) that may be made worse by the use of linezolid or another myelotoxic drug. For many anti-TB drugs, dosage and administration may need to be adjusted according to levels of renal function. **Web Annex 1** has detailed information on the use of each specific drug in renal failure.

DR-TB in patients with anaemia

Patients with TB often have anaemia, and treatment with an effective drug regimen may lead to improvement or resolution of the anaemia once the disease is properly treated. In the case of disseminated TB, *M. tuberculosis* itself may be suppressing bone marrow function. Malnutrition is also associated with anaemia, which often presents as low haemoglobin, iron deficiency and low iron stores. Iron and multivitamins are recommended, but may interact with the absorption of important drugs such as fluoroquinolones (requiring intake separated by >2 hours). In the case of severe anaemia, blood transfusion can be considered. Some of the drugs that are often used in patients with TB (e.g. linezolid, azidothymidine and co-trimoxazole) can also lead to bone marrow suppression and should be used with caution.

DR-TB in malnourished patients

Malnutrition is frequently found in children and adults with TB. Malnutrition can be a cause or a consequence of TB disease. A low BMI (<18 kg/m², and especially <14 kg/m²) is considered a risk factor for negative outcomes. Immune system function is decreased in malnourished patients; thus, more complicated extrapulmonary TB affecting critical organs may develop. In a patient with malnutrition, many other complications and superinfections can coexist, making clinical management much more complex; such patients also then require more medication, with potential drug–drug interactions. Malnourished patients may have poor tolerance for the daily intake of medication (owing to gastrointestinal issues), with frequent nausea, vomiting and diarrhoea. In addition, malnourished patients tend to present with malabsorption; thus, even if the intake of the medication is correct, the concentrations of anti-TB medication in blood can be suboptimal. Malnourished patients require close monitoring and a nutritional approach while on TB treatment; they may even benefit from IV administration of TB medication for short periods until there is improvement (either clinical or

nutritional). Close monitoring of side-effects and an in-depth clinical evaluation is needed, to identify additive superinfections or comorbidities. Nutritional supplements could help malnourished patients to recover by strengthening their immune system and improving weight gain.

DR-TB in patients with hepatitis B or C

There are limited data on the use of the longer treatment regimen among people with viral hepatitis or undergoing treatment for hepatitis C. It may be prudent to monitor closely for drug–drug interactions and hepatotoxicity among this patient group.

DR-TB in patients with depression

Mental suffering and depression is common in DR-TB patients, because of, for example, symptomatic and life-threatening disease, side-effects, stigma and social exclusion, inability to work and family catastrophic costs. Some TB medications such as cycloserine (and to a lesser extent isoniazid and ethionamide) can trigger depression and suicidal ideation. These circumstances need to be seriously considered, especially in longer regimens, because depression and the social and emotional circumstances around it are often linked to difficulties in treatment adherence. Linezolid could potentially interact with all antidepressant drug families, increasing the risk of serotonergic syndrome (**Web Annex 1** has more detailed information on linezolid drug–drug interactions). A balance between risk from TB and depression needs to be considered.

DR-TB in patients who present with alcohol or other substances abuse

Patients with DR-TB presenting with alcohol or other substances abuse is a situation that is often associated with the depression and social vulnerability that occurs particularly with TB in big cities. In addition to the negative emotional impact of DR-TB, anti-TB medication can have a negative effect on the patient. Cycloserine is associated with mood changes and potentially with craving and overconsumption of food, and methadone and psychiatric medication may interact with linezolid. A comprehensive patient-centred approach and harm reduction models that include psychosocial support are especially needed in these patients and had been shown to improve outcomes.

6.5 Treatment monitoring

Individuals prescribed the longer treatment regimen should be monitored to assess regimen effectiveness and safety, taking into account resistance patterns and challenging clinical conditions, while using less active and more toxic medicines. The WHO framework for aDSM needs to be applied to patients on any MDR-TB regimen, to ensure appropriate action and an acceptable level of monitoring for and prompt response to adverse events – alongside monitoring for treatment outcomes, including early monitoring for treatment failure.

No. Recommendation

5.1 In multidrug- or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis (MDR/RR-TB) patients on longer regimens, the performance of sputum culture in addition to sputum smear microscopy is recommended to monitor treatment response.
 (Strong recommendation, moderate certainty in the estimates of test accuracy)
 It is desirable for sputum culture to be repeated at monthly intervals.

6.5.1 Monitoring treatment response and outcome assignment

Response to treatment is monitored on the basis of monthly sputum smear microscopy, as well as culture, ideally at the same frequency. Monthly culture increased the detection of patients with a true

60

positive bacteriological result when compared with sputum smear microscopy alone; also, it reduced the proportion of patients with a false negative result.

Concomitant use of sputum smear microscopy and culture test results helps to identify patients whose bacteriology remains positive or reverts to positive following initial conversion to negative. This combined testing will help clinicians to identify patients whose treatment is likely to fail, and thus to plan alternative options and institute infection control measures in a timely manner. Additional benefits would be expected from reduced transmission and development of resistance, and from appropriate changes to treatment regimens. Regular microscopy and culture of sputum or other specimens remain important to ensure that treatment failure is detected early. The frequency of these examinations is similar to the schedule used in patients on the 9-month all-oral MDR-TB regimen and the BPaLM/BPaL regimen.

The treatment outcome definitions and reporting framework for patients on longer regimens are the same as those for patients on other MDR-TB regimens (38). The updated definition of treatment failure includes situations where a patient's treatment regimen has been terminated or permanently changed to a new treatment regimen, owing to:

- no clinical or bacteriological response to treatment;
- adverse drug reaction; and
- evidence of additional drug resistance to medicines in the regimen.

Bacteriological failure is considered when patients treated with a longer regimen remain positive without conversion, or revert to positive following initial conversion to negative.

Failure due to adverse drug reactions or drug resistance is considered when additional resistance emerges while the patient is on a longer regimen, or the regimen needs to be stopped because of a severe adverse event.

In children, smear and culture monitoring of the response to treatment may be challenging, for the same reasons that make it difficult to obtain a bacteriological confirmation of the diagnosis. In children with a bacteriologically confirmed diagnosis, all reasonable efforts should be taken to demonstrate bacteriological conversion. In children in whom cultures have become negative or who never had a confirmed diagnosis, repeated respiratory sampling may not be useful if the child is otherwise responding well clinically. Resolution of clinical symptoms and weight gain can be used as indicators of improvement. All children should have regular clinical follow-up, including weight and height monitoring. Drug dosages should be adjusted with weight gain, as needed (47).

6.5.2 Monitoring safety

The safety profile of some medicines used concomitantly in a long treatment regimen may present its own concerns. aDSM should be performed, as well as proper management of adverse events and prevention of complications from drug–drug interactions. The NTP should actively monitor drug safety to ensure proper patient care, to report any adverse events to the responsible drug safety authority in the country, and to inform national and global policy.

The medicines included in the selected regimen determine which monitoring tests are needed. Therefore, the monitoring schedule should consider:

- clinical assessments to identify optic and peripheral neuropathy and psychiatric disturbances;
- clinical and biochemical assessments (especially when linezolid is used for a longer period) to identify pancytopenia, lactic acidosis and peripheral neuritis including frequent eye or visual assessment and any potential drug-drug interaction (e.g. serotoninergic syndrome) and
- ECG and monitoring of electrolytes, particularly when the regimen contains multiple QT interval prolonging agents (e.g. bedaquiline, delamanid, moxifloxacin and clofazimine) in the case of electrolyte disturbances or ECG abnormalities, more frequent monitoring should be performed.

More frequent monitoring may be advisable in specific situations; for example, in older people, PLHIV, those affected by hepatitis (caused by HBV or HCV) or diabetes, or people with moderate to severe hepatic or renal impairment.

Any adverse events during treatment should be managed immediately to relieve suffering, minimize the risk of treatment interruptions, and prevent morbidity and mortality. Details on monitoring and management of adverse events are provided in **Web Annex 2** and **Web Annex 3**.

Medicines to which there is resistance or contraindication of use		Consider adding medicines likely or confirmed to be effective			Examples of regimens
		Group A	Group B	Group C ^b	
1	Two Group A medicines	Remaining medicine	Both medicines	At least 1 medicine	 18 Bdq_(6 m or longer)-Cfz-Cs- Dlm_(6 m or longer) -(Z or E) 18 Lzd-Cfz-Cs-Dlm_(6 m or longer) - (Z or E) 18 Lfx-Cfz-Cs-Dlm_(6 m or longer) - (Z or E) If there is a suspected resistance to E or Z, replace with Group C drugs
2	One Group B medicine	All 3 medicines	Remaining medicine	May not be needed	18 Bdq _(6 m or longer) -(Lfx or Mfx)- Lzd-(Cfz or Cs)
3	Both Group B medicines	All 3 medicines	None	1 or 2 medicines	18 Bdq _(6 m or longer) -(Lfx or Mfx)- Lzd – Dlm _(6 m or longer) -(Z or E) If there is a suspected resistance to E or Z, replace with Group C drugs
4	One Group A and both Group B medicines	Remaining 2 medicines	None	At least 3 medicines	18 Bdq _(6 m or longer) -(Lfx or Mfx)- DIm _(6 m or longer) -Z-E 18 (Lfx or Mfx)-Lzd- DIm _(6 m or longer) -Z-E 18 Bdq _(6 m or longer) -Lzd- DIm _(6 m or longer) -Z-E If there is a suspected resistance to E or Z, replace with Group C drugs
5	All Group A medicines	None ^c	Both	3 or more medicines	18–20 Cfz-Cs-DIm-Z-E or other combinations of Group C drugs, depending on known or suspected resistance

Table 6.2. Summary algorithm for longer MDR-TB regimen composition in commonplace situations of resistance pattern or contraindication^a

Bdq: bedaquiline; CB: clinical breakpoint; Cfz: clofazimine; Cs: cycloserine; Dlm: delamanid; E: ethambutol; Lfx: levofloxacin; Lzd: linezolid; m: months; MDR-TB: multidrug-resistant TB; MDR/RR-TB: multidrug- or rifampicin-resistant TB; Mfx: moxifloxacin; MIC: minimum inhibitory concentration; TB: tuberculosis; WHO: World Health Organization; Z: pyrazinamide.

^a The situations shown are not exhaustive. Other factors may influence choice, such as patient risk for poor outcome or drug-drug interactions, clinician and patient preference and availability of a medicine. More medicines may be added than the recommended minimum if there is limited confidence in the effectiveness of regimen components, or if the patient was exposed in a setting where second-line TB drug resistance is frequent and longer MDR-TB regimens perform poorly despite good programmatic management of MDR/RR-TB. For MDR-TB with confirmed fluoroquinolone resistance, no fluoroquinolone is used and, if Group C agents are needed, the recommended WHO grouping will be followed based on benefit versus risk and individual circumstances.

^b The choice and number of Group C medicines to include depends on the confidence in the effectiveness of medicines in this group and the other components of the regimen, thus:

- if 4 Group A and B agents are included and there is confidence in all of them, then Group C agents are not needed;
- if 3 Group A and B agents are included and there is confidence in all of them, then at least one Group C agent is added; and
- if 2 Group A and B agents are included and there is confidence in all of them, then at least three Group C agents are added.

^c Moxifloxacin, a later-generation fluoroquinolone, may still be effective at a high dose when the fluoroquinolone MIC is below the CB. If the MIC is elevated, then fluoroquinolones are not used, and additional Group C agents will be needed.

7. Regimen for rifampicinsusceptible and isoniazidresistant TB

This section refers to an Hr-TB treatment regimen that has a duration of 6 months and uses oral agents.

WHO released its first evidence-based guidance for the treatment of Hr-TB using the GRADE approach in 2018 (1). The guidance is based on these two recommendations:

Recommendation 4.1. In patients with confirmed rifampicin-susceptible, isoniazidresistant tuberculosis, treatment with rifampicin, ethambutol, pyrazinamide and levofloxacin is recommended for a duration of 6 months. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty in the estimates of effect)

Recommendation 4.2. In patients with confirmed rifampicin-susceptible, isoniazidresistant tuberculosis, it is not recommended to add streptomycin or other injectable agents to the treatment regimen.

(Conditional recommendation, very low certainty in the estimates of effect)

The recommendations made were conditional (4) and had very low certainty of evidence.

The basic regimen can be summarized as:

Hr-TB regimen: 6(H)RZE-Lfx

All medicines in this regimen are to be used daily for 6 months. When fixed-dose combination (FDC) formulations are used, isoniazid is included but it is not obligatory for the regimen. If levofloxacin cannot be used because there is fluoroquinolone resistance or intolerance or other contraindications to the use of fluoroquinolone, then 6(H)RZE may be prescribed daily for 6 months.

7.1 Eligibility

The Hr-TB regimen is recommended once isoniazid resistance has been confirmed and rifampicin resistance excluded. Rifampicin resistance needs to be excluded using rapid molecular tests (e.g. Xpert MTB/RIF) before levofloxacin is used, to avoid the inadvertent treatment of MDR/RR-TB with an inadequate regimen. Ideally, rapid DST for fluoroquinolones and pyrazinamide is also performed.

It is not advisable to give a regimen for Hr-TB unless isoniazid resistance is confirmed or highly suspected (e.g. confirmed TB patient who is the close contact of a documented Hr-TB case). This will avert the unnecessary use of levofloxacin and prolonged pyrazinamide exposure in TB patients who may be cured with 2HRZE/4HR. Once the Hr-TB regimen has been started, if the results of initial DST reveal isoniazid susceptibility, the regimen may be modified so that the patient effectively completes a course of first-line TB treatment.

The recommendations apply to both adults and children, including PLHIV. Thus, HIV testing and treatment of PLHIV with ART is important, and the aim is to start ART within 8 weeks of TB treatment initiation (regardless of CD4 count), or within the first 2 weeks in patients with profound immunosuppression (e.g. CD4 counts <50 cells/mm³) (115). The regimen is also likely to be effective in patients with extrapulmonary Hr-TB; however, consultation with appropriate specialists is advised.

Hr-TB treatment is expected to be started if either of the following circumstances apply:

- Hr-TB is confirmed and rifampicin resistance is ruled out before TB treatment is started in such cases, the 6(H)RZE-Lfx regimen is started immediately. If the diagnosis is strongly presumed (e.g. close contact of a confirmed Hr-TB source case) but results of DST are still pending, the regimen may be introduced. Should DST results taken at the start eventually show susceptibility to isoniazid, then levofloxacin is stopped and the patient continues treatment to complete a 2HRZE/4HR regimen.
- Hr-TB is discovered after the start of treatment with the 2HRZE/4HR regimen (this includes patients who had undiagnosed isoniazid resistance at the start or who developed isoniazid resistance while on first-line treatment) in such cases, rapid molecular testing for rifampicin resistance must be undertaken (or repeated). Once rifampicin resistance has been excluded, a full 6-month course of (H)RZE-Lfx is given. The duration is driven by the need to give levofloxacin for 6 months, which usually implies that the companion first-line medicines are taken for longer than 6 months. A report of resistance during treatment presents the clinician with a challenge, because the results may no longer reflect the drug susceptibility of the current bacterial population, given that an inadequate regimen at times a functional monotherapy may have favoured the acquisition of additional resistance in the interval. The unexpected discovery of resistance to one agent should prompt the clinician to repeat DST for other agents in the regimen. The example in **Box 7.1** illustrates a typical situation that could arise.

7.2 Composition and duration of the regimen

The duration of Hr-TB treatment is driven by the need to complete 6 months of a fluoroquinolonecontaining regimen. This implies that, when Hr-TB is diagnosed *after* the start of the regimen for treatment of DS-TB, the companion medicines (HRZE) would end up being given for more than 6 months.

In patients with cavitary disease and with persistent positivity on sputum smear and culture, prolongation of (H)RZE-Lfx beyond 6 months could be considered on a case-by-case basis. Prolongation of treatment increases the risk of toxicity, particularly from pyrazinamide and ethambutol, which are usually only given for 2 months in the first-line TB regimen. The evidence reviewed for the WHO guidance on Hr-TB precluded a recommendation to limit the pyrazinamide duration to less than 4 months when a fluoroquinolone is given.

Levofloxacin is the preferred fluoroquinolone for Hr-TB regimens. The exposure to moxifloxacin decreases markedly when it is combined with rifampicin (116). This effect has not been reported in the case of levofloxacin; also, levofloxacin appears to cause less QT interval prolongation than moxifloxacin (49, 117, 118).

Levofloxacin is included in Hr-TB regimens except in the following instances: when rifampicin resistance cannot be tested for, when there is documented resistance or known intolerance to fluoroquinolones, and when there is pre-existing prolongation of the QT interval and pregnancy. If a fluoroquinolone cannot be used, a patient with Hr-TB can still be treated with 6(H)RZE; streptomycin is not required in such cases.

For patient convenience and ease of administration, the HRZE FDC may be used to treat Hr-TB (given that no RZE FDC is currently available). The dosage of other TB medicines in the Hr-TB regimen is the same as in the standardized DS-TB 2HRZE/4HR regimen. The inclusion of isoniazid in the regimen has not been shown to lead to substantial benefit or harm to patients; however, isoniazid may increase the hepatotoxicity of pyrazinamide (*119, 120*). High-dose isoniazid (10–15 mg/kg per day) may still be effective when used in combination regimens in the presence of isolated *inh*A mutations linked to low MIC, even in "fast acetylators" (i.e. individuals who metabolize isoniazid rapidly) (*121*). In the presence of both *inh*A and *kat*G mutations, addition of isoniazid (even at a high dose) is unlikely to add value to the regimen.

Box 7.1. Evaluation of a typical scenario – a delayed DST result in a patient on a first-line regimen

Before starting the 2HRZE/4HR regimen, a patient with rifampicin-susceptible TB confirmed by Xpert MTB/RIF has a sputum sample sent to a regional laboratory for phenotypic DST. The results are returned to the treating physician 3 months later; they show resistance to isoniazid. The patient has meanwhile adhered to their treatment regimen, gained weight and been symptom free for 2 months.

What does the clinician need to think about and do?

- → Given that the DST results are 3 months old, the initial resistance pattern may no longer be indicative of the current situation, because the bacteria may have acquired additional resistance.
- → Since the beginning of the third month, the patient should have been in the continuation phase with isoniazid and rifampicin (usually in FDC); however, the patient is effectively on rifampicin monotherapy. Resistance to rifampicin may have developed and needs to be checked, even if the clinical progress suggests that the regimen is working. Xpert MTB/RIF needs to be repeated.
- → If rifampicin resistance is detected, the patient should be started on MDR-TB treatment (as detailed in **Chapter 5**, **Chapter 6** and **Chapter 7**).
- ➔ If rifampicin resistance is not detected, the patient should be switched to the (H)RZE-Lfx regimen for 6 months. Ideally, DST for fluoroquinolones should be performed.

Patients with Hr-TB may have a higher risk of acquiring additional resistance and MDR-TB, which may manifest during the same treatment episode or in a subsequent relapse. The effect of additional resistance to ethambutol and pyrazinamide on the treatment of Hr-TB is unclear.

7.3 Considerations for implementation

The regimens recommended for treatment of Hr-TB is not divided into an intensive and a continuation phase – this simplifies the delivery and monitoring of treatment. Treatment is given daily, and intermittent treatment should be avoided. Relevant measures to support adherence, social support and the use of digital technologies should be considered to ensure favourable treatment outcomes (19).

The cost of medicines to compose a full 6(H)RZE regimen with levofloxacin is slightly higher than the cost of a 2HRZE/4HR regimen used for DS-TB (122). Nonetheless, the 6(H)RZE regimen is an affordable and feasible intervention, even in low-income settings. Use of FDCs simplifies treatment and lowers

costs, and the use of dispersible formulations of HRZ, ethambutol and levofloxacin is preferred in children. As with the treatment of other forms of TB, the expenses associated with the proper delivery of care (e.g. DST, adherence support and clinical monitoring) far exceed the cost of medicines.

A new diagnostic platform has been approved for the detection of Hr-TB – the new Xpert MTB/ XDR cartridge, which can detect isoniazid resistance in less than 90 minutes, matching the rapidity and convenience of Xpert MTB/RIF for rifampicin resistance. First-line LPA can also detect isoniazid resistance, and the infrastructure required is typically available in a provincial or central level facility. Typical processing time for an LPA specimen is about 2–3 days, owing to batching. DST based on liquid culture (or MGIT) could also detect Hr-TB at the level of a reference laboratory, but this means a processing delay of at least 10 days. Testing on solid media is also an option, but it takes several months to obtain results; hence, this approach is of limited use for baseline testing and monitoring of treatment response.

Current epidemiological data indicate that more than three quarters of the global burden of Hr-TB occurs among previously untreated ("new") TB cases. Previous TB treatment is thus not a strong indicator of risk of Hr-TB – the correlation with previous TB treatment is weaker than it is with MDR-TB. Reserving isoniazid DST to such patients is therefore unlikely to yield many Hr-TB cases. There are various concerns about empirical Hr-TB treatment of previously treated TB cases, without prior DST. First, such treatment will lead to unnecessary overtreatment with fluoroquinolones and prolongation of pyrazinamide use in many patients. Most recurrent cases will not have Hr-TB and can be cured with a 2HRZE/4HR regimen. Second, unless rifampicin resistance is excluded at the baseline, patients with MDR/RR-TB would be exposed to an inadequate regimen, with the risk of acquiring additional resistance, including fluoroquinolones. Third, this policy would deflect the focus of the programme from testing new TB patients, who usually harbour the main burden of Hr-TB. Finally, this approach would risk creating once again a "re-treatment regimen", similar to the situation that prevailed in many settings until recently with the indiscriminate use of the streptomycin-containing 8-month "Category 2" regimen in all previously treated TB patients.

In a situation where access to DST is good, a logical diagnostic algorithm would start with Xpert MTB/ RIF as the initial test for all patients evaluated for TB. Cases in whom TB is confirmed and rifampicin resistance is not detected would be further tested with Xpert MTB/XDR or LPA. Liquid culture may replace LPA, but the additional delay in obtaining results is a disadvantage.

7.4 Treatment monitoring

The clinical monitoring of patients on Hr-TB treatment follows similar principles to those that apply to other first-line TB regimens. Bacteriological monitoring of sputum generally follows the same schedule as DS-TB, with direct microscopy at months 2, 5 and 6. It is desirable, however, to perform a culture together with smear microscopy (or at least in the last month of treatment) to check for any emergent resistance, especially to rifampicin. Non-response to treatment should be investigated with DST.

Liver and kidney function and other blood tests may be necessary, based on clinical manifestations and medications in use. ECG for patients on 6(H)RZE-Lfx is not usually required unless there are other risks for QT interval prolongation. The first-line TB agents may cause adverse drug reactions, which are mostly mild, not serious and self-limiting or manageable with basic measures. TB practitioners are likely to be more familiar with the use of these medicines than with levofloxacin, which has a fairly good safety profile in both adults and children when used at the dose recommended in the **Annex**, even when taken for longer than 6 months. Dosage adjustment, in consultation with a specialist, is recommended if creatinine clearance is below 30 mL/min (17). Adverse drug reactions should be reported to the spontaneous pharmacovigilance systems required by national regulations, as for other drug-related harms. In patients on regimens for Hr-TB, aDSM is not mandatory.

As with all other notifiable TB cases, patients with Hr-TB should be registered in the TB register, regardless of whether treatment has started, or whether a regimen containing second-line TB medicines is being given (100). The case may be retained in the TB register for the purposes of monitoring the treatment response and the interim or final outcomes. Cases without Hr-TB may be enumerated with the main DS-TB cases for the purposes of treatment outcome reporting. Hr-TB cases given fluoroquinolones or other second-line agents in addition to 6(H)RZE may also be registered in the second-line TB register if the programme wishes to monitor how many patients are being given regimens containing second-line medicines (17). If this is done, it is important that cases without RR-TB are not enumerated with the MDR/RR-TB cohort for treatment outcome monitoring purposes.

It will be helpful to monitor efforts to improve testing coverage, detection, enrolment and outcomes for Hr-TB separately from other TB or MDR/RR-TB cases. The indicators for MDR/RR-TB may be adapted for this purpose; outcome definitions are the same as for non-MDR/RR-TB (100). Reporting can be at the same frequency as that recommended for standard monitoring of other TB cohorts.

Combining data for patients with different resistance patterns into a single cohort may complicate comparison of performance between centres and determination of trends over time, given that these patients may have different risks for treatment failure. However, treatment of TB patients who do not have rifampicin resistance with regimens discussed in this section should lead to a successful outcome in most patients, and maximizing the likelihood of success should be the end objective of TB programmes. The use of electronic case-based databases facilitates the grouping of patients by comparable resistance patterns or treatment episodes to undertake more advanced analyses, allowing adjustment for at least some covariates. Programmes are encouraged to follow good practices when collecting these data, and to participate in collaborative initiatives to share individual patient records for pooled reviews of global patient series (123–126). Such data could be useful to guide future policy on the optimization of regimens for the treatment of DR-TB.

8. Adjuncts to MDR-TB treatment

8.1 Surgery in the treatment of MDR/XDR-TB

Surgery has been employed in the treatment of TB since before the advent of chemotherapy. With the challenging prospect that more cases of MDR/XDR-TB are virtually untreatable with all available drugs or risk having serious sequelae, there has been re-evaluation of the role of pulmonary surgery as a way to reduce the amount of lung tissue with intractable pathology and to reduce the bacterial load. Large case series have reported that resection surgery may be safe and an effective adjunct when skilled thoracic surgeons and excellent postoperative care are available (127, 128).

The updated WHO consolidated guidelines include a conditional recommendation for elective partial lung resection (lobectomy or wedge resection) as an adjunct to the chemotherapy of MDR/RR-TB patients with resistance to additional medicines. The recommendation does not apply to radical pneumonectomy, which had no statistically significant effect (*127*). The recommendation was based on evidence from an IPD meta-analysis to evaluate the effectiveness of different forms of elective surgery as an adjunct to combination medical therapy for MDR-TB (*127*), and a systematic review and study-level meta-analysis (*129*).

The relative benefits of surgery are expected to depend substantially on the population subgroups that are targeted. The reviews for the guideline update in 2016 (11) could not provide a refined differentiation of the type of patient who would be best suited to an intervention, or the type of intervention that would carry the most benefit. The effect is expected to be moderate in the average patient considered appropriate for surgery. The odds of success for patients with MDR/RR-TB and resistance to fluoroquinolones and injectable agents were significantly lower when they underwent surgery compared with other patients (aOR: 0.4, 95% CI: 0.2–0.9) (127). This finding is likely to be biased, given that patients who underwent surgery would have had other factors predisposing them to poor outcomes – factors that could not be adjusted for. Programmes with limited access to surgery may target patients who remain sputum smear positive, who have resistance to many drugs and who have localized pulmonary disease. Computerized tomography, pulmonary function testing and quantitative lung perfusion or ventilation may have a role in the preoperative work-up.

Resection surgery should be timed to give the patient the best possible chance of cure with the least risk of harm. Thus, the timing of surgery may be earlier in the course of the disease when the patient's risk of morbidity and mortality are lower (e.g. when the disease is still localized to one lung or one lung lobe). Generally, at least 2 months of therapy should be given before resection surgery, to decrease the bacterial infection in the surrounding lung tissue. Prognosis appears to be better when partial lung resection is performed after culture conversion. Even with successful resection, the total duration of treatment and the duration of treatment after culture conversion should be guided by the recommendations in **Section 5**, **Section 6** and **Section 7**.

Partial lung resection for patients with MDR/RR-TB is only to be considered when good surgical facilities, staffed by trained and experienced surgeons, are available. Many programmes will have limited access to surgical interventions. In programmes with suboptimal surgical facilities and with

no trained thoracic surgeons, resection surgery may increase morbidity or mortality. Specialized surgical facilities should include stringent infection control measures (given that infectious material and aerosols are generated in large quantities during surgery), mechanical ventilation and postoperative pulmonary hygiene manoeuvres. After resection, direct laboratory testing of the resection material (lung lesion) will be useful. If the results of laboratory testing differ between the resected material and other clinical specimens, the treating clinician may need to adjust treatment based on the results obtained from the resected material or other clinical specimens.

There are still many uncertainties about the role of surgery in MDR-TB treatment. All data available for the 2016 recommendations were from observational data from case series, which may be biased. For instance, it is likely that in choosing patients to be operated on there would have been systematic exclusion of patients deemed unfit for surgery and anaesthesia, such as older patients and those who were very sick with comorbidities (e.g. no patient with HIV in the dataset had undergone surgery) or extensive disease. There were not enough data on adverse events, surgical complications or long-term sequelae – some of which may be fatal – to allow for a meaningful analysis. Conversely, the effectiveness of surgery may have been underplayed in the analysis because of the lack of a suitable control group.

8.2 Use of corticosteroids

Corticosteroids have been used to support the treatment of serious and severe consequences of TB, such as miliary TB, respiratory insufficiency, CNS involvement and pericarditis.

The WHO Guidelines for treatment of drug-susceptible TB and patient care, 2017 update made the following recommendations (2, 130):

- In patients with tuberculous meningitis, an initial adjuvant corticosteroid therapy with dexamethasone or prednisolone tapered over 6–8 weeks should be used. (Strong recommendation, moderate certainty in the evidence)
- In patients with tuberculous pericarditis, an initial adjuvant corticosteroid therapy may be used. (Conditional recommendation, very low certainty in the evidence)

The recommendations are limited to these two forms of extrapulmonary TB. In patients with TB meningitis, evidence from RCTs (131–135) showed lower rates of death, severe disability and relapse when patients received steroids with TB treatment. The mortality benefit increased with increasing severity of TB meningitis. Adverse events and severe adverse events, including severe hepatitis, were lower in patients receiving steroids. In patients with TB pericarditis, studies showed a benefit to steroid treatment in relation to death, constrictive pericarditis and treatment adherence (136–143).

Although the evidence and the recommendations primarily relate to non-MDR-TB, these recommendations could also apply to patients with MDR/RR-TB, on the condition that the patient is still receiving the TB treatment regimen. Corticosteroids are immunosuppressive and therefore can weaken the body's response to fight TB; hence, they should only be used if clearly indicated and if the patient is on an adequate effective regimen. If corticosteroids are used in an inadequate regimen, this could accelerate the patient's deterioration. Oral treatment can be given, but when a more immediate response is needed, injectable corticosteroids are often used initially.

8.3 Treatment of MDR/RR-TB patients with HIV

With regard to *HIV infection*, a specific recommendation was made in 2011 on the use of ART in all patients with HIV and DR-TB (68, 115):

6.1. ART is recommended for all patients with HIV and drug-resistant TB requiring second-line anti-tuberculosis drugs irrespective of CD4 cell count, as early as possible

(within the first 8 weeks) following initiation of anti-tuberculosis treatment

(Strong recommendation, very low quality of evidence)

Delaying ART increases the risk of dying among TB patients living with HIV; therefore, ART should be started in all TB patients living with HIV, regardless of their CD4 cell count. The therapy should be initiated as soon as possible within the first 8 weeks of TB treatment, or within the first 2 weeks in patients with profound immunosuppression (e.g. CD4 counts <50 cells/mm³). In children with HIV and active TB, ART should be initiated as soon as possible and within 8 weeks following the initiation of anti-TB treatment, regardless of the CD4 cell count and clinical stage (144).

There may be a potential for overlapping, additive toxicities or drug–drug interactions between some antiretroviral medicines and the injectable agents, moxifloxacin and clofazimine; however, there are usually no grounds to warrant modifications of the MDR-TB or the ART regimens. It is not recommended to use bedaquiline and efavirenz in combination (**Web Annex 2**). **Web Annex 1** provides information on individual medicines used to treat MDR/RR-TB and their drug interactions. In addition, information on HIV drug interactions is available on the HIV drug interactions webpage (145). Antiretroviral treatment regimens need to be optimized, and should be initiated early, in accordance with WHO recommendations (17, 68). Close monitoring for response and toxicity is advised for patients on both TB and HIV treatment. Other comorbidities (e.g. diabetes and mental health disorders) should be managed accordingly (17).

9. Programmatic implementation of MDR-TB regimens

Introducing the longer and shorter MDR-TB regimens entails a series of steps that are the same as those necessary when an NTP introduces a new MDR-TB treatment component. This chapter summarizes some key considerations for those steps.

9.1 Policy and operational documents

Policy and operational documents that govern the main components of the programme will need to be revised. Such documents include the national strategic plan for TB, treatment guidelines and algorithms, diagnostic algorithms, the essential medicines list, regulations (e.g. importation of clofazimine and pretomanid), drug orders and training material. Ideally, the type of regimen used by the patient would be indicated in the register and could be summarized for reporting. The TB treatment card may be changed to allow the tabulation of results of periodic testing for treatment response and adverse reactions (this may have already been done for the purposes of aDSM) (18). Any changes should also cover the use of the regimen in private practice.

9.2 National MDR-TB expert committee or technical working group

A national MDR-TB expert committee or technical working group (the consilium or its equivalent structure within the NTP) will assist health care providers as early as possible to:

- coordinate policy changes and activities related to the introduction of the revised MDR-TB regimens in both the public and private sectors (e.g. training, communication and establishing patient eligibility for the different MDR-TB regimens);
- train staff in the clinical aspects of aDSM;
- provide patient support; and
- provide technical and clinical advice.

Additional support may be provided by other experts at national and international levels, and at regional level through, for example, the regional Green Light Committee (rGLC). In making use of such support, it is important to consider any phased implementation process, such as the initial introduction in one or a few centres before full scale-up, or whether implementation is also occurring in the private sector.

9.3 Electronic recording and reporting

There is a need to improve the quality of patient data using standardized variables, such as data on DST patterns, prescribed treatment, treatment outcomes and adverse drug reactions. The collection and utility of these data are important for future evidence-based recommendations, especially given the lack of RCTs on the management of DR-TB (126). If digital patient records do not already exist, it

is important that the programme managers consider their introduction, at least for surveillance and possibly also for case management (146). If patient records are already digital, changes may be needed in the electronic recording and reporting system to allow individuals belonging to MDR-TB regimen cohorts of interest (e.g. shorter regimen, bedaquiline-containing regimens and operational research subgroups) to be identifiable, and for certain options to be included in the monitoring framework (e.g. addition of clofazimine and registration of ECG findings). It is crucial for programmes to maintain such data diligently and prospectively, so that they can contribute to programme evaluation and to global policy-making (e.g. the development of the WHO consolidated guidelines benefited hugely from the experience of patient treatment within programmes) (123, 124). The treatment outcome cohort reports for MDR/RR-TB do not need to change (for the digital and paper version). Moreover, electronic tools can enhance the quantification of consumables; for example, volumes of medicine can be calculated automatically using QuanTB, an application (app) that is available for download free of charge.¹² It is important to ensure that digital records can accommodate key measures in children that may differ from those for adults.

9.4 Estimates (epidemiological and logistics)

Estimates are needed by the NTP and other health care providers, to determine the number of MDR/RR-TB patients eligible for the longer and shorter MDR-TB regimens, to revise the budget accordingly, and to submit the corresponding requests for drug orders, taking into account the existing stock of medicines. These estimates of MDR/RR-TB patients likely to be enrolled are based on current notification trends and an expected increase in line with national and subnational plans. The programme first establishes the number of MDR-TB enrolments expected in the coming years, depending on the future increase in programme capacity (e.g. as part of a project supported by a grant from the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria). Then, based on knowledge from surveillance, eligibility and estimated rate of scale-up, the programme defines different patient groups; for example, those expected to receive different variants of the longer MDR-TB regimens and those likely to receive a shorter MDR-TB regimen. When estimating the caseload to put on treatment, it is necessary to factor in not just eligibility, but also what would be feasible to achieve within a given time, to ensure that all elements are in place for starting and maintaining patients on treatment (e.g. training and provision of an adequate framework for patient monitoring and support). Associated programme and patient costs other than the medicines themselves usually dominate the total cost for both longer and shorter MDR-TB regimens (e.g. treatment of adverse events, hospitalization, diagnostic consumables, other clinical care and social support); however, total costs are expected to be lower for shorter regimens, given the shorter duration of treatment.

9.5 Management of the supply chain and storage conditions for pharmaceuticals

Management of the supply chain and storage conditions for pharmaceuticals should be reviewed to ensure that TB drug orders are made in good time and are correctly quantified to avoid overstocking or shortages. The NTP must ensure an uninterrupted supply of TB medicines through proper quantification, supply planning and rigorous quarterly monitoring, with a functional early warning system to avoid stock-outs and subsequent treatment interruptions. Similarly, other consumables (e.g. medicines for symptomatic relief and adverse reactions, syringes, diagnostic kits, medication for management of adverse effects, masks and N95 respirators) will be needed to ensure that the intervention is delivered as per internationally recommended standards (147). The principles for the quantification of medicines needed for the longer and shorter MDR-TB regimens are similar. The health care provider needs to have some basic details about how many patients will be treated and when they will start; the expected increment in caseload over successive years; the average body weight

¹² Available at https://siapsprogram.org/tools-and-guidance/quantb/.

of the patients; whether children will also be enrolled; the expected losses (from interruptions, deaths and transfers to another regimen); and current stock on hand, including expiry dates and orders of medicines already in the pipeline and not yet delivered. It is best to split an order of medicines, the first part being for the patients expected to be started within 6 months, and the second part adjusted based on the actual enrolments. Technical assistance to strengthen the procurement and supply and to establish an early warning system for stock-outs can be accessed via the secretariats of the Global Drug Facility (GDF) and rGLC (which are housed in WHO regional offices) or via the WHO country offices. GDF provides support to many NTPs on the procurement and supply chain aspects of phase-in and phase-out plans of products or regimens and can procure child-friendly formulations. Childfriendly formulations allow more accurate paediatric dosing and are more acceptable to children and parents; they should be provided as the SoC wherever possible.

9.6 Preparation for the introduction of new treatment regimens

Given the increased use of newer and repurposed medicines in combination MDR-TB regimens, aDSM is particularly important. aDSM defines the active and systematic clinical and laboratory assessment of patients on MDR-TB treatment to detect, manage and report suspected or confirmed drug toxicities (18). It applies the principles of active pharmacovigilance to the specific needs and context of NTPs, and is embedded within the routine patient monitoring function (e.g. treatment outcome cohort monitoring) of NTPs. The management of patient safety is an inherent part of aDSM, inseparable from its monitoring component. The recording and reporting activities of aDSM primarily target serious adverse events as a priority requirement, but any adverse event during treatment administration (whether or not it is related to drug toxicity) needs to be managed to limit harms to patients. MDR-TB treatment sites may also monitor nonserious adverse events that are of clinical significance or of special interest to the programme, as part of more comprehensive aDSM. In aDSM, in addition to the spontaneously reported reactions, adverse events are elicited as part of a patient monitoring plan that comprises a set of questions and often an array of laboratory or clinical tests at defined periods of time, before, during and after treatment (**Web Annex 3**).

When planning important changes for the national TB treatment policy to align with the latest WHO recommendations, the programme needs to balance the will to provide the best possible options for patients according to the latest evidence against the programmatic circumstances and the implications of such changes (e.g. the need to re-train staff or obtain funds for reprogramming). **Table 9.1** presents a checklist for considerations by the programme manager when implementing the MDR-TB regimens that are currently recommended. The programme must balance the need to provide access to new medicines for which the evidence is still incomplete with the need to protect patients from avoidable toxicity, the emergence of resistance to the new agents and observance of proper ethical conduct and respect for patient rights.

Parameter		
Access to new medicines is a priority as per national TB programme guidelines?	Yes	No
Well-functioning MDR-TB programme component is in place?	Yes	No
MDR-TB expert committee or committees are available to oversee use and support policy development or clinical decision-making?	Yes	No
Staff training is up to date with the latest developments?	Yes	No

Table 9.1. Checklist to assess programme readiness for introduction of novel regimens

Parameter		
Diagnostic capacity for WHO-recommended second-line DST is available?	Yes	No
Clinical monitoring capacity (especially ECG, full blood counts, liver function, audiometry and electrolytes) is available?	Yes	No
Key components of aDSM are in place?	Yes	No
Drug registration or other provision to allow importation of the new and repurposed medicines is in place?	Yes	No
Quantification and drug procurement procedures are in place?	Yes	No
Mechanism for patient informed consent is in place?	Yes	No
Electronic recording and reporting system is in place or has been updated?	Yes	No

10. Treatment outcome definitions

TB is largely curable with treatment that is affordable and widely accessible. If a TB treatment regimen is not administered correctly, it may fail to deliver a relapse-free cure, thus increasing transmission and accelerating the emergence of drug resistance. Monitoring the effectiveness of TB treatment is thus critically important in both clinical practice and surveillance, to maximize the quality of individual patient care and the effectiveness of public health action. Hence, standardized TB treatment outcome definitions have been a feature of WHO policies and national TB surveillance systems for many years, as a cornerstone of effective TB strategies. This standardization has allowed the monitoring of TB treatment outcomes over time at national and global levels.

Standardized treatment outcome definitions for DS-TB have been in widespread use for more than 3 decades, and outcome definitions for DR-TB were first proposed in 2005 (148). The development of DR-TB treatment outcome definitions was based on the outcome definitions for DS-TB in use at the time. The DR-TB treatment outcome definitions were adopted by WHO soon after and remained largely unchanged until 2013, when WHO updated its TB definitions and reporting framework (149). As treatment regimens for DR-TB have significantly changed in composition and duration, an update of the treatment outcome definitions and monitoring parameters was necessary.

10.1 Treatment outcome definitions

In November 2020, WHO/GTB convened an online consultation and released new definitions of TB treatment outcomes, which were the same for DS-TB and DR-TB (150, 151).

The principles guiding the update of the definitions were:

- applicability to treatment regimens of different duration;
- a lessening of the traditional division between the intensive and continuation phases;
- identification of appropriate criteria for bacteriological conversion (or reversion) in relation to the definitions of "treatment failed", "cured" and "treatment completed" that are grounded in knowledge from microbiology;
- · consideration of the use of appropriate diagnostics for treatment monitoring;
- setting of clear parameters for defining treatment failure, based on reliable evidence of nonresponse or other reasons that lead to a decision to change or stop treatment; and
- aiming for practical clinical and programmatic monitoring, and feasible implementation.

A new optional definition, "sustained treatment success", was also proposed for use in operational research only. Post-treatment follow-up may be useful, when or if it is feasible (e.g. for patients suffering from post-treatment sequelae) (152).

The new treatment outcome definitions are summarized in Table 10.1.

The 2020 treatment outcome definitions allow all patients with either DS-TB or DR-TB to have a treatment outcome assigned when completing treatment (cure or treatment success) or when unfavourable events occur (e.g. loss to follow-up, failure or death).

Although the definitions of treatment outcomes have been harmonized, minor differences remain between those for DS-TB and DR-TB (e.g. treatment monitoring by sputum culture for DR-TB and by sputum smear microscopy for DS-TB).

Despite some distinct treatment phases remaining in current regimens, the overall trend is towards monophasic regimens. Thus, it is best to avoid linking definitions to treatment phases; hence, the time thresholds for declaring cure or treatment failure have been revised.

Although the role of new bacteriological tests was considered, treatment monitoring will continue to rely on the available tools (i.e. sputum culture for DR-TB and sputum microscopy for DS-TB), despite their limitations.

10.2 Considerations for implementation

It is both important and feasible for NTPs to ascertain cure at the end of treatment. The notion of relapse-free cure or sustained treatment success after the end of treatment is critical; however, it is beyond the means of routine programmatic monitoring and is feasible only under operational research conditions (e.g. in special cohorts, in patients undergoing rehabilitation and during follow-up for post-TB lung disease). Therefore, the specific operational definition "sustained treatment success" was proposed (**Table 10.1**), with the possibility of assessing numbers of patients alive and free of TB at 6 months (for DS-TB and DR-TB) and at 12 months (for DR-TB only) after successful TB treatment.

Outcome	Definition
Treatment failed	A patient whose treatment regimen needed to be terminated or permanently changed ^a to a new regimen or treatment strategy.
Cured	A patient with pulmonary TB with bacteriologically confirmed TB at the beginning of treatment who completed treatment as recommended by the national policy, with evidence of bacteriological response ^b and no evidence of failure.
Treatment completed	A patient who completed treatment as recommended by the national policy but whose outcome does not meet the definition for cure or treatment failure.
Died	A patient who died ^c before starting treatment or during the course of treatment.
Lost to follow-up	A patient who did not start treatment or whose treatment was interrupted for 2 consecutive months or more.
Not evaluated	A patient for whom no treatment outcome was assigned. ^d
Treatment success	The sum of all patients cured and treatment completed.
An optional definition	on was also proposed for use in operational research only
Sustained treatment success	An individual assessed at 6 months (for DS-TB and DR-TB) and at 12 months (for DR-TB only) after successful TB treatment, who is alive and free of TB.

Table 10.1. New definitions of TB treatment outcomes for both DS-TB and DR-TB

DR-TB: drug-resistant TB; DS-TB: drug-susceptible TB; TB: tuberculosis.

80

^aReasons for the change include:

- no clinical response or no bacteriological response, or both (see note 'b');
- adverse drug reaction; or
- evidence of additional drug-resistance to medicines in the regimen.
- ^b "Bacteriological response" refers to bacteriological conversion with no reversion:
 - "bacteriological conversion" describes a situation in a patient with bacteriologically confirmed TB where at least two consecutive cultures (for DR-TB and DS-TB) or smears (for DS-TB only) taken on different occasions at least 7 days apart are negative; and
 - "bacteriological reversion" describes a situation where at least two consecutive cultures (for DR-TB and DS-TB) or smears (for DS-TB only) taken on different occasions at least 7 days apart are positive either after the bacteriological conversion or in patients without bacteriological confirmation of TB.

^c Patient died for any reason.

^d This includes cases "transferred out" to another treatment unit and whose treatment outcome is unknown; however, it excludes those lost to follow-up.

References

- 1 WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 4: Treatment drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment, 2022 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/365308/9789240063129-eng.pdf).
- 2 Guidelines for treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis and patient care (2017 update). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/255052/9789241550000-eng. pdf).
- 3 WHO consolidated guideline on tuberculosis. Module 1: Prevention tuberculosis preventive treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/han dle/10665/331525/9789240002906-eng.pdf).
- 4 WHO handbook for guideline development 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241548960).
- 5 Allotey P, Reidpath DD, Ghalib H, Pagnoni F, Skelly WC. Efficacious, effective, and embedded interventions: implementation research in infectious disease control. BMC Public Health. 2008;8:1–6. doi: https://doi. org/10.1186/1471–2458–8-343.
- 6 Guide to operational research in programmes supported by the Global Fund. Geneva: The Global Fund & World Health Organization; 2007 (https://medbox.org/document/ guide-to-operational-research-in-programs-supported-by-the-global-fund#GO).
- 7 Expanding capacity for operations research in reproductive health: summary report of a consultative meeting, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, December 10–12. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/67936).
- 8 Weyer K, Mirzayev F, Migliori GB, van Gemert W, D'Ambrosio L, Zignol M et al. Rapid molecular TB diagnosis: evidence, policy making and global implementation of Xpert MTB/RIF. Eur Respir J. 2013;42:252–71. doi: https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00157212.
- 9 The use of molecular line probe assays for the detection of resistance to second-line anti-tuberculosis drugs: policy guidance [WHO/HTM/TB/2016.07]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/246131/9789241510561-eng.pdf?sequence=1).
- 10 Guidelines for surveillance of drug resistance in tuberculosis. 5th edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241549134).
- 11 WHO treatment guidelines for drug-resistant tuberculosis, 2016 update (WHO/HTM/TB/2016.04). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/250125/9789241549639-eng.pdf).
- 12 WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 3: Diagnosis rapid diagnostics for tuberculosis detection, 2021 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240029415).
- 13 Technical manual for drug susceptibility testing of medicines used in the treatment of tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/275469).
- 14 WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis. Module 3: diagnosis rapid diagnostics for tuberculosis detection, 2021 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240030589).

- 15 Technical report on critical concentrations for TB drug susceptibility testing of medicines used in the treatment of drug-resistant TB. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/ WHO-CDS-TB-2018.5).
- 16 Baker MA, Harries AD, Jeon CY, Hart JE, Kapur A, Lönnroth K et al. The impact of diabetes on tuberculosis treatment outcomes: a systematic review. BMC Med. 2011;9:81. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/1741–7015–9-81.
- 17 Companion handbook to the WHO guidelines for the programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis (WHO/HTM/TB/2014.11). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/130918).
- 18 Active tuberculosis drug-safety monitoring and management (aDSM): framework for implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/204465/WHO_ HTM_TB_2015.28_eng.pdf?sequence=1).
- 19 WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 4: Treatment tuberculosis care and support. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240047716).
- 20 Global tuberculosis report 2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240037021).
- 21 Meeting report of the WHO expert consultation on the definition of extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis, 27–29 October 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240018662).
- 22 Mitnick CD, White RA, Lu C, Rodriguez CA, Bayona J, Becerra MC et al. Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis treatment failure detection depends on monitoring interval and microbiological method. Eur Respir J. 2016;48:1160–70. doi: https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.00462–2016.
- 23 Imperial MZ, Nedelman JR, Conradie F, Savic RM. Proposed linezolid dosing strategies to minimize adverse events for treatment of extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis. Clin Infect Dis. 2022;74:1736–47. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciab699.
- 24 Alghamdi WA, Al-Shaer MH, An G, Alsultan A, Kipiani M, Barbakadze K et al. Population pharmacokinetics of linezolid in tuberculosis patients: dosing regimen simulation and target attainment analysis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2020;64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.01174–20.
- 25 Rao GG, Konicki R, Cattaneo D, Alffenaar JW, Marriott DJE, Neely M. Therapeutic drug monitoring can improve linezolid dosing regimens in current clinical practice: a review of linezolid pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Ther Drug Monit. 2020;42:83–92. doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/ftd.000000000000710.
- 26 Salinger DH, Subramoney V, Everitt D, Nedelman JR. Population pharmacokinetics of the antituberculosis agent pretomanid. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2019;63. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.00907–19.
- 27 Pandie M, Wiesner L, McIlleron H, Hughes J, Siwendu S, Conradie F et al. Drug-drug interactions between bedaquiline and the antiretrovirals lopinavir/ritonavir and nevirapine in HIV-infected patients with drugresistant TB. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2016;71:1037–40. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkv447.
- 28 Brust JCM, Gandhi NR, Wasserman S, Maartens G, Omar SV, Ismail NA et al. Effectiveness and cardiac safety of bedaquiline-based therapy for drug-resistant tuberculosis: a prospective cohort study. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73:2083–92. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciab335.
- 29 Brill MJ, Svensson EM, Pandie M, Maartens G, Karlsson MO. Confirming model-predicted pharmacokinetic interactions between bedaquiline and lopinavir/ritonavir or nevirapine in patients with HIV and drug-resistant tuberculosis. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2017;49:212–7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2016.10.020.
- 30 Howell P, Upton C, Mvuna N, Olugbosi M. Sterile tuberculous granuloma in a patient with XDR-TB treated with bedaquiline, pretomanid and linezolid. BMJ Case Rep. 2021;14. doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/ bcr-2021–245612.

- 31 Rifat D, Li S-Y, Ioerger T, Shah K, Lanoix J-P, Lee J et al. Mutations in fbiD (Rv2983) as a novel determinant of resistance to pretomanid and delamanid in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2020;65:e01948–20. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01948–20.
- 32 Hartkoorn RC, Uplekar S, Cole ST. Cross-resistance between clofazimine and bedaquiline through upregulation of MmpL5 in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;58:2979–81. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.00037–14.
- 33 Fox GJ, Schaaf HS, Mandalakas A, Chiappini E, Zumla A, Marais BJ. Preventing the spread of multidrugresistant tuberculosis and protecting contacts of infectious cases. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2017;23:147–53. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2016.08.024.
- 34 WHO guidelines on tuberculosis infection prevention and control: 2019 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241550512).
- 35 Fennelly KP, Martyny JW, Fulton KE, Orme IM, Cave DM, Heifets LB. Cough-generated aerosols of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis:* a new method to study infectiousness. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2004;169:604–9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200308–1101OC.
- 36 Mulder C, Rupert S, Setiawan E, Mambetova E, Edo P, Sugiharto J et al. Budgetary impact of using BPaL for treating extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis. BMJ Glob Health. 2022;7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2021–007182.
- 37 Gomez GB, Siapka M, Conradie F, Ndjeka N, Garfin AMC, Lomtadze N et al. Cost-effectiveness of bedaquiline, pretomanid and linezolid for treatment of extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis in South Africa, Georgia and the Philippines. BMJ Open. 2021;11:e051521. doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021–051521.
- 38 Meeting report of the WHO expert consultation on drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment outcome definitions, 17–19 November 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240022195).
- 39 Zimenkov DV, Nosova EY, Kulagina EV, Antonova OV, Arslanbaeva LR, Isakova AI et al. Examination of bedaquiline- and linezolid-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates from the Moscow region. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2017;72:1901–6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkx094.
- 40 Wasserman S, Louw G, Ramangoaela L, Barber G, Hayes C, Omar SV et al. Linezolid resistance in patients with drug-resistant TB and treatment failure in South Africa. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2019;74:2377–84. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkz206.
- 41 Management of rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis: a clinical reference guide. Pretoria: National Department of Health, South Africa; 2019 (https://www.health.gov.za/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/management-of-rifampicin-resistant-tb-booklet-0220-v11.pdf).
- 42 Agyeman AA, Ofori-Asenso R. Efficacy and safety profile of linezolid in the treatment of multidrug-resistant (MDR) and extensively drug-resistant (XDR) tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob. 2016;15:41. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12941–016–0156-y.
- 43 Jaspard M, Butel N, El Helali N, Marigot-Outtandy D, Guillot H, Peytavin G et al. Linezolid-associated neurologic adverse events in patients with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis, France. Emerg Infect Dis. 2020;26:1792–800. doi: https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2608.191499.
- 44 Shenje J, Ifeoma Adimora-Nweke F, Ross IL, Ntsekhe M, Wiesner L, Deffur A et al. Poor penetration of antibiotics into pericardium in pericardial tuberculosis. EBioMedicine. 2015;2:1640–9. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2015.09.025.
- 45 Bonnet I, Haddad E, Guglielmetti L, Bemer P, Bernard L, Bourgoin A et al. Clinical features and outcome of multidrug-resistant osteoarticular tuberculosis: a 12-year case series from France. Microorganisms. 2022;10. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms10061215.

- 46 Wen S, Zhang T, Yu X, Dong W, Lan T, Fan J et al. Bone penetration of linezolid in osteoarticular tuberculosis patients of China. Int J Infect Dis. 2021;103:364–9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.11.203.
- 47 WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 5: Management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240046764).
- 48 Isanaka S, Mugusi F, Urassa W, Willett WC, Bosch RJ, Villamor E et al. Iron deficiency and anemia predict mortality in patients with tuberculosis. J Nutr. 2012;142:350–7. doi: https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.111.144287.
- 49 Taubel J, Prasad K, Rosano G, Ferber G, Wibberley H, Cole ST et al. Effects of the fluoroquinolones moxifloxacin and levofloxacin on the QT subintervals: sex differences in ventricular repolarization. J Clin Pharmacol. 2020;60:400–8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/jcph.1534.
- 50 Management of drug-resistant tuberculosis in pregnant and peripartum people: a field guide. First edition. Boston, USA: The Sentinel Project for Pediatric Drug-Resistant Tuberculosis; 2022 (https://sentinel-project. org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/DRTB-Field-Guide-Pregnancy_Sept_2022.pdf).
- 51 Harris RC, Grandjean L, Martin LJ, Miller AJ, Nkang JE, Allen V et al. The effect of early versus late treatment initiation after diagnosis on the outcomes of patients treated for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: a systematic review. BMC Infect Dis. 2016;16:193. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879–016–1524–0.
- 52 Htun YM, Khaing TMM, Aung NM, Yin Y, Myint Z, Aung ST et al. Delay in treatment initiation and treatment outcomes among adult patients with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis at Yangon Regional Tuberculosis Centre, Myanmar: a retrospective study. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0209932. doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0209932.
- 53 Kempker RR, Kipiani M, Mirtskhulava V, Tukvadze N, Magee MJ, Blumberg HM. Acquired drug resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and poor outcomes among patients with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. Emerg Infect Dis. 2015;21:992–1001. doi: https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2106.141873.
- 54 Senneville E, Legout L, Valette M, Yazdanpanah Y, Giraud F, Beltrand E et al. Risk factors for anaemia in patients on prolonged linezolid therapy for chronic osteomyelitis: a case-control study. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2004;54:798–802. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkh409.
- 55 Kerkhoff AD, Meintjes G, Opie J, Vogt M, Jhilmeet N, Wood R et al. Anaemia in patients with HIV-associated TB: relative contributions of anaemia of chronic disease and iron deficiency. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2016;20:193– 201. doi: https://doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.15.0558.
- 56 Barzegari S, Afshari M, Movahednia M, Moosazadeh M. Prevalence of anemia among patients with tuberculosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Indian J Tuberc. 2019;66:299–307. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijtb.2019.04.002.
- 57 Oehadian A, Santoso P, Menzies D, Ruslami R. Concise clinical review of hematologic toxicity of linezolid in multidrug-resistant and extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis: role of mitochondria. Tuberc Respir Dis (Seoul). 2022;85:111–21. doi: https://doi.org/10.4046/trd.2021.0122.
- 58 Linh NN, Viney K, Gegia M, Falzon D, Glaziou P, Floyd K et al. World Health Organization treatment outcome definitions for tuberculosis: 2021 update. Eur Respir J. 2021;58. doi: https://doi. org/10.1183/13993003.00804–2021.
- 59 Tack I, Dumicho A, Ohler L, Shigayeva A, Bulti AB, White K et al. Safety and effectiveness of an alloral, bedaquiline-based, shorter treatment regimen for rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis in high Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) burden rural South Africa: a retrospective cohort analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73:e3563–e71. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa1894.
- 60 Halleux CM, Falzon D, Merle C, Jaramillo E, Mirzayev F, Olliaro P et al. The World Health Organization global aDSM database: generating evidence on the safety of new treatment regimens for drug-resistant tuberculosis. Eur Respir J. 2018;51. doi: https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.01643–2017.

- 61 ShORRT (Short, all-Oral Regimens for Rifampicin-resistant Tuberculosis) research package. Geneva: World Health Organization and the Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases; 2015 (https://tdr.who.int/activities/shorrt-research-package).
- 62 Conradie F, Diacon AH, Ngubane N, Howell P, Everitt D, Crook AM et al. Treatment of highly drug-resistant pulmonary tuberculosis. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:893–902. doi: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1901814.
- 63 Conradie F, Bagdasaryan TR, Borisov S, Howell P, Mikiashvili L, Ngubane N et al. Bedaquiline-pretomanidlinezolid regimens for drug-resistant tuberculosis. N Engl J Med. 2022;387:810–23. doi: https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa2119430.
- 64 Berry C, du Cros P, Fielding K, Gajewski S, Kazounis E, McHugh TD et al. TB-PRACTECAL: study protocol for a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase II-III trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of regimens containing bedaquiline and pretomanid for the treatment of adult patients with pulmonary multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. Trials. 2022;23:484. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063–022–06331–8.
- 65 WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment. Tuberculosis care and support. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240053519).
- 66 WHO best-practice statement on the off-label use of bedaquiline and delamanid for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (WHO/HTM/TB/2017.20). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/258941/WHO-HTM-TB-2017.20-eng.pdf?sequence=1).
- 67 Huerga H, Khan U, Bastard M, Mitnick CD, Lachenal N, Khan PY et al. Safety and effectiveness outcomes from a 14-country cohort of patients with multi-drug resistant tuberculosis treated concomitantly with bedaquiline, delamanid and other second-line drugs. Clin Infect Dis. 2022:ciac176. doi: https://doi. org/10.1093/cid/ciac176.
- 68 Guidelines for the programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis, 2011 update (WHO/ HTM/TB/2011.6). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789241501583).
- 69 WHO treatment guidelines for isoniazid-resistant tuberculosis. Supplement to the WHO treatment guidelines for drug-resistant tuberculosis (WHO/CDS/TB/2018.7). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/260494/9789241550079-eng.pdf).
- 70 Line probe assays for detection of drug-resistant tuberculosis: interpretation and reporting manual for laboratory staff and clinicians. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240046665).
- 71 Dookie N, Khan A, Padayatchi N, Naidoo K. Application of next generation sequencing for diagnosis and clinical management of drug-resistant tuberculosis: Updates on recent developments in the field. Front Microbiol. 2022;13. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.775030.
- 72 The CRyPTIC Consortium. Genome-wide association studies of global *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* resistance to 13 antimicrobials in 10,228 genomes identify new resistance mechanisms. PLoS Biol. 2022;20:e3001755. doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3001755.
- 73 Moodliar R, Aksenova V, Frias MVG, van de Logt J, Rossenu S, Birmingham E et al. Bedaquiline for multidrugresistant TB in paediatric patients. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2021;25:716–24. doi: https://doi.org/10.5588/ ijtld.21.0022.
- 74 Ndjeka N, Campbell JR, Meintjes G, Maartens G, Schaaf HS, Hughes J et al. Treatment outcomes 24 months after initiating short, all-oral bedaquiline-containing or injectable-containing rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis treatment regimens in South Africa: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2022;22:1042–51. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473–3099(21)00811–2.
- 75 Kim CT, Kim T-O, Shin H-J, Ko YC, Hun Choe Y, Kim H-R et al. Bedaquiline and delamanid for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: a multicentre cohort study in Korea. Eur Respir J. 2018;51:1702467. doi: https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.02467–2017.

- 76 Pontali E, Sotgiu G, Tiberi S, D'Ambrosio L, Centis R, Migliori GB. Cardiac safety of bedaquiline: a systematic and critical analysis of the evidence. Eur Respir J. 2017;50:1801386. doi: https://doi. org/10.1183/13993003.01462–2017.
- 77 Guglielmetti L, Jaspard M, Le Dû D, Lachâtre M, Marigot-Outtandy D, Bernard C et al. Long-term outcome and safety of prolonged bedaquiline treatment for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. Eur Respir J. 2017;49:1601799. doi: https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.01799–2016.
- 78 Dooley KE, Rosenkranz S, Conradie F, Moran L, Hafner R, von Groote-Bidlingmaier F et al. QT effects of bedaquiline, delamanid or both in MDR-TB patients: the DELIBERATE trial (DELamanId BEdaquiline for ResistAnt TubErculosis). Maryland, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine. 2019.
- 79 Olayanju O, Esmail A, Limberis J, Dheda K. A regimen containing bedaquiline and delamanid compared to bedaquiline in patients with drug-resistant tuberculosis. Eur Respir J. 2020;55:1901181. doi: https://doi. org/10.1183/13993003.01181–2019.
- 80 International standards for tuberculosis care. 3rd edition. The Hague: TB CARE 1; 2014 (https://www.who. int/publications/m/item/international-standards-for-tuberculosis-care).
- 81 Hewison C, Khan U, Bastard M, Lachenal N, Coutisson S, Osso E et al. Safety of treatment regimens containing bedaquiline and delamanid in the endTB Cohort. Clin Infect Dis. 2022;75:1006–13. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciac019.
- 82 Ismail N, Rivière E, Limberis J, Huo S, Metcalfe JZ, Warren RM et al. Genetic variants and their association with phenotypic resistance to bedaquiline in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis:* a systematic review and individual isolate data analysis. Lancet Microbe. 2021;2:e604–e16. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666–5247(21)00175–0.
- 83 Wu S-H, Chan H-H, Hsiao H-C, Jou R. Primary bedaquiline resistance among cases of drug-resistant tuberculosis in Taiwan. Front Microbiol. 2021;12. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.754249.
- ⁸⁴ Tang S, Yao L, Hao X, Zhang X, Liu G, Liu X et al. Efficacy, safety and tolerability of linezolid for the treatment of XDR-TB: a study in China. Eur Respir J. 2015;45:161–70. doi: https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00035114.
- 85 Im JH, Baek JH, Kwon HY, Lee J-S. Incidence and risk factors of linezolid-induced lactic acidosis. Int J Infect Dis. 2015;31:47–52. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2014.12.009.
- 86 Lee M, Lee J, Carroll MW, Choi H, Min S, Song T et al. Linezolid for treatment of chronic extensively drugresistant tuberculosis. New Eng J Med. 2012;367:1508–18. doi: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1201964.
- 87 Mao Y, Dai D, Jin H, Wang Y. The risk factors of linezolid-induced lactic acidosis: a case report and review. Med. 2018;97:e12114. doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000012114.
- 88 Technical report on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics (PK/PD) of medicines used in the treatment of drug-resistant tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/260440).
- 89 Wasserman S, Brust JC, Abdelwahab MT, Little F, Denti P, Wiesner L et al. Linezolid toxicity in patients with drug-resistant tuberculosis: a prospective cohort study. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2022;77:1146–54. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkac019.
- 90 Diacon AH, De Jager VR, Dawson R, Narunsky K, Vanker N, Burger DA et al. Fourteen-day bactericidal activity, safety, and pharmacokinetics of linezolid in adults with drug-sensitive pulmonary tuberculosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2020;64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.02012–19.
- 91 Lawrence KR, Adra M, Gillman PK. Serotonin toxicity associated with the use of linezolid: a review of postmarketing data. Clin Infect Dis. 2006;42:1578–83. doi: https://doi.org/10.1086/503839.
- 92 Tyeku N, Apolisi I, Daniels J, Beko B, Memani B, Cengani L et al. Pediatric delamanid treatment for children with rifampicin-resistant TB. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2022;26:986–8. doi: https://doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.22.0264.

- 93 Tucker EW, Pieterse L, Zimmerman MD, Udwadia ZF, Peloquin CA, Gler MT et al. Delamanid central nervous system pharmacokinetics in tuberculous meningitis in rabbits and humans. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2019;63. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00913–19.
- 94 European Medicines Agency. Disabling and potentially permanent side effects lead to suspension or restrictions of quinolone and fluoroquinolone antibiotics. 2019 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/ human/referrals/quinolone-fluoroquinolone-containing-medicinal-products).
- 95 Schünemann H, Brożek J, Guyatt G, Oxman A (eds.)GRADE handbook. Hamilton, Canada;2013 (https://gdt.gradepro.org/app/handbook/handbook.html).
- 96 Cannon JP, Lee TA, Clark NM, Setlak P, Grim SA. The risk of seizures among the carbapenems: a metaanalysis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2014;69:2043–55. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dku111.
- 97 Chambers HF, Turner J, Schecter GF, Kawamura M, Hopewell PC. Imipenem for treatment of tuberculosis in mice and humans. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2005;49:2816–21. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/ AAC.49.7.2816–2821.2005.
- 98 Dooley KE, Obuku EA, Durakovic N, Belitsky V, Mitnick C, Nuermberger EL et al. World Health Organization Group 5 drugs for the treatment of drug-resistant tuberculosis: unclear efficacy or untapped potential? J Infect Dis. 2013;207:1352–8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jis460.
- 99 Garges HP, Alexander KA. Pharmacology review: newer antibiotics: imipenem/cilastatin and meropenem. NeoReviews. 2003;4:364e–8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1542/neo.4.12.e364.
- 100 Hornik CP, Herring AH, Benjamin DK, Capparelli EV, Kearns GL, van den Anker J et al. Adverse events associated with meropenem versus imipenem/cilastatin therapy in a large retrospective cohort of hospitalized infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2013;32:748–53. doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.0b013e31828be70b.
- 101 Dauby N, Muylle I, Mouchet F, Sergysels R, Payen M-C. Meropenem/clavulanate and linezolid treatment for extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2011;30:812–3. doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/ INF.0b013e3182154b05.
- 102 De Lorenzo S, Alffenaar JW, Sotgiu G, Centis R, D'Ambrosio L, Tiberi S et al. Efficacy and safety of meropenem-clavulanate added to linezolid-containing regimens in the treatment of MDR-/XDR-TB. Eur Respir J. 2013;41:1386–92. doi: https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00124312.
- 103 Payen M, Muylle I, Vandenberg O, Mathys V, Delforge M, Van den Wijngaert S et al. Meropenem-clavulanate for drug-resistant tuberculosis: a follow-up of relapse-free cases. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2018;22:34–9. doi: https://doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.17.0352.
- 104 Trébucq A, Schwoebel V, Kashongwe Z, Bakayoko A, Kuaban C, Noeske J et al. Treatment outcome with a short multidrug-resistant tuberculosis regimen in nine African countries. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2018;22:17–25. doi: https://doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.17.0498.
- 105 Information for healthcare professionals: gatifloxacin (marketed as Tequin) [website]. US Food and Drug Administration; 2006 (https://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationfor PatientsandProviders/ucm107821.htm).
- 106 Park-Wyllie LY, Juurlink DN, Kopp A, Shah BR, Stukel TA, Stumpo C et al. Outpatient gatifloxacin therapy and dysglycemia in older adults. New Eng J Med. 2006;354:1352–61. doi: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa055191.
- 107 Katiyar SK, Bihari S, Prakash S, Mamtani M, Kulkarni H. A randomised controlled trial of high-dose isoniazid adjuvant therapy for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2008;12:139–45. doi: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18230245/.
- 108 Clinical and programmatic guide for patient management with new TB drugs. endTB Consortium; 2018 (https://www.endtb.org/sites/default/files/2018–04/Guide%20for%20New%20TB%20Drugs%20Version%20 4.0.pdf).

- 109 Donald PR. The chemotherapy of tuberculous meningitis in children and adults. Tuberculosis. 2010;90:375–92. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tube.2010.07.003.
- 110 Sun F, Ruan Q, Wang J, Chen S, Jin J, Shao L et al. Linezolid manifests a rapid and dramatic therapeutic effect for patients with life-threatening tuberculous meningitis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;58:6297–301. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.02784–14.
- 111 Thwaites GE, Bhavnani SM, Chau TTH, Hammel JP, Torok ME, Van Wart SA et al. Randomized pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic comparison of fluoroquinolones for tuberculous meningitis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2011;55:3244–53. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00064–11.
- 112 Curry International Tuberculosis Center, California Department of Public Health. Drug-resistant tuberculosis: a survival guide for clinicians. California: University of California San Francisco; 2016 (https://www.currytbcenter.ucsf.edu/products/view/drug-resistant-tuberculosis-survival-guide-clinicians-3rd-edition).
- 113 Daley CL. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex. In: Yu V, Merigan TJ & Barriere S (eds.), Antimicrobial Therapy and Vaccines: Williams & Wilkins; 1999:531–6.
- 114 Holdiness MR. Cerebrospinal fluid pharmacokinetics of the antituberculosis drugs. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1985;10:532–4. doi: https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088–198510060–00006.
- 115 Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: recommendations for a public health approach. 2nd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/208825/9789241549684_eng.pdf;jsessionid=2FD2A34B73DE76 E3C987F452664F8BAC?sequence=1).
- 116 Ramachandran G, Kumar AH, Srinivasan R, Geetharani A, Sugirda P, Nandhakumar B et al. Effect of rifampicin & isoniazid on the steady state pharmacokinetics of moxifloxacin. Indian J Med Res. 2012;136:979. doi: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23391793/.
- 117 Briasoulis A, Agarwal V, Pierce WJ. QT prolongation and torsade de pointes induced by fluoroquinolones: infrequent side effects from commonly used medications. Cardiology. 2011;120:103–10. doi: https://doi. org/10.1159/000334441.
- 118 Cho Y, Park HS. Association of oral ciprofloxacin, levofloxacin, ofloxacin and moxifloxacin with the risk of serious ventricular arrhythmia: a nationwide cohort study in Korea. BMJ Open. 2018;8. doi: http://dx.doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017–020974.
- 119 Baniasadi S, Eftekhari P, Tabarsi P, Fahimi F, Raoufy MR, Masjedi MR et al. Protective effect of N-acetylcysteine on antituberculosis drug-induced hepatotoxicity. European J Gastroent Hepatol. 2010;22:1235–8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.congress-2016.PA2716.
- 120 van Hest R, Baars H, Kik S, van Gerven P, Trompenaars M-C, Kalisvaart N et al. Hepatotoxicity of rifampinpyrazinamide and isoniazid preventive therapy and tuberculosis treatment. Clin Infect Dis. 2004;39:488–96. doi: https://doi.org/10.1086/422645.
- 121 Peloquin CA, Jaresko GS, Yong C-L, Keung A, Bulpitt AE, Jelliffe RW. Population pharmacokinetic modeling of isoniazid, rifampin, and pyrazinamide. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1997;41:2670–9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.41.12.2670.
- 122 Global Drug Facility Procurement and supply List of products available [website]. Stop TB Partnership; 2022 (https://www.stoptb.org/global-drug-facility-gdf/gdf-product-catalog).
- 123 Public call for individual patient data on treatment of rifampicin and multidrug-resistant (MDR/RR-TB) tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www.who.int/news-room/articles-detail/public-call-for-individual-patient-data-on-treatment-of-rifampicin-and-multidrug-resistant-(mdr-rr-tb)-tuberculosis).
- 124 Public call for individual patient data on treatment of rifampicin and multidrug-resistant (MDR/RR-TB) tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/news-room/articles-detail/ public-call-for-individual-patient-data-on-treatment-of-drug-resistant-tuberculosis).

- 125 Ahuja SD, Ashkin D, Avendano M, Banerjee R, Bauer M, Bayona JN et al. Multidrug resistant pulmonary tuberculosis treatment regimens and patient outcomes: an individual patient data meta-analysis of 9,153 patients. PLoS Med. 2012;9:e1001300. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001300.
- 126 Campbell J, Falzon D, Mirzayev F, Jaramillo E, Migliori G, Mitnick C et al. Improving quality of patient data for treatment of multidrug- or rifampin-resistant tuberculosis. Emerg Infect Dis. 2020;26. doi: https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2603.190997.
- 127 Fox GJ, Mitnick CD, Benedetti A, Chan ED, Becerra M, Chiang C-Y et al. Surgery as an adjunctive treatment for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: an individual patient data metaanalysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;62:887–95. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciw002.
- 128 Kang M, Kim H, Choi Y, Kim K, Shim Y, Koh W et al. Surgical treatment for multidrug-resistant and extensive drug-resistant tuberculosis. Ann Thorac Surg. 2010;89:1597–602. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. athoracsur.2010.02.020.
- 129 Harris RC, Khan MS, Martin LJ, Allen V, Moore DAJ, Fielding K et al. The effect of surgery on the outcome of treatment for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Infect Dis. 2016;16. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879–016–1585–0.
- 130 WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 4: Treatment drug-susceptible tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240048126).
- 131 Chotmongkol V, Jitpimolmard S, Thavornpitak Y. Corticosteroid in tuberculous meningitis. J Med Assoc Thai. 1996;79:83–90. doi: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8868018/.
- 132 Kumarvelu S, Prasad K, Khosla A, Behari M, Ahuja GK. Randomized controlled trial of dexamethasone in tuberculous meningitis. Tubercle Lung Dis. 1994;75:203–7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0962–8479(94)90009–4.
- 133 Malhotra HS, Garg RK, Singh MK, Agarwal A, Verma R. Corticosteroids (dexamethasone versus intravenous methylprednisolone) in patients with tuberculous meningitis. Ann Trop Med Parasit. 2009;103:625–34. doi: https://doi.org/10.1179/000349809X12502035776315.
- 134 Schoeman JF, Van Zyl LE, Laubscher JA, Donald PR. Effect of corticosteroids on intracranial pressure, computed tomographic findings, and clinical outcome in young children with tuberculous meningitis. Pediatrics. 1997;99:226–31. doi: https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.99.2.226.
- 135 Thwaites GE, Nguyen DB, Nguyen HD, Hoang TQ, Do TTO, Nguyen TCT et al. Dexamethasone for the treatment of tuberculous meningitis in adolescents and adults. New Eng J Med. 2004;351:1741–51. doi: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa040573.
- 136 Critchley JA, Young F, Orton L, Garner P. Corticosteroids for prevention of mortality in people with tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013;13:223–37. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/S1473–3099(12)70321–3.
- 137 Hakim JG, Ternouth I, Mushangi E, Siziya S, Robertson V, Malin A. Double blind randomised placebo controlled trial of adjunctive prednisolone in the treatment of effusive tuberculous pericarditis in HIV seropositive patients. Heart. 2000;84:183–8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/heart.84.2.183.
- 138 Mayosi BM, Ntsekhe M, Bosch J, Pandie S, Jung H, Gumedze F et al. Prednisolone and Mycobacterium indicus pranii in tuberculous pericarditis. New Eng J Med. 2014;371:1121–30. doi: https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1407380.
- 139 Mayosi BM, Ntsekhe M, Volmink JA, Commerford PJ. Interventions for treating tuberculous pericarditis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2002:CD000526. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD000526.
- 140 Reuter H, Burgess LJ, Louw VJ, Doubell AF. Experience with adjunctive corticosteroids in managing tuberculous pericarditis. Cardiovasc J S Afr. 2006;17:233–8. doi: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17117227/.
- 141 Schrire V. Experience with pericarditis at Groote Schuur Hospital, Cape Town: an analysis of one hundred and sixty cases studied over a six-year period. S Afr Med J. 1959;33:810–7. doi: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/14443596/.

- 142 Strang JI, Kakaza HH, Gibson DG, Allen BW, Mitchison DA, Evans DJ et al. Controlled clinical trial of complete open surgical drainage and of prednisolone in treatment of tuberculous pericardial effusion in Transkei. Lancet. 1988;2:759–64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140–6736(88)92415–4.
- 143 Strang JI, Kakaza HH, Gibson DG, Girling DJ, Nunn AJ, Fox W. Controlled trial of prednisolone as adjuvant in treatment of tuberculous constrictive pericarditis in Transkei. Lancet. 1987;2:1418–22. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/s0140–6736(87)91127–5.
- 144 Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, testing, treatment, service delivery and monitoring: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240031593).
- 145 Lan Z, Ahmad N, Baghaei P, Barkane L, Benedetti A, Brode SK et al. Drug-associated adverse events in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: an individual patient data meta-analysis. Lancet Respir Med. 2020. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213–2600(20)30047–3.
- 146 World Health Organization, Management Sciences for Health, KNCV Tuberculosis Foundation. Electronic recording and reporting for tuberculosis care and control (WHO/HTM/TB/2011.22). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44840).
- 147 Koh WJ, Kwon OJ, Suh GY, Chung MP, Kim H, Lee NY. Six-month therapy with aerosolized interferon-γ for refractory multidrug-resistant pulmonary tuberculosis. J Korean Med Sci. 2004;19:167–71. doi: https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2004.19.2.167.
- 148 Laserson KF, Thorpe LE, Leimane V, Weyer K, Mitnick CD, Riekstina V et al. Speaking the same language: treatment outcome definitions for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2005;9:640–5. doi: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15971391/.
- 149 Guidelines for the programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis, 1st ed. (WHO/ HTM/TB/2006.361). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstr eam/10665/246249/2/9789241546959-eng.pdf).
- 150 Linh NN, Viney K, Gegia M, Falzon D, Glaziou P, Floyd K et al. World Health Organization treatment outcome definitions for tuberculosis: 2021 update. Eur Respir J. 2021;58:2100804. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00804–2021.
- 151 Avaliani Z, Gozalov O, Kuchukhidze G, Skrahina A, Soltan V, van den Boom M et al. What is behind programmatic treatment outcome definitions for tuberculosis? Eur Clin Respir J. 2020;56:2001751. doi: https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.01751–2020.
- 152 Migliori GB, Marx FM, Ambrosino N, Zampogna E, Schaaf HS, van der Zalm MM et al. Clinical standards for the assessment, management and rehabilitation of post-TB lung disease. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2021;25:797– 813. doi: https://doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.21.0425.
- 153 WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis. Module 5: management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240046832).
- 154 Report of a WHO expert consultation on dosing to enable implementation of treatment recommendations in the WHO consolidated guidelines on the management of TB in children and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240055193).
- 155 Denti P, Wasmann RE, Francis J, McIlleron H, Sugandhi N, Cressey TR et al. One dose does not fit all: revising the WHO paediatric dosing tool to include the non-linear effect of body size and maturation. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2022;6:9–10. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/s2352–4642(21)00302–3.
- 156 Garcia-Prats AJ, Rose PC, Draper HR, Seddon JA, Norman J, McIlleron HM et al. Effect of coadministration of lidocaine on the pain and pharmacokinetics of intramuscular amikacin in children with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: a randomized crossover trial. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2018;37:1199–203. doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.000000000001983.

Annex: Weight-based dosing of medicines used in multidrug-resistant TB regimens, adults and children^a

20 kg Comments								
-<56 kg 56-<70 kg	1	4	2	1.5	I	1	15 or 2 2	1
5-<7 kg 7-<10 kg 10-<16 kg 16-<24 kg 24-<30 kg 30-<36 kg 36-<46 kg 46-<56 kg 56-<70 kg ≥70 kg Comments		m	1.5	1	4		1 or 1 5 1 1 5 1	2
-<24 kg 24-<30 kg 3	n	1.5 2	-1		3 4	7.5 mL 1 (0.75 tab) ^b		
10-<16 kg	2			1	2	5 mL 7 (0.5 tab) ^b (0.	1	
7-<10 kg	1.5	5 mL (0.5 tab) ^b	I	1	1.5	3 mL ^b	1	
5-<7 kg		5 mL (8 mL	2 mL ^b		
3-<5 kg	5 mL (0.5 dt)	2 mL ^b			4 mL	1 mL ^b		
Formulation (tablets, diluted in 10 mL of water, as applicable)	100 mg dt (10 mg/mL)	250 mg tab (25 mg/mL)	500 mg tab	750 mg tab	100 mg dt (10 mg/mL)	400 mg tab (40 mg/mL) Stand doco	400 mg tab high	
Group A medicines	Levofloxacin (Lfx)				Moxifloxacin (Mfx)			

	Formulation													
medicines	(tablets, diluted in 10 mL of water, as applicable)	3-<5 kg 5	5-<7 kg 7-	7-<10 kg	10-<16 kg	16-<24 kg	10-<16 kg 16-<24 kg 24-<30 kg	30-<36 kg	36-<46 kg 46-<56 kg	4656 kg	56-<70 kg	≥70 kg	Comments	
Bedaquiline (Bdq)	20 mg dt	0 to <3 months: 1.5 od (2 weeks); then 0.5 od M/W/F (22 weeks) ≥ 3 months: 3 od for 2 weeks; then 1 od M/W/F for 22 weeks		0 to <3 months: <- 2 weeks; then 0.5 od M/W/F 3 to 0.5 od M/W/F 4 od for 2 weeks; then 2 od M/W/F 4 od for 2 weeks; then 2 od M/W/F	3 to 46 months: 3 od for 2 weeks; 10 M/W/F 6 months: 6 od for 2 weeks; then 3 od M/W/F	10 od for 2 weeks 5 od M/W/F	then	20 od for 2 weeks; then 10 od M/W/F	veeks; then //W/F		I			
	100 mg tab (10 mg/mL) ^d	0 to <3 months: 3 mL od for 2 weeks; then 1 mL od M/W/F ^b ≥ 3 months: 6 mL od for 2 weeks; then 2 mL od M/W/F ^b		0 to <3 months: < 3 mL od for 2 weeks; then 1 mL t od M/W/Fb 6 mL od for 2 weeks; then 2 mL then 2 mL then 2 mL then 2 mL then 4 mL od M/W/Fb c od for 2 weeks; then 4 mL then 4 mL	3 to 6 months: 6 mL od for 2 weeks; then 2 mL od for 2 weeks; then 6 mL od for 2 weeks; then 6 mL od M/W/F ^b	2 od for 2 weeks; then 1 od M/W/F	weeks; then		4 od for 2 w	4 od for 2 weeks; then 2 od M/W/F	od M/W/F			
	100 mg tab (10 mg/mL)				1					200 mg dai 100 r	200 mg daily (od) for 8 weeks; then 100 mg dose daily (od)	/eeks; then (od)	Dosing scheme is for BPaLM/BPaL regimen (>14 years).	

Group A medicines	Formulation (tablets, diluted in 10 mL of water, as applicable)	3-<5 kg	5-<7 kg	5-<7 kg 7-<10 kg	10-<16 kg 16-<24 kg 24-<30 kg 30-<36 kg 36-<46 kg 46-<56 kg 56-<70 kg	16-<24 kg	24-<30 kg	30-<36 kg	36-<46 kg	46-<56 kg	56-<70 kg	≥70 kg	Comments	
Linezolid	20 mg /mL susp	2 mL	4 mL	6 mL	8 mL	11 mL	14 mL	15 mL	20 mL		I			
	150 mg dt (15 mg/mL)	2.5 mL	5 mL (0.5 dt)	1		Ze	Q	2	ſ		I			
	600 mg tab (60 mg/mL)	I	1.25 mL ^b	2.5 1	2.5 mL ^b	5 mL (0.5 tab) ^{b, e}	5 tab) ^{b, e}	5 mL (0.5 tab) ^b	7.5 mL (0.75 tab) ^b					
Group B medicines	Formulation	3-<5 kg	5-<7 kg	7-<10 kg	10-<16 kg 16-<24 kg 24-<30 kg 30-<36 kg 36-<46 kg 46-<56 kg 56-<70 kg	16-<24 kg	24–<30 kg	30-<36 kg	36-<46 kg	46-<56 kg	56-<70 kg	≥70 kg	Comments	
Clofazimine (Cfz)	50 mg cap or tab ^ŕ	1 M/F	1 M/W/F	W/F	1		2		2				For children <24 kg, the use of the 50 mg tab	
	100 mg cap or tab ^ŕ	1	1 M/F	1/F	1 M/W/F	N/F	-1						is preferred.	
Cycloserine or terizidone (Cs/Tz)	125 mg mini cap (Cs) (12.5 mg/mL)	2 mL ^{b,g}	4 mL ^b	1	2	m	4	4		I				
	250 mg cap (25 mg/mL)	1 mL ^{b, g}	2 mL ^b	5 mL ^b		2	2	2		ſ				
Group C medicines	Formulation	3-<5 kg ^a	5-<7 kg ^a	7-<10 kg	10-<16 kg	16-<24 kg	24-<30 kg	30-<36 kg	36-<46 kg	46-<56 kg	56-<70 kg	≥70 kg	Comments	
Ethambutol (E or EMB)	100 mg dt (10 mg/ mL)	5 mL (0.5 dt)	⊷	2	ſ	4	I			I			1	
	400 mg tab (40 mg/mL)	1.5 mL ^b	3 mL ^b	4 mL ^b	6 mL	←	1.5	2		ſ		4		
Delamanid (Dlm)	25 mg dt	1 od	<3 months: 1 od ≥3 months: 1 bd	hs: 1 od hs: 1 bd	1 bd	2 morning 1 evening	rning ning	2 bd	pq		I			
	50 mg tab ^h (5 mg/ mL)	5 mL (0.5 tab) od ^b	<3 months: 5 mL (0.5 tab) od ^b ≥3 months: 5 mL (0.5 tab) bd ^b	hs: 5 mL c) od ^b hs: 5 mL o) bd ^b	5 mL (0.5 tab) bd ^b	10 mL (1 tab) morning 5 mL (0.5 tab) evening	b) morning ab) evening	1 bd	pq		2 bd			

Group C	Formulation	3-<5 ka ^a	5-<7 ka ^a	7-<10 ka	10-<16 ka	16-<24 ka	24-<30 ka	30-<36 ka	36-<46 ka 46-<56 ka	46-<56 ka	56-<70 ka	≥70 ka	Comments
Pyrazinamide (Z or PZA)	150 mg dt (15 mg/ mL)	5 mL (0.5 dt)	1	2 2	m	ъ	1	•	•	1			-
	400 mg tab (40 mg/mL)	2.5 mL ^b	5 mL (0.5 tab) ^b	7.5 mL (0.75 tab) ^b		5	2.5	m		4		ъ	
	500 mg tab (50 mg/mL)	2 mL ^b	5 mL (5 mL) ⁵	5 mL) ^b		1.5	2	2.5		m		4	
Imipenem– cilastatin (Ipm/Cln)	500 mg + 500 mg powder for injection, vial (10 mL)	Z	Not used in patients aged <1	tients aged <	15 years (use	.5 years (use meropenem)	Ē		2 via	2 vials (1 g + 1 g) bd	pq (Only to be used with clavulanic acid.
Meropenem (Mpm)	1 g powder for injection, vial (20 mL)	1 mL tid	2 mL tid	4 mL tid	6 mL tid	9 mL tid	11 mL tid		1 via	1 vial tid or 2 vials bd	bd s		Only to be used with clavulanic acid.
Amikacin (Am)	500 mg/2 mL solution for injection, ampoule									3-4 mL	4 mL	4 mL	Recommended only in adults aged >18 years.
Streptomycin (Sm)	1 g powder for injection, vial				Ē					Calculate a	Calculate according to the dilution used	ne dilution	Recommended only in adults aged >18 years.
Ethionamide or Prothion-	125 mg dt (Eto) (12.5 mg/mL)	3 mL ^b	7 mL ^b		2	m	4	4			I		Although once daily dose advised, two divided
Pto)	250 mg tab (25 mg/mL)	I	3 mL ^b	5 mL (0.5 tab) ^b		. 7		2			m	4	to improve tolerance.
P-aminosal- icylic acid (PAS)	PAS sodium salt (equivalent to 4 g PAS acid) sachet	0.3 g bd	0.75 g bd	1 g bd	2 g bd	3 g bd	3.5 g bd		4 g bd	pq		4-6 g bd	Usually given in divided doses.

96

Other medicines	Formulation	3-<5 kg	5-<7 kg	7-<10 kg	10-<16 kg	16-<24 kg	24-<30 kg	30-<36 kg	36-<46 kg	36-<46 kg 46-<56 kg 56-<70 kg	56-<70 kg	≥70 kg	Comments
Isoniazid ^j (INH or H)	50 mg/5 mL soln	5 mL	9 mL	15 mL	20 mL	I	I						Pyridoxine is always given with high-dose
(high dose)	100 mg dt or tab (10 mg/mL)	5 mL (0.5 dt)		1.5	7	m	4	4	4.5	1			isoniazid in children (1–2 mg/kg) and in people at risk of side- effects (e.g. those with HIV or malnutrition). In infants, pyridoxine may be given as part of a multi-vitamin syrup.
	300 mg tab					1	1.5	-i	1.5		2		-
Clavulanic acid ⁱ (as amoxicillin/ clavulanate) (Amx/clav)	62.5 mg clavulanic acid as amoxicillin/ clavulanate (250/62.5 mg), powder for oral solution, 5 mL	1.5 mL tid	2 mL tid	3 mL tid	5 mL tid	8 mL tid	10 mL tid	10 mL b	10 mL bd or tid		1		Only available in combination with amoxicillin. To be given with each dose of imipenem/cilastatin (bd) or meropenem (tid).
	125 mg clavulanic acid as amoxicillin/ clavulanate (500/125 mg) tab			1			1 tid			1 bd or tid			
Pretomanid (Pa)	200 mg tab												Currently only used as part of the BPaLM/ BPaL regimens.
to times a c opment Grr F: Monday, ng guidanc es), the WF	bd: two times a day; BPaL: bedaquiline, pretomanid and linezolid; BPaLM: bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin; cap: capsule; DR-TB: drug-resistant TB; dt: disper Development Group; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus; kg: kilogram; MDR-TB: multidrug-resistant TB; MDR/RR-TB: multidrug- or rifampicin-resistant TB; mg: milligram; m M/W/F: Monday, Wednesday and Friday; od: once daily; soln: solution; susp: suspension; tab: tablet; TB: tuberculosis; tid: three times a day; WHO: World Health Organization. ^a Dosing guidance is based on currently available data and may be revised once additional data are available. Dosages were established by the GDGs for the WHO guidelines updates), the WHO Global Task Force on the Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics (PK/PD) of TB medicines and the expert consultation on dosing convened by WHO	pretomanid a unodeficiency ay; od: once d y available da: on the Pharm	and linezolid; / virus; kg: kilk laily; soln: solu ta and may be iacokinetics ar	BPaLM: bedac ogram; MDR - ' ution; susp: su: e revised once od Pharmacoo	quiline, pretor TB: multidrug spension; tab e additional d dynamics (PK	nanid, linezol -resistant TB; : tablet; TB: tL ata are availa /PD) of TB m	id and moxifl MDR/RR-TB: Jberculosis; ti ble. Dosages edicines and	oxacin; cap: ca multidrug- o d: three times were establis the expert cc	apsule; DR-TE r rifampicin-r s a day; WHO hed by the G onsultation or	3: drug-resista esistant TB; π : World Healt DGs for the V n dosing conv	ant TB; dt: disp ng: milligram; r h Organizatior VHO guideline: rened by WHC	ersible table mL: millilitre; n. s on DR-TB - s in October	bd: two times a day; BPaL: bedaquiline, pretomanid and linezolid; BPaLM: bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin; cap: capsule; DR-TB: drug-resistant TB; dt: dispersible tablet; g: gram; GDG: Guideline Development Group; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus; kg: kilogram; MDR-TB: multidrug-resistant TB; multidrug- or rifampicin-resistant TB; mg: milligram; mL: millilitre; M/F: Monday and Friday; M/W/F: Monday, Wednesday and Friday; od: once daily; soln: solution; suspension; tablet; TB: tuberculosis; tid: three times a day; WHO: World Health Organization. ^a Dosing guidance is based on currently available data and may be revised once additional data are available. Dosages were established by the GDGs for the WHO guidelines on DR-TB treatment (2018 and 2020 updates), the WHO Global Task Force on the Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics (PK/PD) of TB medicines and the expert consultation on dosing convened by WHO in October 2021, following the GDG median on child and addisected TB in lune 2021.
for childre scents (153, porta For	Does for children and woodstore to make a set of the solution of the 2022 WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis – Module 5: Management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents weighing <46 kg were revised according to Annex 6 of the 2022 WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis – Module 5: Management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents (153), which was informed by an expert consultation on dosing convened by WHO in October 2021 (154). They are based on the most recent reviews and best practices in the treatment of (paediatric) adolescents (155), which was informed by an expert consultation on dosing convened by WHO in October 2021 (154). They are based on the most recent reviews and best practices in the treatment of (paediatric) adolescents (155). They are based on the most recent reviews and best practices in the treatment of the provestion of the provision of t	ents weighing by an expert	<46 kg were consultation c	revised accor in dosing con	ding to Anne vened by WF	x 6 of the 202 10 in October	22 WHO ope - 2021 (154).	rational hand They are base	book on tube ed on the mos	erculosis – Mc st recent revie	ws and best pr	Jement of tu actices in th	Doses for children and young adolescents weighing <46 kg were revised according to Annex 6 of the 2022 WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis – Module 5: Management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents (153), which was informed by an expert consultation on dosing convened by WHO in October 2021 (154). They are based on the most recent reviews and best practices in the treatment of (paediatric) and the construction of the construction

certain medicines the doses proposed may exceed the mg/kg/day ranges shown here in order to achieve blood concentrations similar to target levels in an average adult patient. The guidance for the 3-<5 kg kineuc proper ווומוחומו (עכבב) וומושווומנים אישר אישריוומני ווונוט ופאחונא ממאפט טח נהפ מנוחטופי מו מווטווופניוט אמוחט מווט weight band and for bedaquiline and delamanid is based on currently available data and may be revised when new data become available. ואוטאלאא-דם. רטי כפי נפוח ווופטונוופט נוופ מטאמפא אפופ ווווטוווופט טא מחופרנו

^b Dissolving of crushed adult tablets or capsule content in 10 mL of water is required for administering this dose. The number of mL in the table reflects the dose to provide. This avoids fractioning solid formulations, although bioavailability of the dissolved, crushed adult tablets is uncertain (use of dispersible tablets is preferred). The higher dose may be used except when there is risk of toxicity; levels are expected to be lowered because of pharmacokinetic interactions, malabsorption or other reasons; or the strain has low-level drug resistance.

^d Bedaquiline adult tablets (100 mg) crushed and suspended in water have been shown to be bioequivalent to tablets swallowed whole. Vigorous stirring/shaking is needed prior to administering the 100 mg tablet crushed and suspended in water.
• When using the 600 mg tab and the 150 mg dt to dose children weighing 16 to <24 kg, the dose in mg/kg will exceed 10–12 mg/kg and clinicians may opt to administer 1.5 dt or 4 mL of the 600 mg tab dispersed in 10 mL water.
^f Clofazimine tablets are technically not dispersible but they do slowly (this takes approximately 5 minutes) dissolve in water (5 mL and 10 mL for the 50 mg and 100 mg tablets, respectively). The suspension should be stirred prior to administration. The 100 mg soft gel capsule is difficult to swallow for young children and therefore countries are strongly encouraged to make the 50 mg tablet formulation available.
⁹ In children weighing 3 to <7 kg doses are lower than previously recommended. This is because of relatively high exposures associated with risk of neuropsychiatric adverse events, which is especially concerning when co-administering cycloserine with delamanid.
^h Delamanid adult tablets (50 mg) crushed and suspended in water have been shown to be bioequivalent to tablets swallowed whole.
¹ Amikacin and streptomycin may be used in adults aged 18 years or more, in situations where an effective regimen cannot other wise be designed using oral agents, when susceptibility is demonstrated and when adequate measures are in place to monitor for adverse events. Given the profound impact that hearing loss can have on the acquisition of language and the ability to learn at school, the use of injectable agents in children should be exceptional and limited to salvage therapy, and the treatment needs to be provided under strict monitoring to ensure early detection of ototoxicity. If used, the weight-based daily dose for amikacin is 15–20 mg/kg and for streptomycin it is 20–40 mg/kg for children aged 2 years and older. To determine the dosing for infants and children aged below 2 years, a paediatric DR-TB expert should be consulted and a lower mg/kg dose used to compensate for immature clearance. Co-administration with lidocaine is advised to reduce pain at the injection site (<i>156</i>). ¹ These medicines are only recommended as a companion agent (amoxicillin/clavulanic acid) or are not included in Groups A, B and C, because of a lack of data from the latest analysis on longer MDR-TB regimens in adults (isoniazid).

• For dosing of infants weighing 3 to <5 kg, a paediatric DR-TB expert should be consulted whenever possible.

• For dosing of premature and low birth weight infants weighing <3 kg, advice should be sought from a paediatric DR-TB expert.

Specific comments on dosing children with medicines used in second-line MDR-TB regimens:

- The use of child-friendly, dispersible tablets in infants and young children is preferred over manipulating adult tablets or administering or manipulating capsules. Where applicable, the dosing provided is based on dissolving the dispersible formulation in 10 mL of water and administering the number of mL (aliquots). The number of mL in the table reflects the dose to provide. The dissolved solution should be used immediately and the remainder of the 10 mL should be discarded.
- For some weight bands, dosing is indicated with both child-friendly, dispersible formulations and adult formulations. If adult formulations are used, the table provides the dose using aliquots in mL and tablet fractions where applicable (if the fraction is 0.5 or more). Aliquots refer to the volume to administer after crushing and dissolving the tablet in 10 mL of water.

See the detailed description of individual TB medicines in Web Annex 1.



For further information, please contact:

Global Tuberculosis Programme World Health Organization 20, Avenue Appia CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Web site: www.who.int/tb

